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Financial Highlights
B

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
4 B R
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hotel ) 580 622 601 488 544
Property investment and WERERER
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Basic Earnings BREKXZF (1)
per Share (cents) 14.31 9.93 13.35 16.07 9.66
Net Assets BEFE 3,473 3,383 3,673 3,852 3,818
Total Assets BEE 5,652 5,932 6,483 6,195 6,264
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HONORARY CHAIRMAN AND
NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

MA, Kai Cheung, PhD, SBS, BBS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MA, Kai Yum, PhD (Chairman)

CHAN, Sheung Lai (Chief Executive Officer)
NG, Yan Kwong

MA, Hung Ming, John, PhD, BBS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

LO, Ming Chi, Charles
LO, Man Kit, Sam
WONG, See King

AUDIT COMMITTEE

LO, Ming Chi, Charles (Chairman)
LO, Man Kit, Sam
WONG, See King

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

LO, Man Kit, Sam (Chairman)
LO, Ming Chi, Charles
WONG, See King

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

MA, Kai Yum, PhD (Chairman)
LO, Ming Chi, Charles

LO, Man Kit, Sam

WONG, See King

COMPANY SECRETARY
NG, Yan Kwong
REGISTERED OFFICE

Canon’s Court
22 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM12
Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACES
OF BUSINESS

26/F Phase Il Wyler Centre
200 Tai Lin Pai Road

Kwai Chung

New Territories

Hong Kong

5/F Carrianna Friendship Square
2002 Renminnan Road

Lo Wu District

Shenzhen

China
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On behalf of the Board of Directors, | wish to present the
Annual Report of Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited
for the financial year ended 31 March 2015.

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group’s turnover
was HK$670,292,000 (2014: HK$1,013,101,000), decreased
by 34% from last year. The Group’s profit attributable to
shareholders was HK$120,744,000 (2014: HK$195,629,000),
decreased by 38% from last year. The reason for the decrease
in turnover was sales revenue recognition of Phase 2 of Grand
Lake City, Yiyang of Hunan Province in last year contributed to
total property sales revenue of HK$442,852,000 while property
sales revenue was only HK$36,199,000 for this year as Phase
3 of Grand Lake City sales revenue could not be booked due
to government inspection procedures could only be completed
in May 2015. The decrease in profit attributable to shareholders
was mainly due to decrease in profit from property sales as
well as profit for sales of China South City shares amounted
to HK$115,086,000 was booked in last year. Excluding non-
recurring profit from sales of China South City shares, profit
attributable to shareholders increased by 50% from last year.
Excluding non-recurring profit from sales of China South City
shares and property revaluation gain and related tax, operating
profit attributable to shareholders was HK$71,179,000,
increased by 44% from last year.

Operating results for the hotel, restaurant and food division
was satisfactory with growth in turnover by 11% and segment
profit by 34% respectively. The established strategies from last
year, namely, cost saving and expansion into medium to low
price restaurants and food market were well executed during
the year. Carrianna restaurants turned from loss to profit and
the newly acquired Delicious “Cha Chaan Teng” restaurants
delivered its planned profit. While mooncake sales and profit
for the year reduced due to cancellation of government
department and state owned companies orders, the outlook
for the coming year is promising as Chinese government has
restored the practice of providing employee with festival food
such as mooncake.

To further strengthen our food business, the Group entered into
a share transfer agreement for the acquisition of 60% equity
interest in New Sheen Holdings Limited on 28 May 2015. The
acquisition is expected to be completed on 1 July 2015. Upon
successful completion, New Sheen will become a subsidiary
of the Group operating 10 bakeries under the brand name of
Empery (2£%F) and Pak Lok (B %%) and a food factory for
the production of bread, cakes, pastries and Chinese pastries.
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In addition to enter into the bakery market in Hong Kong with
two well established brands, the acquisition also provides
technical knowhow and business development experience for
the Group’s bakery and food retail business in China which has
just been started in Hainan and Shenzhen.

Turnover and segment profit for property business both
reduced significantly during the year due to property sales for
Phase 3 of Grand Lake City could not be booked in the current
financial year because government inspection procedures
were only fully completed after financial year end date. For the
coming year, property sales volume and property price in small
to medium cities in the mainland are both under downward
adjustment pressure. Sales in Phase 3 of Grand Lake City will
also be affected. Management will increase effort and resources
for promotion of property sales so as to increase property sales
revenue and profit for the coming year.

On the other hand, the Group’s 50% owned 410,000 sg. m.
furniture, construction materials and household goods mall and
services apartment project in Dongguan, the “Home Town”,
had good construction progress. Phase | mall, comprising
110,000 sg. m. 6 storeys above ground and two levels of
basement will be completed in early 2016. Sales of shops and
solicitation of tenants have also been started in early 2015.

Investment properties rental income continued to growth,
increased by 10% from last year. Major contributors were
Carrianna Friendship Square in Shenzhen and shops in Grand
Lake City, Hunan with rental income increased by 10% and
66% respectively.

| would like to take this opportunity to extend my appreciation
to the Board of Directors, management team and staff for their
support and dedication to the Group and to shareholders,
customers, suppliers and other business partners for their
unfailing support.

Dr. Ma Kai Yum
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2015
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Director and Senior Management’s Biographies

HONORARY CHAIRMAN AND
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

MA Kai Cheung, rhD, SBS, BBS, aged 73, is the founder of
the Group. Mr. Ma has been appointed as Honorary Chairman
of the Company and re-designated as non-executive director
of the Board since 1 January 2014. Mr. Ma has more than 40
years’ experience in the garment distribution and manufacturing
business, over 20 years’ experience in the restaurant business
and property development. He was a committee member of
the 9th, 10th and 11th National Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference. He is the Consultant
of All-Chinese Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese,
the Permanent Honorary President of Shenzhen Overseas
Chinese International Association. Mr. Ma also serves as
President of Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community
Organisations, Permanent Honorary President of Federation of
Hong Kong Chiu Chow Community Organizations, Permanent
Honorary President of Hong Kong Chiu Chow Chamber of
Commerce Limited and Permanent Honorary President of Hong
Kong & Kowloon Chiu Chow Public Association. Mr. Ma is a
brother of Mr. Ma Kai Yum.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MA Kai Yum, PnD, aged 64, is a co-founder of the Group.
Mr. Ma is the Chairman of the Group since 1 January 2014.
He has been a Director of the Group since 1984 and has
over 30 years’ experience in the garment business. Mr. Ma is
responsible for the daily operation and administration, strategic
planning and business development of the Group. Mr. Ma
was a former member of Guangdong Provincial Committee of
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and also
serves as a Director of the Chinese Manufacturers Association
of Hong Kong, President of Hong Kong & Kowloon Chiu
Chow Public Association, Director of Hong Kong Chiu Chow
Chamber of Commerce and Vice President of Federation of
Hong Kong Chiu Chow Community Organization. Mr. Ma is a
brother of Mr. Ma Kai Cheung.

CHAN Sheung Lai, aged 53, is Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of the Group since October 2012. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Chan was Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer of Value Partners Group Limited, a
leading fund management firm listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. Previously Mr. Chan was Chief Executive
(North China) of KaiLong Real Estate Investment, a real estate
investment and asset management firm focused on the China
real estate market. Prior to joining KaiLong, Mr. Chan was a
partner of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, and led its Corporate
Finance Advisory Practice and Life Science and Healthcare
Practice in China. Mr. Chan has over 20 years of investment,
real estate, corporate finance and business management
experience, and long track record of building businesses in
China. Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor degree of Social Sciences
from the University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Chan is
an Independent Non-Executive Director of China Chengtong
Development Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

NG Yan Kwong, aged 54, is Executive Director, Chief
Financial Officer and Company Secretary of the Group since
2000. Before joining the Group, Mr. Ng was the finance
director of a US beverage company operating in Mainland
China. Mr. Ng has more than 10 years corporate and financial
management experience with multinational consumer product
companies in South East Asia and Greater China region. He
also has substantial working experience in public accountancy
practice with a major international accounting firm. He holds a
Bachelor’s degree in Commerce of the University of Newcastle
in Australia and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the CPA Australia.

MA Hung Ming, John, PhD, BBS, aged 48, is Executive
Directors of the Group since May 2009. Mr. Ma joined the
Group in 1990. He has been the Managing Director of
Carrianna Holdings Limited since April 2002 and is currently
responsible for the Group’s property development operations.
He has extensive experience in the catering industry, as well
as property management and development. Mr. Ma was
awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) from The Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2003
and a Honorary Doctorate of Philosophy degree by Morrison
University in 2004. In 2011, he was awarded the Honorary
Citizen by the Shenzhen government. He was the Chairman
of Tung Wah Group of Hospitals for the year 2002. He is a
member of Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Advisory Board, a
member of the Standing Committee of Shenzhen Committee
of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and
the President of Youth Council. He also serves as the Vice
Chairman of Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community
Organisations and the Vice President of Kowloon Federation of
Associations. Mr. Ma is an independent Non-Executive Director
of Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited, the shares of which are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Ma is
the son of Mr. Ma Kai Cheung.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

LO Ming Chi, Charles, aged 65, is independent non-
executive director of the Company. Mr. Lo joined the Group in
1991. Mr. Lo is a member of the CPA Australia and fellow of
the Financial Services Institute of Australasia. Mr. Lo is a Non-
Executive Director of Winshine Entertainment & Media Holding
Company Limited (formerly known as China Tycoon Beverages
Holdings Limited) and an Independent Non-Executive
Director of Cash Financial Services Group Limited. He was
an Executive Director and Chief Executive Director of Huajun
Holdings Limited (formerly known as New Island Development
Holdings Limited) from 30 September 2010 to 25 September
2014. He was an Independent Non-Executive Director of
Capital Environment Holdings Limited (formerly known as
New Environmental Energy Holdings Limited) from 15 June
2006 to 1 July 2012. All these companies are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He has more than 20
years of professional and business experience in financial and
investment services in Australia, Hong Kong and other Asian
countries.

LO Man Kit, Sam, aged 54, is independent non-executive
director of the Company. Mr. Lo joined the Group in July
2004. Mr. Lo is a practising solicitor in Hong Kong and a
consultant of Messrs. C.C. Lee & Co.. He has over 20 years of
extensive experience in the areas of conveyancing, banking and
commercial law. He is also admitted as solicitor in Singapore.

WONG See King, aged 54, is independent non-executive
director of the Company. Mr. Wong joined the Group in August
2007. Mr. Wong is currently the Chief Financial Officer of
HAGER Asia Limited, a subsidiary of the HAGER Group which
is a market leader of selling building hardware products in the
US market and, is engaging for building hardware business in
China and Hong Kong. Mr. Wong had also worked as financial
and business executive in various Australian, UK and US
multi-national companies. He has over 20 years’ of working
experience in corporate finance, building hardware, consumer
goods manufacturing and distribution business in Hong Kong
and China and property development business in Australia.
He holds a bachelor’s degree in Economics from Macquarie
University (Australia) and is a member of the Australian Society
of CPAs.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

MA Hung Man, Raymond, aged 39, is the Executive
Director of the Food & Beverage Division (China Region)
of the Company. Mr. Ma graduated from the University of
California, Davis with a Bachelor of Science Degree in Civil
Engineering and he holds a Professional Engineer license in
Civil Engineering in USA. Mr. Ma has substantial experience in
food and beverage business. Mr. Ma is the son of Mr. Ma Kai
Cheung.

YAU So Kan, aged 44, is General Manager of the Carrianna
Hotel in Foshan, PRC. She has been serving the Group since
2004. Ms. Yau has led the management of Carrianna Hotel
since the Company took over the hotel in 2004. Ms. Yau
has about 10 years’ experience in hotel management and
operation.

ZHANG Ji Yong, aged 46, is the Managing Director of
Carrianna (Hunan) Holding Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhang has about
20 years working experience in real estate industry. He has
extensive experience in property sales and development in
Changsha City and Yiyang City of Hunan Province. He also
serves as delegate of Yiyang People’s Congress, vice president
of Association of Industry and Commerce, Yiyang and president
of Association of Real Estate Development, Yiyang. Mr. Zhang
graduated from Hunan University and holds a Master Degree of
Project Management.

CHENG Ka Wah, aged 51, is Managing Director of Delicious
Group Dining Services Limited and the founder of the
Delicious Restaurant Group. Mr. Cheng has more than 30
years’ experience in restaurant business. He is responsible
for business development and daily operation of the Delicious
Group.

YUEN Wai Leung, aged 57, is General Manager of Carrianna
restaurants in Mainland China. He has been serving the Group
since 1998. Mr. Yuen has about 30 years’ experience in food
and beverage business, and has substantial operation and
management experience in restaurant.

LEE Chor Kwing, aged 48, is the Managing Director of
Carrianna (Hainan) Catering Service Co., Ltd. and Carrianna
(Hainan) Food Processing Co., Ltd.. He has been serving the
Group’s Carrianna (Chiu Chau) Restaurant since 1986. Mr. Lee
has been in charge of operation of Hainan restaurant and food
business since 1993.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”), in Appendix 14 of The
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) which became effective on 1 January 2005. The
corporate governance principles of the Company emphasis
a quality board of directors, sound internal control, principles
and practices and transparency and accountability to all
shareholders of the Company. The Company has complied with
the CG Code throughout the accounting period covered by this
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE
FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code for
securities transactions by Directors of the Company. Following
specific enquiry by the Company, the Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard under the
Model Code throughout the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 March 2015, the Board comprised eight Directors,
including four executive directors, one non-executive director
and three independent non-executive directors.

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
“Director and Senior Management’s Biographies” on pages 7
to 11 of this report.

The composition of the Board is reviewed regularly to ensure
that it has a good balance of expertise, skills and experience
which can meet the requirements of the business of the
Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for ensuring continuity of leadership,
development of sound business strategies, availability of
adequate capital and managerial resources to implement the
business strategies adopted, adequacy of systems of financial
and internal controls and conduct of business in conformity
with applicable laws and regulations. All Directors have made
full and active contribution to the affairs of the Board and the
Board has always acted in the best interests of the Group.

The Executive Directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities with regard to key
corporate strategy and policy and contractual commitments.
Management is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the
Group with divisional heads responsible for different aspects of
the business.

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements. The Company has adopted the generally accepted
accounting standards in Hong Kong in preparing the financial
statements, appropriate accounting policies have been
adopted and applied consistently, and reasonable and prudent
judgement and estimates have been made. The publication of
the financial statements of the Group is also in a timely manner.

The Board has reviewed the financial projections of the Group
and the Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt over
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly,
the Board has continued to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements.

The responsibility of Ernst & Young, the Company’s external
auditors, is set out on pages 56 to 57 of the “Independent
Auditors’ Report” in this annual report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

EEG )

BOARD MEETINGS LR
During the year, the Board met regularly and held four board FRX - ZEXHS@FHEE YRITNAEZESE
meetings. The attendance of the Directors at the board iH-BEFE€ESZMESLEB RO T :

meetings was as follow:

Number of
attendance
Directors BE= IR
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary Chairman) ENEEE (SELE) 2/4
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) BNREE (FE) 4/4
Mr. Chan Sheung Lai (Chief Executive Officer) — BRI&& 54 (7T A %) 4/4
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong RBNESE 4/4
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John BIBR it 2/4
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYkBITES
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BEAE AL 4/4
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam B A 4/4
Mr. Wong See King HEBALE 4/4

Regular board meetings are scheduled in advance to
facilitate all directors’ attendance. Regular board meetings
are scheduled to be held four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. At least 14 days’ notice of a board meeting
is given to all directors who are given an opportunity to include
matters for discussion in the agenda. If potential conflict of
interest involving a substantial shareholder or a director arises,
the matter is discussed in a physical meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolution. The directors attend
meetings in persons or through other means of electronic
communication in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
BOARD MEETINGS (Continued)

Board papers are circulated approximately three days before
the board meetings to enable the directors to make informed
decisions on matters to be raised. The Company Secretary
assists the chairman in preparing the agenda for meetings
and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are
complied with. The Company Secretary shall attend all regular
board meetings to advise on corporate governance, statutory
compliance, accounting and financial matters when necessary.
Directors shall have full access to information on the Group and
are able to obtain independent professional advice whenever
deemed necessary by the directors. The Company Secretary
shall prepare minutes and keep records of matters discussed
and decisions resolved at all board meetings.

Each newly-appointed director will be provided with a
package of orientation materials setting out the duties and
responsibilities of directors under the Listing Rules, related
ordinances and relevant regulatory requirements of Hong Kong.
Updates are provided to directors when necessary to ensure
that directors are aware of the latest changes in the commercial
and regulatory environment in which the Group conducts its
business.

According to the records of the Company, during the financial
year ended 31 March 2015, the Directors participated in the
following trainings:
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Seminar/course Reading
attended materials
Directors BE= HEBE/RE B E MR
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary BNBxEE (EE8FE) 4
Chairman)
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) BShREE (E/FE) v v
Mr. Chan Sheung Lai BR85S & (7T BARE,) v v
(Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong RBENESE v v
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John BIBh et 4
Independent Non-Executive BIUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles LA v v
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam B A v v
Mr. Wong See King BRBELE v v
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

According to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. For the year
ended 31 March 2015, Mr. Ma Kai Yum was the Chairman
and Mr. Chan Sheung Lai was the chief executive officer, of
which the roles are separated and not performed by the same
individual.

One of the important roles of the Chairman is to provide
leadership to the Board to ensure that the Board always acts in
the best interests of the Group. The Chairman shall ensure that
the Board works effectively and performs its responsibilities,
and that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by it in
a timely manner. All directors have been consulted about any
matters proposed for inclusion in the agenda. With the support
of the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that
all directors are properly briefed on issues arising at any board
meeting and have received adequate and reliable information in
a timely manner.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The non-executive directors provide a wide range of expertise
and experience as well as checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of the Group and its shareholders. Their
participation in the board and committee meetings brings
independent judgement on issues relating to the Group’s
strategy, performance, conflicts of interest and management
process to ensure that the interests of all shareholders of the
Company have been duly considered.

The non-executive directors of the Company have been
appointed for a term subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company. According
to Bye-law 102(A) of the Bye-laws of the Company, director
appointed to fill any casual vacancy shall hold office only
until the next annual general meeting after their appointment
and shall be subject to re-election by the shareholders of the
Company. According to Bye-law 99 of the Bye-laws of the
Company, one-third of the directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation (except Chairman or Managing
Director) and shall be eligible for re-election at each annual
general meeting.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has three independent non-executive directors
representing more than one-third of the Board. More than
one of the independent non-executive directors have the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Board confirms that the
Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of his independence
and considers that all the independent non-executive directors
are independent under the guidelines set out in Rules 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, to handle particular responsibilities of
the Board and the Company’s affairs. All board committees
of the Company are established with defined written terms
of reference which have been uploaded to the website of
the Stock Exchange and that of the Company. The board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances,
at the Company’s expense.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 1 April 1999 and
currently comprises three independent non-executive directors,
including Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles (Chairman), Mr. Lo Man Kit,
Sam and Mr. Wong See King.

A set of written terms of reference, which described the
authority and duties of the Audit Committee, was adopted by
the Board on 1 September 2004, amended and restated on 26
March 2012 and the contents of which are in compliance with
the Code Provisions and Recommended Best Practices of the
CG Code.

The Audit Committee is accountable to the Board and the
principal duties of the Audit Committee include the review and
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting process, internal
controls and review the Group’s financial statements. The
Committee is also provided with other resources to enable it to
discharge its duties fully.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year, the Audit Committee held two meetings and

>

BERZEE
ERBREREBHMA

g% ETHING

the external auditors were in attendance. The attendance HEHMEF -BEXRZE€eZNKELFRE
record of the members of the Audit Committee are set out in 0T :
the table below:

Number of
meetings
attended/

Total number

of meetings

HEERRE/

Directors B=E HMEERE

Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles (Chairman) BEEEE (X/FE) 2/2

Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam BB EA 2/2

Mr. Wong See King EEBEAE 2/2
The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of BZZEBCEHRAARRERERARRZ

the Company and Ernst & Young, the auditors of the Company,
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and has discussed auditing, internal controls and financial
reporting matters, including the review of the annual report of
the Company for the year ended 31 March 2015.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration to Emst & Young in respect of the audit
service rendered for the year ended 31 March 2015 was
HK$3,164,000 (2014: HK$2,900,000).

The Audit Committee had concluded that it is satisfied with
the findings of its review of audit service fee, process and
effectiveness, independence and objectivity.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AND
REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The Remuneration Committee was established on 1 April 2005
and comprises three independent non-executive directors,
including Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam (Chairman), Mr. Lo Ming Chi,
Charles and Mr. Wong See King.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held one
meeting. The attendance record of the members of the
Remuneration Committee are set out in the table below:
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FNZEeRN —_TTAFMA—BAXIL B1=
BRI FNITERER BREXERE (£
E) BRBRENREBBREE
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SHRHRBEHEBRNOT

Number of
meetings
attended/

Total number
of meetings

HEERRE/
Directors BE= BEBRE
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam (Chairman) EXBEE (X/E) 1/1
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BEAE kL 1/1
Mr. Wong See King HEERBEE 1/1

The objectives of the Remuneration Committee are to
establish and maintain an appropriate and competitive level of
remuneration to attract, retain and motivate directors and key
executives to run the Company successfully. The Remuneration
Committee also ensures that the remuneration policies and
systems of the Group support the Group’s objectives and
strategies. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to perform its duties. A set of written terms
of reference, which described the authority and duties of the
Remuneration Committee, was adopted by the Board on 1
April 2005, amended and restated on 26 March 2012 and the
contents of which are in compliance with the code provisions of
the CG Code.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
are as follows:

(@) to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’
and senior management remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy;

FMZESZBMDHIEMERA BT AL
FHZHBKT HEHE RBNESHES
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BREXHASEZBENRE - FMHEES
ERGEATERNBITERE EFECR
—EERFONA-ARA—DEEBRERE
B UYRE-——F=ZAZt+BEEHRKE
e AEFTMEE G2 EREBE AN
& (BRI 2RI

FMEBEecTRAC KRBT :

(@ HMARREZREZELRSMEEABNF
P BRI 248 - S Bh AR SZ Il /T 37 B B 2R
MIERMEERENEF RWEFSR
HEE:

19



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2015

Corporate Governance Report

% i

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AND
REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(b)

20

to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals
and objectives;

either:

()  to determine, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management; or

(i)  to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management.

This should include benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office of
appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the group;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or
termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and
not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with
contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is
involved in deciding his own remuneration and that, as
regards the remuneration of a non-executive Director who
is a member of the Committee, his remuneration should
be determined by the other members of the Committee;
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AND
REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(i)  to advise shareholders of the Company on how to vote
with respect to any service contracts of Directors that
require shareholders’ approval under Rule 13.68 of Listing
Rules; and

() to report back to the Board on their decisions or
recommendations, unless there are legal or regulatory
restrictions on their ability to do so (such as a restriction
on disclosure due to regulatory requirements).

During the year 2015, the Remuneration Committee made
recommendations to the Board on executive directors’
remuneration packages and terms of employment. The
Committee also formulated and evaluated the remuneration
policy and structure for the directors and senior management of
the Company.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the members of senior management by band
for the year ended 31 March 2015 is set out below:
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Number of

Individuals

A

Up to HK$1,000,000 7% #1,000,0005% 7T 5
HK$1,000,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 JT 22,000,000/ 7T 2
HK$2,000,001 = HK$5,000,000 2,000,001/ 7L £5,000,0007% 7T 6!
Further particulars in relation to the remuneration of Directors HiABEEWE AU FMNES 2 & E B

and the five highest paid employees’ remuneration as required
to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules
are set out in notes 8 and 9, respectively, to the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 26 March
2012. The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendation to the nomination of Directors with a view
to appointing suitable individuals with relevant expertise and
experience to enhance the constitution of the Board and to
contribute to the Board. In the nomination procedures, the
Nomination Committee makes reference to criteria including
reputation of candidates for integrity, accomplishment and
experience, professional and educational background.

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive director

h%?é@ :f-:EZH*+ﬁH&EO
ZECEENESRAREES UE
TEEHEBEXNENERNEE A LA

BIEEFERERE REFSELER R
REBET REZE@2ENREEERE

AWBEE KRR EXEHBEER-

REZBEH BN TEZTR=RBILIFH

and three independent non-executive directors, including Mr.  1TEH4EK - BEEN KL LE (F/F) 4 H
Ma Kai Yum (Chairman), Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles, Mr. Lo Man %4 - EXHELEE N BB A -

Kit, Sam and Mr. Wong See King.

During the year, no meeting was convened by the Nomination TR RZZECSAEAAER IEREES
Committee. The attendance of the Directors at the Nomination &M EEHEB AT

Committee meeting was as follows:

Number of
meetings
attended/

Total number

of meetings

HESRXE/

Directors BE= HMEBRRY
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) BShREE (E/FE) S
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BB RE -
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam BN R E -

Mr. Wong See King mRBEE

A set of new written terms of reference, which described
the authority and duties of the Nomination Committee, was
adopted by the Board on 26 March 2012 and the contents
of which are in compliance with the Code Provisions and
Recommended Best Practices of the CG Code.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is Mr. Ng Yan Kwong,
who is also the Chief Financial Officer and Executive Director
of the Company. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Commerce
of the University of Newcastle in Australia and is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the CPA Australia. Mr. Ng has complied with Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules for taking not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is overall responsible for overseeing the operations
of all the businesses units within the Group. Suitable candidates
are appointed by the Board to join in the boards of all
subsidiaries and associates operating in key business areas,
to attend the board meetings and to oversee the operations
of such companies. The management of each business area
is accountable for these operation and performance of the
business under its area of responsibility.

The Board has conducted bi-annual reviews of internal control
system of the Group pursuant to the Codes and considers that
all the material internal controls in the Group are adequate and
effective during the year.

COMMUNICATION CHANNELS

In order to develop and maintain continuing relationships
with the shareholders of the Company, the Company has
established various channels to facilitate and enhance
communication:

()  the annual general meeting provides a forum for
shareholders of the Company to raise comments and
exchange views with the Board;

(i)  updated key information of the Group is available on the
Company’s website at www.carrianna.com to enable the
shareholders of the Company and the investor community
to have timely access to information about the Group;
and
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COMMUNICATION CHANNELS (Continued)

(i) the Company’s website offers a communication channel
between the Company and its shareholders and
investors.

(iv)  the rights of the shareholders of the Company are set out
in the Bye-laws of the Company.

(v)  the shareholders may put forward their proposals or
enquiries to the Board by sending their written request to
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

The Chairman and the directors are available at annual general
meetings to answer questions raised by shareholders of the
Company or other interested parties.

CONVENING A SPECIAL GENERAL
MEETING BY SHAREHOLDERS (“SGM”)

The Board shall be on the written requisition of shareholders
of the Company holding at the date of the deposit of the
requisition in aggregate not less than one-tenth of such of
the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at the SGM, forthwith proceed duly to convene the
SGM (“Requisition”). The Requisition, which may consist
of several documents in like form each signed by one or
more requisitionists, must state the objects of the SGM and
deposited at the Company’s head office and principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

If the Board does not within twenty-one days from the date of
the deposit of the Requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM,
the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a SGM in the same manner, as nearly as possible,
as that in which SGM may be convened by the Board, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the aforesaid date of the deposit of the
Requisition.
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CONVENING A SPECIAL GENERAL
MEETING BY SHAREHOLDERS (“SGM”)

(Continued)
All reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a

result of the failure of the Board to convene such a SGM shall
be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Attendance of the Directors at the last annual general meeting
which was held on 25 August 2014 was as follows:

FESEIRAE M PRAE] | 201544t

Corporate Governance Report

o % 10

He R 0T 73 B R R A B ok & (TR R
Bk el)

RIEEEEFEREBRXBASIIA
EMELZABERAL HERARAN
CESTIEIEE

EEN_T—NFNAZTRBRITZ LR
BRERBFERENHEBRAT

Number of
attendance
Directors BE= IR
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary Chairman) SENBEE (ZELE) 1/1
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) BNREE (FE) 1/1
Mr. Chan, Sheung Lai (Chief Executive Officer) R #1& %4 (7T A4%#) 1/1
Mr. Ng, Yan Kwong RBENEE 0/1
Mr. Ma, Hung Ming, John BIBEh & 0/1
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYkBITES
Mr. Lo, Ming Chi, Charles B L 1/1
Mr. Lo, Man Kit, Sam B X E 1/1
Mr. Wong, See King EEBHAE 1/1

Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John was unable to attend the last annual
general meeting of the Company due to other prior business
engagements.

Mr. Ng Yan Kwong was unable to attend the last annual general
meeting of the Company due to sickness.

RREMERMBNFEB L FHBILEERE
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PROPERTY

Turnover of property business for the year was
HK$126,319,000 (2014: HK$524,757,000), decreased by 76%
from last year. Segment profit before tax was HK$121,516,000
(2014: HK$295,511,000), decreased by 59% from last year.
Excluding the effect of property revaluation gain and profit from
sales of China South City shares, segment profit before tax was
HK$58,494,000 (2014: HK$139,959,000), decreased by 58%
from last year.

During the year, the construction of Phase 3 of Grand Lake
City, Yiyang of Hunan Province, comprising 3 blocks of small
size lake view residential buildings and a shopping centre,
was completed in first quarter of 2015. However, government
inspection procedures were only fully completed in May 2015.
As a result, property sales for Phase 3 of Grand Lake City could
not be booked in the current financial year and this was the
major reason for reduction in property sales revenue for the
year. Property sales revenue booked during the year was only
HK$36,199,000 mainly represented sales of remaining property
of Phase 2 of Grand Lake City.

For the coming year, property sales volume and property
price in small to medium cities in the mainland are both
under downward adjustment pressure. Sales in Phase 3 of
Grand Lake City will also be affected. Currently, the Group
has contracted property sales not booked in the amount of
approximately HK$168,000,000. Management will increase
effort and resources for promotion of property sales so as to
increase property sales revenue and profit for the coming year.
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On the other hand, the Group’s 50% owned 410,000 sg. m.
furniture, construction materials and household goods mall and
services apartment project in Dongguan, the “Home Town”,
had good construction progress. Phase | mall, comprising
110,000 sg. m. 6 storeys above ground and two levels of
basement will be completed in early 2016. Sales of shops has
started in May 2015. Initial sales were slower than expected
as investors in the mainland have increased their investments
in the stock market recently. Management will increase effort
and resources in sales promotion and expects sales to pick up
in the second half of the year when investors take profit from
the stock market and invest into properties. Shopping mall
management team has been working hard to solicit shopping
mall tenants. Progress has been satisfactory with negotiation
for large anchor tenants approaching final stages.

For investment properties, rental income for the year was
HK$90,120,000, increased significantly by 10% from last
year. Major contributors were Carrianna Friendship Square in
Shenzhen and shops in Grand Lake City, Hunan with rental
income increased by 10% and 66% respectively. On the other
hand, investment properties in Hong Kong as well as Imperial
Palace shopping mall in Shenzhen also recorded satisfactory
growth in rental income.
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Hunan Yiyang Carrianna Commercial Street

BEEGEESEES

Imperial Palace

BERE

28

Carrianna Friendship Square
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Investment properties rental income continued to
growth, increased by 10% from last year. Major
contributors were Carrianna Friendship Square in
Shenzhen and shops in Grand Lake City, Hunan
with rental income increased by 10% and 66%
respectively.
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The government inspection procedures
for the construction of Phase 3 of Grand
Lake City, Yiyang of Hunan Province,
comprising 3 blocks of small size lake
view residential buildings and a shopping
centre, was completed in May 2015.

& B 708 m a5 T B R 1L 8 T IR
B ZH AR E] @R Pa !
FEEEYHOR _E—RFERAATK Phase 3 of Grand Lake City
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Phase 2 of Grand Lake City
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The Group’s 50% owned 410,000 sqg. m. furniture,
construction materials and household goods mall
and services apartment project in Dongguan, the
“Home Town”, had good construction progress.
Phase | mall, comprising 110,000 sg. m. 6 storeys
above ground and two levels of basement will
be completed in early 2016. Sales of shops and
solicitation of tenants have also been started in
early 2015.
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HOTEL, RESTAURANT AND FOOD

Turnover for hotel, restaurant and food division for the year
was HK$543,973,000 (2014: HK$488,344,000), increased
by 11% from last year. Segment profit was HK$94,509,000
(2014: HK$70,386,000), increased by 34% from last year.
Increase in turnover was mainly due to 8 months turnover
contribution of HK$96 million from Delicious restaurants which
was acquired by the Group last year. Carrianna restaurants
turnover increased by 12% while food and hotel business
turnover decreased by 22% and 3% respectively. Operating
profit increase was mainly due to restaurant business turned
from loss to profit, together with reduction in operating loss in
hotel business, were more than enough to offset decrease in
profit from food business.

During the year, to operate under a very difficult market
environment, Carrianna restaurant management had made
various efforts to increase sales revenue and control cost.
The two loss making restaurants in Beijing and Wuhan were
closed during the year. Operating areas and number of labours
were reduced in restaurants in Hainan and Kunming in order
to lower operating cost. Together with sales increase in the
three restaurants in Shenzhen, profit contribution from Hong
Kong Carrianna restaurant and reversal of prior year sales tax
overprovision in Hainan and Kunming, Carrianna restaurants
turned from operating loss to operating profit during the year.
For the coming year, management will further control cost and
improve operating efficiency in order to continue to provide
operating profit to the Group.
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The newly acquired Delicious “Cha Chaan Teng” restaurants
group became a subsidiary of the Group on 1 August 2014.
The first eight months turnover was HK$96,167,000 and
operating profit was HK$5,656,000. “Cha Chaan Teng” and
other low to medium price specialty restaurants is one of the
key development area of the Group. Currently, Delicious group
operates 10 Delicious (#k £ ) brand Cha Chaan Teng and
2 Gusto (%K) brand South East Asian food restaurants.
In addition to two restaurants opened in Ma On Shan and
Wanchai recently, the Group has planned to open 3 to 4
restaurants in Hong Kong and 1 to 2 restaurants in Shenzhen
in the coming year. In order to support business expansion,
the group moved its central kitchen to Kwai Chung during the
year. The new 6,300 sq. feet ground floor central kitchen can
support up to 30 restaurants, enough for supporting restaurant
expansion in the coming 2 to 3 years.

For food business, moon cake sales revenue and profit
decreased from last year for the first time mainly due to
cancellation of orders from government departments and
government owned enterprises. This was the result of
continued tightening of government expenditure leading to
cancellation of the usual practice of providing mooncake to staff
for Mid-Autumn festival. For the coming year, government has
restored the practice of providing employee with festival food
such as mooncake. Management expects mooncake sales to
be significantly higher than last year.

On the other hand, establishment of other food business is also
one of the key development directions of the Group. On 28
May 2015, the Group entered into a share transfer agreement
for the acquisition of 60% equity interest in New Sheen
Holdings Limited. The acquisition is expected to be completed
on 1 July 2015. Upon successful completion, New Sheen will
become a subsidiary of the Group operating 10 bakeries under
the brand name of Empery (%) and Pak Lok ( B %) and a
food factory for the production of bread, cakes, pastries and
Chinese pastries. In addition to enter into the bakery market in
Hong Kong with two well established brands, the acquisition
also provides technical knowhow and business development
experience for the Group’s bakery and food retail business in
China which has just been started in Hainan and Shenzhen.
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Foshan Carrianna Hotel
BRI ESE P AREE

Yiyang Cananna Interntional ot Turnover for hotel, restaurant and food division for
508 B E A the year was HK$543,973,000, increased by 11%
from last year.
FROBE BERRmE 5 /R543,973,000/8 7T -
b A FIENN11% ©

Futian Carrianna Restaurant VIP Room, Shenzhen
A EHEEBEEEER

Shenzhen Carrianna Friendship Square Restaurant
RIIMEZE PR H &S N2
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8 months turnover of the newly acquired
Delicious restaurants was HK$96 million.
MBBEBNREXREB N \BEAATREESR
96,000,000/ 7T ©

Upon successful completion on 1 July 2015, New Sheen will
become a subsidiary of the Group operating 10 bakeries under the
brand name of Empery (#£%F) and Pak Lok (EH%%) and a food
factory for the production of bread, cakes, pastries and Chinese
pastries.
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While mooncake sales and profit for the year reduced
due to cancellation of government department and
state owned companies orders, the outlook for the
coming year is promising as Chinese government
has restored the practice of providing employee with
festival food such as mooncake.
BARFEZ ASHE LaMRBABFRFARBEE A
RIETEHUEM N& - EHRFZAIRNES  REAR
PEBFERERESRHESE RS (FImASH) 2
B -

Carrianna moon cake products
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2015, the Group’s consolidated net
assets after deduction of non-controlling interests was
HK$3,634,315,000 (2014: HK$3,709,349,000) and
consolidated net assets after deduction of non-controlling
interests per share was HK$2.91 (2014: HK$2.97).

As at 31 March 2015, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to HK$229,248,000 (2014: HK$362,994,000),
which was denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and
United States dollars of HK$126,982,000, HK$102,088,000
and HK$178,000, respectively. The Group’s free cash and
bank balances and structured deposits were HK$303,353,000
(2014: HK$387,987,000).

The Group’s total borrowings amounted to HK$1,006,935,000
(2014: HK$915,971,000) comprised interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings and derivative financial instrument.
All interest-bearing bank and other borrowings bear interest
at floating rates. Netting off cash deposits pledged for
borrowings, the Group’s net bank and other borrowings were
HK$887,122,000 (2014: HK$843,886,000). Net bank and other
borrowings less free cash and bank balances and structured
deposits were HK$583,769,000 (2014: HK$455,899,000).

The Group’s gearing ratio, which was defined as the Group’s
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, net of cash
and cash equivalents, structured deposits and pledged time
deposits as percentage of the Group’s total equity, was
approximately 15% (2014: 12%).
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

On 26 June 2014, the Group entered into a share transfer
agreement for the acquisition of 60% equity interest in
Sleek Treasure Ventures Limited (“Sleek Treasure”) which
is the holding company for operating Delicious group of
restaurants, at a cash consideration of HK$30,000,000 (See
announcement dated 26 June 2014).

The share transfer agreement was entered with the owner
operators of Delicious group of restaurants and subject to
an earnout payment which was calculated by any excess
to annual profits of HK$7,200,000 at a price-earnings
ratio (“PE”) of 6.35. Sleek Treasure was engaged in the
operation of chain restaurants in Hong Kong under trade
names “Delicious”(“lk £”) , “Delicious Café’(“E K L") ,
“Delicious City” (“BREE 24”) and “Gusto Restaurant” (“lE¥K”)
and operated 11 restaurants and 1 central kitchen in Hong
Kong.

The transaction was completed on 1 August 2014 and Sleek
Treasure became the subsidiary of the Group on the same
date.

On 28 May 2015, the Group entered into a share transfer
agreement for the acquisition of 60% equity interest in New
Sheen Holdings Limited (“New Sheen”) which, upon completion
will be the holding company for operating Profit Smart group,
at a cash consideration of HK$20,400,000 (See announcement
dated 28 May 2015).

The share transfer agreement was entered with the owner
operators of Profit Smart group, who operates a food factory
and 10 bakeries under the names of Empery (E2%F ) and Pak
Lok (E£%) .

The transaction is expected to be completed on 1 July 2015
and New Sheen, upon successful completion, will become the
subsidiary of the Group on the same date.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND FUTURE
COMMITMENT

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had
contingent liabilities relating to guarantees given to banks for
mortgage loan facilities granted to purchasers of properties of
approximately HK$223,710,000 (2014: HK$206,997,000).

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at the end of the reporting period, certain of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment, investment properties,
properties under development, properties held for sale,
time deposits, structured deposits and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss with a total carrying value of
approximately HK$2,443,653,000 (2014: HK$2,589,636,000)
were pledged to secure general banking, trade finance and
other facilities granted to the Group. In addition, rental income
generated in respect of certain investment properties of the
Group was assigned to banks to secure loan facilities granted
to the Group.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and Mainland China
with most of the Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and
transactions principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi, respectively. Majority of the sales, purchases and
expenditure incurred by the operating units of the Group were
denominated in the units’ functional currencies and as a result,
the Group does not anticipate significant transactional currency
exposures.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

The Group’s staff consists of approximately 500 employees in
Hong Kong and approximately 1,400 employees outside Hong
Kong. Employees are rewarded on a performance-related basis
within the general framework of the Group’s salary and bonus
system.
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The directors herein present their report and the audited
financial statements of the Company and the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries comprise property
investment and development, and the operations of hotel,
restaurant and food businesses.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2015 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are
set out in the financial statements on pages 58 to 221.

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK3 cents per ordinary share in respect of the year payable to
the shareholders. This recommendation has been incorporated
in the financial statements as an allocation of retained profits
within the equity section of the statement of financial position.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from
Friday, 21 August 2015 to Monday, 24 August 2015, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
effected. In order for a shareholder to be eligible to attend and
vote at the Annual General Meeting, all transfers accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Tengis
Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 20 August,
2015.

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from
Friday, 25 September 2015 to Wednesday, 30 September
2015, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
shares will be effected. In order to qualify for the proposed
final dividend (subject to shareholders’ approval at the Annual
General Meeting), all transfers accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 22,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 24 September 2015.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The table set out below summarises the published results,
assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
financial statements. This summary does not form part of the
audited financial statements.

Bt o5 & R E

TREFIAEEBER AN BFEZD R
R BE BERFERERREZ T
BASEZEEZMBRR EBELTE
AR B IZ B TS ¥R 2 BB

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1-HLEE

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
“E-1f —F-pmfF —F-=f —ET--F —T——F
TER TET FTET TET TEL
RESULTS E
REVENUE WA 670,292 1,013,101 748,479 1,172,769 692,840
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERERN 157,263 216,314 167,579 156,792 175,916
Attributable to: JEG :
Owners of the parent [SUNCIE PN 120,744 195,629 153,427 113,633 163,721
Non-controlling interests iy i 36,519 20,685 14,152 43,159 12,195
157,263 216,314 167,579 156,792 175,916
ASSETS, LIABILITES ANDNON-  &E-2fER
CONTROLLING INTERESTS FERES
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 6,263,881 6,195,232 6,483,074 5,932,280 5,651,843
TOTAL LIABILITIES “BaE (2,446,303)  (2,342,878) (2,810,153  (2,549,055)  (2,178,810)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS ~ JEiRpR iz (183,263) (143,005) (137,991) (267,370) (310,546)
3,634,315 3,709,349 3,534,930 3,115,855 3,162,487
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT ME-BERZBRIZED %

AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out
in notes 14 and 15 to the financial statements, respectively.
Further details of the Group’s property, plant and equipment
and investment properties are set out on pages 222 to 226.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 35 and 36 to the
financial statements, respectively.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 March 2015.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 37(b) to the financial
statements and in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in
Equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2015, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provision
of The Bermuda Companies Act 1981, amounted to
HK$367,768,000, of which HK$37,617,000 has been
proposed as final dividends for the year. In addition, the
Company’s share premium account, in the amount of
HK$1,389,773,000, may be distributed in the form of fully-paid
bonus shares.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND PLEDGE
OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s contingent liabilities and pledge of assets
are set out in notes 40 and 43 to the financial statements,
respectively.
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CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions
totalling HK$244,000 (2014: HK$1,917,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, the Group’s sales to the five largest
customers and purchases from the five largest suppliers
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s revenue and
purchases for the year respectively.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates
or any shareholders which to the best knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company’s total number
of issued shares) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Non Executive Director:
Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary Chairman)

Executive Directors:

Ma Kai Yum (Chairman)

Chan Sheung Lai (Chief Executive Officer)
Ng Yan Kwong

Ma Hung Ming, John

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Lo Ming Chi, Charles

Lo Man Kit, Sam

Wong See King

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr.
Ma Hung Ming, John will retire by rotation and, being eligible,
will offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr.
Lo Man Kit, Sam will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will
offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

The Board has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and as the
date of this report still considers them to be independent.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the directors and senior
management of the Company are set out on pages 7 to 11 of
the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Ma Kai Cheung had entered into a service contract with the
Company. The contract has no fixed terms of engagement and
is subject to termination by either party giving three months’
notice in writing.

Mr. Chan Sheung Lai and Mr. Ng Yan Kwong had entered into
a service contract with the Company. The contract has no fixed
terms of engagement and is subject to retirement by rotation as
required by the Company’s Bye-laws and termination by either
party giving three months’ notice in writing.

Mr. Ma Kai Yum and Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John had no service
contract with the Company as at the end of the reporting
period.

The non-executive directors of the Company have been
appointed for a term subject to retirement by rotation as
required by the Company’s Bye-laws.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
terminable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31
March 2015 are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’
and chief executives’ interests and short positions in shares
and underlying shares”, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Company’s directors, their respective spouse or
minor children to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2015, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Mode
Code under the Listing Rules, were as follows:

LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES
(a) The Company

EHRFEATHABR KD KM
B M I 0 R iR B

s

R-E-—RAF=A=+—B ARFRZEFK
TETBABRARAHARFEMEE LR
A (E&R (RBHERBEGHMN) ([ (BHLH
BI&RGI) 1) EXVER) A - HBEER D MBS
TR 2 EERR  AELCR A RIRBCE
R (EF MGG FIB2GREATFE
ZELMA: IRE ETHRRNZRETRES
TTHEARNRR R Em MR T

MRy 2 5B
(@) A2

Underlying Percentage
Number of ordinary shares held shares of the
and nature of interest pursuant to Company’s
Personal Family Other  share options issued share
Name of director Capacity interests interests interests (note 1) Total capital
REBREL ERAR
BREERRAEARERNE HERG BRITRA
32 &% AR RikER HitEs (WizH1) At ARl
Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner, 246,328,172 9,300,000 259,129,025 3,000,000 517,757,197 41.42
ENE interest of spouse and (note 2) (note 3)
beneficiary of trust GEZ) (F33)
EafiEA EREGR
BHEHEA
Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner, interest 57,974,260 3,200,000 101,201,040 - 162,375,300 12.99
EN{ of spouse and (note 4) (notes 5 & 6)
beneficiary of trust (Fit3k4) (fft 35%06)
EafiEA RREGR
BARHEA
Chan Sheung Lai Beneficial owner - - - 11,000,000 11,000,000 0.88
B & ERBAA
Ng Yan Kwong Beneficial owner 13,000,000 - - 3,500,000 16,500,000 1.32
REX E&BA
Ma Hung Ming, John Beneficial owner, 8,810,000 3,044,000 - 2,000,000 13,854,000 11
kst interest of spouse (note 7)
ERlA ARERBER (F3E7)
Lo Ming Chi, Charles Beneficial owner - - - 150,000 150,000 0.01
SRE E&fEBA
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EHRFEATEABR KD RM

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(continued)

LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES (continued)
(a)

The Company (continued)

Notes:

R 2R RIRE ()

Rz R (8)
(@) A2 E (#)

Q)

The underlying shares represent interests of options
granted to the Directors and senior executive under the
Share Option Scheme to acquire shares of the Company,
further details of which are set out in note 36 to the
financial statements under the section headed “Share
Option Scheme”.

The shares were owned by Cheung Lin Kiu, the spouse of
Ma Kai Cheung.

Ma Kai Cheung and his family are the objects of a
discretionary trust which effectively owns the entire
issued share capital of Regent World Investments Limited
(“Regent World”) and 70% of the entire issued share
capital of Bond Well Investments Limited (“Bond Well”).
At the end of the reporting period, Regent World owned
184,121,625 shares and Bond Well owned 75,007,400
shares of the Company.

The shares were owned by Kwok Kit Mei, the spouse of
Ma Kai Yum.

Ma Kai Yum and his family are the objects of a
discretionary trust which effectively owns the entire issued
share capital of Grand Wealth Investments Limited (“Grand
Wealth”) and Peaceful World Limited (“Peaceful World”).
At the end of the reporting period, Grand Wealth owned
74,651,040 shares and Peaceful World owned 19,050,000
shares of the Company.

Peaceful World owns the entire issued share capital of
Real Potential Limited (“Real Potential”). At the end of
the reporting period, Real Potential owned 7,500,000
shares of the Company. The interests of Real Potential in
the Company are therefore deemed to be the interests of
Peaceful World in which Ma Kai Yum is also deemed to
have interests for the reason as stated in note 5 above.

The shares were owned by Choi Ka Man, Carmen, the
spouse of Ma Hung Ming, John.

HEROEEERERITHRAER
BEEEA SRR 2 TR AR R K
02 Bl R - AR ITEN M B®
F=MIFE36 [FERHERT &) —ffe

ZERMBSNENE T REBES -

ENEBERERAE—HE2EEAH
X% A c 3% 15 57T B B % B Regent
World Investments Limited ([ Regent
World ) 2 £ #8 B % 17X 7K & Bond
Well Investments Limited ([Bond
Well ] )8 2 & 2 31T R A HI70% ° 1Y
¥} 45 HA K - Regent World# B A 2 &
184,121,626/ i {5 - MBond Well Al
A 2R F)75,007,400P% B 17 ©

ZERMDABNTRNEFBRRAES

ENHREERAE—EHE2REEAH
XmAcZIBEEXERYE BGrand
Wealth Investments Limited ([ Grand
Wealth ] ) & Peaceful World Limited
([Peaceful World |)Hy & #F 2 317 1%
Ko R EHIK - Grand Wealth## &
KX E)74,651,0408% f% 17 - M Peaceful
World 8l # & 2 A 7]19,050,000% %

1/\ o

Peaceful World# 5 Real Potential
Limited ([Real Potential |) 82 %2
TR AR - MR HAZK © Real Potential
¥ A AN X A)7,500,0000% i% 1 » A 1t
Real Potentialid 4~ 2 7] H #E 25 4 1R 5
Peaceful World#)# z + M 1E 40 _E X
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Peaceful World#) 4 25 o
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

EERFETRABR KRG KM
R Z R RiRE ()

(continued)
LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES (continued) R Z e )
(b) Subsidiaries (b) WA T
Percentage of
the subsidiary’s
issued share
Name of Number of Type of capital (ordinary
Name of subsidiary director Capacity shares held shares shares)
EHEDH
BRITRABDLL
WEAREE E3pE L) FEROSE R 40 Rl (EBERHD)
Carrianna Chiu Chow Ma Kai Yum Beneficiary of trust 15,000 Ordinary 1.5
Restaurant (T.S.T.) Limited B
EEPHMBE SNH EREXRA EmR
(RXPB)ERRD
Ginza Development Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 15 Ordinary 2.5
Company Limited R
EWEERBRLA BENE EREAA LEk
Ginza Development Ma Kai Yum Beneficiary of trust 18 Ordinary 3
Company Limited B
SWEEREBRLA SNH EREXRA EmR
Gartrend Development Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 500,000 Non-voting N/A
Limited N deferred
RRERBERAA SNE ERBAA BRER TER
LR
Gartrend Development Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner 500,000 Non-voting N/A
Limited N deferred N
ERERAERAA SNH EREAA BRER TEH
BRI
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 9,000 Non-voting N/A
N deferred N
ENE ElEA miEEE iR
RERG
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner 1,000 Non-voting N/A
N deferred N
BN EREAA el TiER
RER
EREZHEM Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner N/A N/A 15
BRAH ) ) )
BNE EREBA TEH TEH
LEEEFERER Ma Hung Ming, Beneficial owner N/A N/A 15
BRAA John - -
ey EmBBA TEH TEA
REEERER Ma Hung Ming, Beneficial owner N/A N/A 10
BRAA John - - -
SBd ERBEAA TR iR
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(continued)

LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES (continued)

In addition to the above, Mr. Ma Kai Cheung and Mr. Ma
Kai Yum have non-beneficial personal equity interests in
certain subsidiaries held for the benefit of the Group solely
for the purpose of complying with their minimum company
membership requirements in prior years.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, none of the
directors and chief executive had registered an interest or
short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company, or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be
recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
AND CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as detailed in note 44 to the financial statements, no
contracts of significance to which the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, was a party and in which
a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include the
Company’s directors, including independent non-executive
directors, other employees of the Group, any consultant,
advisor or agent engaged by or business/joint venture partners
of any member of the Group. The Scheme became effective on
10 October 2005 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out
in note 36 to the financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s
share options outstanding during the year:

i M

it 3 om)

Number of share options
Date of Exercise
grant of price of
At1 Granted  Exercised Lapsed At 31 share Exercise share At grant
April during during during March options period of options date of
2014 the year the year the year 2015 (Note 1) share options (Note 2) options
HK$ HK$
" per share per share
A -§-%F B _ frim
—E-QmF RER RER RER =B BRERS TEBRE REER R RE
mA-8 B it 5% =t-R (K1) g8 (W@ BE2AH
SRET SR
Non-Executive Director
18
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 18-12-2006 18-12-2006 to 1.30 1.30
SNBRE 17-12-2016
Executive Directors
HTES
Mr. Chan Sheung Lai 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 22-10-2012 22-10-2013 10 0.824 0.824
REEEE 21-10-2017
3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 22-10-2012 22-10-2014 10 0.824 0.824
21-10-2017
3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 22-10-2012 22-10-2015 10 0.824 0.824
21-10-2017
2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 2-7-2013 2-7-2013 10 1.51 1.51
1-7-2016
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 18-12-2006 18-12-2006 to 1.30 1.30
SRHRE 17-12-2016
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 24-4-2012 31-12-2013 10 0.7 0.7
11-5-2017
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 24-4-2012 31-12-2013 10 0.7 0.7
REXESE 11-5-2017
2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 2-7-2013 2-7-2013 10 1.51 1.51
1-7-2016
19,600,000 - - - 19,500,000
Independent
Non-Executive Director
BUFHTES
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles 150,000 - - - 150,000 18-12-2006 18-12-2006 to 1.30 1.30
BRELE 17-12-2016
150,000 - - - 150,000
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) E% H& *E ﬁ‘ EJ (%)
Number of share options
BREHE
Date of Exercise
grant of price of
At1 Granted  Exercised Lapsed At 31 share Exercise share At grant
April during during during March options period of options date of
2014 the year the year the year 2015 (Note 1) share options (Note 2) options
HK$ HK$
per share per share
i
iy —g§-%F B _ T
—E-mF RER RER RER = BRERS TEBRE REER RERE
mA-8 B Gt 5% =t-R (BfH1) g8 (WE) BE2AH
FRET FRET
Other employees
Hitfgg
1,000,000 - (1,000,000) - - 3-1-2011 3-1-2014 10 1.03 1.03
2-1-2016
1,000,000 = = - 1,000,000 3-1-2011 3-1-2015 10 1.03 1.03
2-1-2017
1,000,000 = = - 1,000,000 3-1-2011 3-1-2016 10 1.03 1.03
2-1-2018
400,000 S = = 400,000 24-4-2012 31-12-2013 to 0.71 0.71
11-5-2017
3,000,000 = = - 3,000,000 2-7-2013 2-7-2013 10 1.51 1.51
1-7-2016
Non employees
¥EE
5,000,000 - - (5,000,000) - 2-7-2013 Note 3 1.51 1.51
RH]
11,400,000 - (1,000,000) (5,000,000 5,400,000
In aggregate # &t 31,050,000 - (1,000,000)  (5,000,000) 25,050,000
Notes: Bk -
1:  The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the  1: HEREEFHEANBEESHBHE AETE

BEETEMORGA -

grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

MBI RTT I (B2 X B A 31T IO IR 3R i
AR ZARRBRAERNES MR-

2: The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment 2
in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in
the Company’s share capital.

RIE R ek - AN Q |)3% 15,000,0000% B A%
BRI RARRIREREE 2 B - 3%
IS TIE B 18 B B B A AR A Bl R AR

3: Pursuant to the Consultancy Agreement, the Company granted 3:
5,000,000 share options to the external consultant for the
service to be rendered to the Company. The commencement

date of the exercise of the share options will depends on the
date of service rendered to the Company which will be lapsed on
1 July 2014. During the reporting period, the share options were
lapsed due to the external consultant did not render the service
to the Company in accordance with the Consultancy Agreement.

The weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately
before the date on which the share options were exercised was
HK$1.51 per share.

4

BRERBER YN _-_T—MOFLH—H
KRB BERRZRERHHER AR
REHIRT  FTAZBRER RS HARK-

SRERETE BHAARR KD INEFY
WHhEAESK151E T

49



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2015

Report of the Directors
EROGWMEE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2015, according to the register kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO and so far as was
known to the Directors, the following persons or corporations
(other than a Director or chief executive of the Company)
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO:

FERRK

RZZE—RAF=A=+—8 RBRELARAIE
(BAREEED) 53361 FE 2 EMA
iR ARBEZRAM THALHAR (F
FEARNREZRTE ﬁBU\E)E$ CIPd)
N RMAERNDEEREIOAR - WERE (&

% R BB & B %XV*B%Z‘*B&%S“*BT’E
R

LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES & 2 B
Number of Percentage of the
ordinary Company’s issued
Name of shareholder Capacity Notes shares held share capital
P BART
BRRERB &% P EEREA ERTRABIL
East Asia International Trustee a 360,330,065 28.83
Trustees Limited A
Golden Yield Holdings Limited Interest in controlled b 259,129,025 20.73
corporations
RERNRER
Regent World Investments Limited Holding corporation b 184,121,625 14.73
PT J'L/\ j
Wealthy Platform Limited Interest in controlled c 101,201,040 8.10
corporations
XN AR
Bond Well Investments Limited Holding corporation b 75,007,400 6.00
T HFL /'\
Grand Wealth Investments Limited Holding corporation © 74,651,040 5.97
:]; J'L/'\
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)
LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES (continued)

Notes:

a.

East Asia International Trustees Limited (“EAIT”) is the trustee of
a discretionary trust of which Mr. Ma Kai Cheung and his family
are the objects and through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Golden
Yield Holdings Limited (“Golden Yield”), EAIT was indirectly
interested in 259,129,025 shares of the Company. EAIT is also
the trustee of a discretionary trust of which Mr. Ma Kai Yum
and his family are the objects and through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Wealthy Platform Limited (“Wealthy Platform”), EAIT
was indirectly interested in 101,201,040 shares in the Company.
As at the balance sheet date, EAIT was effectively interested in a
total of 360,330,065 shares of the Company.

Golden Yield owns the entire issued share capital of Regent
World and 70% of the entire issued share capital of Bond Well,
was indirectly interested in a total of 259,129,025 shares of
the Company. The total shares held by both Regent World and
Bond Well are the same block of shares as disclosed in “Other
interests” of Mr. Ma Kai Cheung under the section headed
“Directors’ Interests in the Securities of the Group” set out
above.

Wealthy Platform owns the entire issued share capital of Grand
Wealth and Peaceful World and indirect owns the entire issued
share capital of Real Potential through Peaceful World, was
indirectly interested in 101,201,040 shares of the Company.
The total shares held by Grand Wealth, Peaceful World and
Real Potential are the same block of shares as disclosed in
“Other interests” of Mr. Ma Kai Yum under the section headed
“Directors’ Interests in the Securities of the Group” set out
above.

Save as disclosed above, the directors of the Company are
not aware of any other persons who, as at 31 March 2015,
had registered an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company in the register that was
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

FESEIRAE M PRAE] | 201544t

Report of the Directors
ERQHEE

FERE )
» Ik 2 R (8

B 5T -

a.

East Asia International Trustees Limited
(TEAT ) ABNELAERERKEAS
HEAMKLH —BE2EESTENELA I
FEBRH 2B B2 R]Golden Yield Holdings
Limited ([Golden Yield | ) M @ #Z # B AR
A)259,129,0250% f% 17 It 51 - EAITIR R B &
ENREERERKIEAZ T ATAKILZL
—BEEEINETA TEREE2EKR
J& A B]Wealthy Platform Limited ([ Wealthy
Platform | ) ify & £ # & 28 2 7]101,201,040
AR D  MEZE B EATE RS EAR A A&
360,330,0850% A% 17 ©

Golden Yield## 5 Regent World 2 30 2 317
f& 5 K& Bond WellZ 3 B 8 17 % 2N 2 70%if
M A A Qa4 $£259,129,0250% A& 15 °
Regent World & Bond Well& ££45 5% 1) &
EX [EERAREENESER | PRTLEN
BEhEz [EtEzR | PATEENR — LR

,T/\ 5

Wealthy Platform#% # & Grand Wealth &
Peaceful WorldZ & 2 1Tl A & & B
Peaceful WorldfE# # & 2 ZfReal Potential 2.
AT IR AT #E B A A A]1101,201,0400%
f% 17 » Grand Wealth » Peaceful World Xz Real
Potential& £IFBERIRH A EX [EERAEAE
BB SR PRTALENTE 2 [E b
= PR EN R — R -

B EMEEEIN RARBDEZHAA RIE
(BrMHRED) F336HFATHFIERL

i WEEFMALTR -_T—RAF=A=1+—H

BEEARRIRG RABRD 2 BEmHKR -
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE EHH A2 HFENE R
OBLIGATIONS OF THE LISTING RULES

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS T Btk R OR A E
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE BB ZR#E (F+=%F%13.18
OBLIGATION OF THE CONTROLLING %)

SHAREHOLDERS (RULE 13.18 OF

CHAPTER 13)

The agreement for the following loan to the Group imposes RAIETFAREBERZ BB T AR R 2L
specific performance obligations on the controlling shareholders ~ #ERX R BR ERBITE T !

of the Company:

Outstanding balance of Specific
banking facilities as at Final maturity of performance
31 March 2015 banking facilities obligations

HK$’ 000
R=-ZE-HF=ZA=+-—H SBITERREEHA BEBTERE

REBRITERGHE

TET
67,000 27 Jan 2020 (Note)
—E_FEF-HA_-++H (BtsE)

Note: MiFE -

Mr. Ma Kai Cheung, the Honorary Chairman and the controling ZAABZZEXFERIE#BRESNEBEELFTER
shareholder of the Company, holds 41.42% shareholding interest in the A F)41.42% 2 IR AN - RAR R Z ERES N
Company, and Mr. Ma Kai Yum, the Chairman of the Company, holds 43 B AR FI12.99% 7 JBARER » A G REH
12.99% shareholding interest in the Company, undertakes to maintain R E A& £ T D RAR QB RED51% o

for a total of at least 51% of the shares of the Company.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS HERS
Details of the connected transactions for the year are setout in =~ AFE 2 BERX S EEH NI Bk K M 5
note 44 to the financial statements. 44 -

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions [ EXFritE &N HEH M FEKE
which need to be disclosed as connected transactions in  MRAIZRERBIEBEL S -
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors; at least 25% of the
Company'’s total issued share capital was held by public as at
the date of this report.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code for
securities transactions by Directors of the Company. Following
specific enquiry by the Company, the Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard under the
Model Code for the year ended 31 March 2015.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 12 to 25.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Lo Ming Chi,
Charles (Chairman), Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam and Mr. Wong See
King.

The audit committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting
matters including the review of the financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2015.

FESEIRAE M PRAE] | 201544t
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©XE R
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

According to the Corporate Governance Code, the Company
has established its Remuneration Committee in April 2005.
The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent
non-executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Lo Man
Kit, Sam (Chairman), Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles and Mr. Wong
See King. A set of written terms of reference, which described
the authority and duties of the remuneration committee, was
adopted by the Board on 1 April 2005, amended and restated
on 26 March 2012.

The Remuneration Committee’s objectives are to establish and
maintain an appropriate and competitive level of remuneration
to attract, retain and motivate directors and key executives to
run the Company successfully. The Remuneration Committee
will ensure that the remuneration policies and systems of the
Group support the Group’s objective and strategies.

The remuneration details of directors during the year are set out
in note 8 to the financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive
director and three independent non-executive directors of
the Company, including Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman), Mr. Lo
Ming Chi, Charles, Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam and Mr. Wong See
King.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendation to the nomination of Directors with a view
to appointing suitable individuals with relevant expertise and
experience to enhance the constitution of the Board and to
contribute to the Board.

o4

HMZAS

REBGEEGTR AARER _TZTAFMN
ARIEHFMEE S -HFMEZEESHARA
M=2BIFATEFEXHELEE (EF)
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board confirmed that the Company has received from
each of its independent non-executive directors an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and still considers all of the independent non-
executive directors to be independent.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The event after the reporting period are set out in note 48 to the
financial statements.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

OUTLOOK

The Group will continue to develop and grow while maintaining
its healthy financial position and solid business foundation to
create long-term shareholder value.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Dr. Ma Kai Yum
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2015
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Independent auditors’ report
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s
EY =i

To the shareholders of
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages
58 to 221, which comprise the consolidated and company
statements of financial position as at 31 March 2015, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

o6

BEEREEERERAF
B iR 3R

(REFRZZMALZ HRIAE])

IIZEAD (AT [BM)) EERIERE
S8ENE v EEWEEIERABR A ([E
ANE REWBAR (A8 [E5E]) NiRE
MHHRE WG BERRBEER=ZZ—H
FZA=Z+—BHKARRARAFHBR KA
HEZHIEFENGAEBRER HFE2EHEKA
R REARDEHRNGEASTRER U
REEESBEMERAMBERER -

EREARGOMBERERZEML

Oft

BERAEFZRERREBSFMASRML
BEMBRELRRES R BGRDZ KER
EREBENEE NP RRZFHRE P BERE -
VTHEEEETBECANMEENS  LHFME
RAMBRR ZEEENERERR M (F
A L B AR FF sl #E AR Bl R )

\

B B i AT

BPNEETEREBERMANEZHZEREY
BHRRERBR - RAIRERBEFTE-NN\—
F (RENE) FOBKRNMRTE  ERBEBIIRE
& e BRULIASN - FAFIRI IR E & T R A EL At B
& BP I ABREENAD  HEMEM
ATBBSAEEMEE-



AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (Continued)

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Company
and of the Group as at 31 March 2015, and of the Group’s
financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

26 June 2015
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or LLoss

A&

Year ended 31 March 2015 BZ2=-F—AF=HA=+—HIFE

2015 2014
—E-FHF —E—F
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
B 5T FHET FET
REVENUE WA 5 670,292 1,013,101
Cost of sales fHE A (323,021) (560,288)
Gross profit E A 347,271 452,813
Other income and gains, net Hag A R e F5E 140,303 240,331
Selling and distribution expenses HERD AL (142,087) (139,759)
Administrative expenses TBRAX (118,999) (139,740)
Other expenses, net Himk  F58 (10,418) (58,508)
Finance costs B R R AR 7 (32,681) (43,194)
Share of loss of an associate Sih—HEEE AR EE (10,994) (13,889)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX RR B A 28 6 172,395 298,054
Income tax expense Frisfimz 10 (15,132) (81,740)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERF 157,263 216,314
Attributable to: JEAR
Owners of the parent ISINEIEZ =N 11 120,744 195,629
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR HE A 36,519 20,685
157,263 216,314
HK cents HK cents
B Rl
EARNINGS PER SHARE BAREEREREA
ATTRIBUTABLE EtERER
TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 13
Basic AR 9.66 16.07
Diluted e 9.59 15.88

Details of the dividends proposed for the year are disclosed in
note 12 to the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
GaacmlARR

Year ended 31 March 2015 #EZ2=-F—AF=A=+—HIFE

2015 2014
—E-FHF —E—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHET FET
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERF 157,263 216,314
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hi2mEBA (EE)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) #HREZIBHENHDEE
to be reclassified to profit or loss Bmz  HM2H
in subsequent periods: WA (E18)
Available-for-sale investments: AHEERE:
Changes in fair value NEEEE (138,967) 464,833
Reclassification adjustment BEFTALRE
for gain included in the BaiksHE
consolidated statement of Wz B D LR
profit or loss on disposal H 6 - (152,315)
(138,967) 312,518
Exchange differences on BREBINEE 2
translation of foreign operations fEHER 9,146 26,883
Reclassification adjustment on HEFINERE 2
disposal of foreign operations BN DERAE 39 414 =
Share of other comprehensive DME—HBERRZ
income of an associate Ea2mi A 1,068 =
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE AEEHMEE
INCOME/(LOSS) WA (&E)
FOR THE YEAR (128,339) 339,401
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE REE2HMBAHEEE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 28,924 555,715
Attributable to: JEAR -
Owners of the parent ISTNSIEZ PPN (8,269) 531,411
Non-controlling interests JEIE R = 37,193 24,304
28,924 555,715
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b 6 R &

31 March 2015 —F—A#F=H=+—H

2015 2014
—E-8F —ET-MF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FHET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% B NEE 14 605,926 489,248
Investment properties KEME 15 1,555,317 1,547,416
Prepaid land lease payments A L EFKIR 16 31,212 14,820
Goodwill kS 17 72,145 40,111
Other intangible assets Hinmp &= 18 359,394 399,732
Interests in associates NI 20 242,860 347,809
Available-for-sale investments AltHERE 21 383,323 522,144
Financial assets at fair value EAFEIERERBERT
through profit or loss RIEZEREE 22 4,679 4,654
Properties under development BRERPYHE 24 1,074,092 982,718
Pledged time deposits [ il 28 88,844 61,564
Deposits for purchases of land and BB E + i M EF L4
buildings - 63,817
Total non-current assets FEREBEERE 4,417,792 4,474,033
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Properties under development BRERPYE 24 186,081 99,507
Properties held for sale RIEREWE 814,344 816,192
Inventories FE 25 31,041 37,148
Debtors, deposits and prepayments JEURERFN - & RFEMIE 26 297,482 261,574
Loan to an associate m—EBE AR ER 20 81,960 =
Due from directors fEWE E IR 27 3,306 1,776
Due from non-controlling JIE s FE 128 A% AR R SR IE
shareholders 44(c) 7,083 -
Financial asset at fair value through 22 F(E S BR KRB 5
profit or loss BEZEREE 22 33,745 100,415
Structured deposits EEMET R 23 74,105 24,993
Restricted cash BRHIRE 28 10,712 10,123
Pledged time deposits EEAEEFR 28 29,452 6,477
Cash and cash equivalents RehAeEEEAR 28 229,248 362,994
1,798,559 1,721,199
Investment properties held for sale ¥ {EHE 2R EWE 15 47,530 —
Total current assets MEBEEMEE 1,846,089 1,721,199
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Consolidated Statement of Fmancml Position

HA M ’l% ko %
31 March 2015 —F—AF=HA=+—H
2015 2014
—E-FHF —E—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
By 5E FERT FET
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade creditors FERTE SR 29 (116,343) (139,427)
Sundry creditors, accruals and H A FETBR SR - FERT
deposits received BERARERIZS (403,594) (377,504)
Due to directors BN EEFHIA 44(c) (11,960) (3,070)
Due to non-controlling shareholders & <t JE 422 I% A% BR3¢ 44(c) (12,956) (8,275)
Interest-bearing bank and other By B 2 #RT &ﬁﬁﬂfﬁ“
borrowings 30 (773,598) (559,163)
Finance lease payables FENmERE 31 (607) (776)
Derivative financial instrument TESHMITA 33 (1,517) (2,508)
Deferred income EFEW A 34 (23,566) (435)
Tax payable FE IR (189,956) (193,830)
Total current liabilities mBBEER (1,534,097) (1,284,988)
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 311,992 436,211
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEAERRBERE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 4,729,784 4,910,244
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Due to non-controlling shareholders & <t JE 422 I% A% BR3¢ 44(c) (21,576) (17,441)
Interest-bearing bank and Bt B2 #RT &ﬁﬁﬂf%%
other borrowings 30 (231,820) (852,764)
Finance lease payables FENmERE 31 - (607)
Derivative financial instrument PTESMITA 33 - (1,536)
Deferred income BB A 34 (169,998) (213,487)
Deposits received Bz e (11,277) (9,772)
Contingent consideration HSARE 38 (2,564)
Deferred tax BT IR 32 (474,971) (462,283)
Total non-current liabilities MBI BELESE (912,206) (1,057,890)
Net assets BEFE 3,817,578 3,852,354
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FAMBRRE

31 March 2015 —F—A#F=H=+—H

2015 2014
—E-8F —ET-mF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
L FERT FHET
EQUITY [} &N
Equity attributable to owners of BRFEEN B
the parent
Issued capital BEITRA 35 124,989 124,889
Reserves f 37(a) 3,471,709 3,521,966
Proposed final dividends BERERE 12 37,617 62,494
3,634,315 3,709,349
Non-controlling interests IEFE IS #E 7 183,263 143,005
Total equity EmRE 3,817,578 3,852,354
Ma Kai Yum Ng Yan Kwong
B REX
Director Director
EFE EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GAMGEBHR

Year ended 31 March 2016 #ZE_-—F—AF=HA=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRAEAARE
Leasehold Avaiable-
land and for-sale
Share  building Share Exchange Capital investment Non-
Issued  premium  revaluation option  Goodwil equalisation redemption  Reserve  revaluation Captdl  Retaned  Proposed controling Total
captal  account  reserve reseve  resene reserve reserve funds reseve  resene profits ~ dividends Total  interests equity
figti AfihE
B¥f R RET  EkE ) o REEfR SR

fx EEE  EfEE R HERE TORE EDRR  BRe Rl ARG REEN EERR &3t B EREE
Notes  HK$000  HKS000 HKS000  HKS0OO  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HK§'000
Wi  FEr TR TR FEn  TEx  TEn  TEr  TEr T TER TR TR TEn TEn TEn

At 1 Apil 2013 RZF-Z%
MA—-A 16,577 1281546 56,060 12999 (86230 162,542 316 581 (15200 66424 1522116 404520 3534930 137991 3)672,921
Profit for the year REEET = - - - - - - - - - 195629 - 195620 20885 216314
Other comprehensive income. R4 £46
for the year: 2EUA:
Change i fai value AHEREL
of avalable-for-sale ATEED
investments - - - - - - - - 312518 - - - 312518 - 312518
Exchange differences on )
tranglation of foreign
operations - - - - - 23,264 - - - - - - 23,264 3619 26,883
Total comprehensive income. A E A2 EMA
for the year - - - - - 23,264 - - 312518 - 195629 - 531411 24304 555,715
Contrioution from a FERBRREE
non-controling shareholder - - - - - - - - - - - - - 2480 22480
Acquisitons/deemed! Wi /G e
acquisiton of REBAFZ
non-contioling interests ~ SEHRRER
in Subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - (31462 - - (31462 (7,235 (38,697)

Partial disposal of interest B3 ERHE
nasubsidiarytoanon-  AEZERT

controling shareholder FERER - - - - - - - - - (187 - - (181 34 1,265
Dividends peid to JERFEER
non-controling REZRE
shareholders - - - - - - - - - - - - - (7676  (37,676)
Transfer to retained profits ~ RERER RS
upon expiry of share: BREERBER
options - - - M) - - - - - - il = = = =
Issue of shares upon exercise {TEER 12
of share options Ri%ET 3(e) 2190 2296 - 860 - - - - - - - -9 -9
Equity-setted share IEREEY
option amangements BREZH - - - 5,070 - - - - - - - - 5070 - 5,070
Conversion of convertble BRI ARER
notes 35(b) 6,522 83871 - - - - - - - - - - 90,393 - 90,393
Final and special 2013 EE-F-2%
hidends declared KERsIRE - - - - - - - - - S BITIE [0450) (436236 - %2
Proposed final 2014 dividend 2% =5 1%
RERS 12 - - - - - - - - - - (odey G249t - - -
At31 March 2014 RZB-RE
ZREZt-8 124,889 1,388,351 56,060 93%  (86230) 185806 316 581 310,998 33,086 1,623,606 62494 3709349 143005 3,852,354
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Year ended 31 March 2015 BZ2=-F—AF=HA=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRARAARSE
Leasehold Available-
land and for-sale
Share  building Share Exchange  Capital investment Non-
Issued  premium revaluation option  Goodwill equalisation redemption  Reserve revaluation ~ Capital ~Retained Proposed controlling Total
capital account  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve funds  reserve  reserve profits  dividends Total interests equity
BELH aiHE
BEf Rt RET  BRE EX &x REEf FER

Bx  EEE EfSER R HERE VEEE RERE R R EXBR REEN BERR &t B ER4E
Notes [ HKS000 HKS000 HKS000  HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000  HKS000 HKS000 HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000
Wi | fER  TER  TER TEx  TER  TER  TER  TER  TER  TEx  TER  TER  TEx  TER  TER

At Apri 2014 RIB-RE
HA-A 124,889 1,388,351 56,060 9392  (86,230) 185,806 316 581 310,998 33,086 1,623,606 62494 3,700,349 143,005 3,852,354
Profit for the year REEEF - - - - - - - - - - 120,744 - 120,744 36,519 157,263
Other comprehensive income/ K5 £ 128
(loss) for the year: WA/ (B
Change in far valle AfHERE
of avalable-for-sale ATEED
investments - - - - - - - - (138967) - - - (138,967) - (138,967)
Exchange dferenceson ~ HEENEH 2
translation of foreign 8
operations - - - - - 8472 - - - - - - 8472 674 9,146
Reclassifcation adjustment &GS 2
on disposal of foreign LENAER
operations ¥ 39 - - - - - 414 - - - - - = 414 ol 414
Share of other B -REER
comprehensive income AZEMER
of an associate ON - - - - - 1088 - - - - - - 1068 - 1068
Total comprehensive income/ A [E 42
(loss) for the year WA/ (Et) - - - - - 0954 - - (138.967) - 120744 - (8269 3193 289%
Deregistration of subsidiaries 3 - - - - - - - - - - - - - (621) (621)
Acquisiton of subsidiaries 3 - - - - - - - - - - - - - a0 4,087
Contribution from non-
controling shareholders - - - - - - - - - - - - - 34 3,541
Acquisiton of non-controling AR I B
interests in a subsidiary NAZEER
ER - - - - - - - - - (6,260) - - (6,260) 6,160 (100)
Dividends paid to non- ERERR

controling shareholders Bz RS - - - - - - - - - - - .
Issue of shares upon exercise {TREERIEZ

(10,102)  (10,102)

of share options [OED 356) 100 1,422 - (492) - - - - - - - - 1,030 - 1,030
Equiy-settled share option AR EE 2
amangements RREZH - - - 959 - - - - - - - - 959 - 959
Final 2014 dividend SE-E-ME
*Ehe 12 - - - - - - - - - - - 62404 (62494 - 624
Proposed final 2015 dividend £
AERE 12 - - - - - - - - - - BTetT) s1ei7 - - -
At 31 March 2015
124980 1389773  56,060° 9850  (862%0) 195760 316* BBt 172031 26826 1706733 37617 364315 183263 3817578
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves — * I 25 5% #5 Bk 3,471,709,000/8 7T ( —Z — M
of HK$3,471,709,000 (2014: HK$3,521,966,000) in the 4 :3,521,966,000% 7T ) E B IE L 4R & BT 75
consolidated statement of financial position. MARZERERFEE LR
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GAB R E

Year ended 31 March 2015 #Z_—Z%

—AFZA=F—HILFE

2015 2014
—E-8F —ET—mF
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
Bt FExT FHET
Profit before tax x5 AT A 172,395 298,054
Adjustments for: TR :
Bank interest income FRITH) BUA 6 (7,314) (6,140)
Other interest income H b F B A 6 (6,280) (2,684)
Dividend income from available- AEHE FTREZ
for-sale listed investments i B HA 6 (19,456) (13,897)
Dividend income from available- At Hj EIELEMTEZ
for-sale unlisted investments 1 2 Ik A 6 (1,784) -
Dividend income from financial EAFEYERERNERE
assets at fair value through FREBZEMEEL
profit or loss i& B U A 6 (2,271) (4,757)
Gain on disposal of investment HEREYEZ W
properties 6 (22,514) -
Depreciation e 6 39,250 34,127
Equity-settled share option UEREE 2
expense FE IR XX 959 5,070
Finance costs ﬁ7f %E R 7 32,681 43,194
Fair value losses/(gains), net $TEJ§5TE/ (Wgzs) -
)=t %E
Financial assets at fair value BAFEINERR
through profit or loss Bt REz
ETWMEE
— Held for trading -BEEE 6 (6,062) (13,356)
— Designated as such upon - RUITEREZ
initial recognition BHEx 6 (1,786) 468
Derivative instruments PTETH
— transactions not qualifying —TREEHHPER
as hedges LR 6 624 51,248
Available-for-sale investments AEEERE
(transfer from equity on (REERBEER
disposal) BE ) 6 - (152,315)
Fair value adjustment of FAREATFERAE
contingent consideration 38 (6,315) -
Release of deferred income I A T R B 34 (21,183) =
Gain on deregistration of T B A A 2 Was
subsidiaries 6 (871) -
Write-down of inventories to net WORFEZERI 2R )% E
realisable value 6 - 3,423
Loss on disposal of items of HEME  BERE&E
property, plant and HEB 2 BE - F58
equipment, net 6 212 221
Impairment of trade debtors, net FEUE 5 BRSK 2 R E -
FEE 6 8,982 86
Recognition of prepaid land lease B i E KB~
payments R 6 839 429
Share of loss of an associate i Hﬁ’ﬁ ENAEE 10,994 13,889
Changes in fair value of Txé%%@?@
investment properties, net & B9 F8 6 (63,022) (40,466)
108,078 216,594
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Year ended 31 March 20156 #Z_—E—AF=H=1+—HIFFE

2015 2014
—B-RHF —E—OF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FHET FHT
Decrease/(increase) in properties EEMEZ
under development w (3 n) (133,904) 522,968
Decrease/(increase) in properties BIELEMFEL
held for sale () 5,781 (459,895)
Decrease in inventories FERL 6,907 7,401
Increase in debtors, deposits and JEYERR e R
prepayments TR FRIBIE AN (35,388) (49,505)
Increase/(decrease) in trade FERTE SR
creditors #n/ CRd) (23,822) 29,422
Increase/(decrease) in sundry H bR
creditors, accruals and EEAERRERES
deposits received g, O ) 18,766 (234,306)
Decrease in deferred income EEWA 2D (126) (1,887)
Increase in deposits received B Uik & 12 N 1,452 1,369
Increase in amounts due from JrE U EE =5 3R I 38 0
directors (1,530) (1,776)
Increase/(decrease) in amounts AN
due to directors #m,/ CRd) 8,890 (25,408)
Cash generated from/(used in) EEBRE/
operations (FPA) 2B % (44,896) 4,977
Interest element of finance lease BmEHRERSNRZ
rental payments PSS 7 (49) (85)
Hong Kong profits tax paid ENEBFNEHK (157) (328)
Mainland China tax paid B A BB K (13,227) (29,952)
Net cash flows used in operating KEEBAZ
activities ReEMEFE (58,329) (25,388)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

ZABLMER
Year ended 31 March 2015 #EZ2=-F—AF=A=+—HIFE
2015 2014
—E2-4fF —F-mE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B = FExT FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZH 2 RERE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received BUIRTTH B 7,314 6,140
Other interest received Hi 2 WA 8 10,621 =
Realised fair value loss on PTESRMIAEZE#EIR
derivative financial instruments NFEEEE
— transactions not qualifying as —TEREHANR S
hedges (3,151) (8,135)
Dividend received from available- BT EE T
for-sale listed investments &R E 19,456 13,897
Dividend received from available- BT RS
for-sale unlisted investments ELTIRERE 1,784 =
Dividend received from financial B IR A AV R R
assets at fair value through BafRECe/mE
profit or loss ERRE 2,271 4,757
Purchases of items of property, BADE HEK
plant and equipment HEIEE (80,067) (36,436)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWE - ME &
property, plant and equipment FAEIE B TS RIE 1,890 946
Purchase of an available-for-sale BARHEEIELT
unlisted equity investment N - (30,238)
Proceeds from disposal of HEHEEREMRE
available-for-sale investments KA - 806,252
Purchases of financial assets at fair & A2 A SFES BR &
value through profit or loss RiERPREZ
TREE (34,995) (93,196)
Proceeds from disposal of financial — H & & A &5 8k K&
assets at fair value through REZEREREZ
profit or loss @& EFT1S RE 108,251 13,356
Additions to prepaid land lease TR b3 & FRIRIE N
payments (17,441) (2,003)
Acquisition of subsidiaries Al =N 38 (27,417) =
Deposits paid for purchases of BEIHWREF Y
land and buildings EERE-& - (62,986)
Purchase of an investment BAREMSE
property - (818)
Proceeds from disposal of HEREMEFSENRIA
investment properties 31,456 -
Increase in pledged time deposits B E BT 2 (27,280) (31,678)
Decrease/(increase) in restricted BRHES 2
cash W, () (538) 3,127
Investment in structured deposits EBETRZIEE (72,868) -
Redemption in structured deposits & @l 45 & £ 17 =X 25,054 60,123
Loan to an associate LT RBEATZER - (81,960)
Repayment from an associate —EEE QA RER 12,897 =
Repayment to associates M) B 2 R BIE (4,175) =
Advances to associates faTHEE RNA 2B - (23,731)
Net cash flows from/(used in) wEEBAE, (FTR)Z
investing activities RemnEFaE (46,938) 542,417
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Year ended 31 March 2015 BZ2=-F—AF=HA=+—HIFE

2015 2014
S —E—mF
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
Lir=s FERT FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM BMETE2RHERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares TEBRERZEITRG
upon exercise of share options FT133K38 1,030 17,119
New bank loans 2738 58 17 B 3K X 513,905 455,861
Repayment of bank loans BEIFITER X (410,297) (550,638)
Repayment of other loans EEBEMER (12,594) (12,599)
Acquisition of non-controlling W BE IR IR M 2
interests (100) (38,697)
Contribution by non-controlling R EE
shareholders 3,541 22,480
Proceeds from partial disposal of HEBHRITBAR 2
interest in a subsidiary to TS ?#? g ez v
a non-controlling shareholder Fr{S 3k I8 - 1,265
Changes in balances with EERBREREEE
non-controlling shareholders 1,808 (27,270)
Capital element of finance lease BEMENBSNHD
rental payments =N ) (727) (655)
Dividends paid 2R E (62,494) (436,236)
Dividends paid to non-controlling B IR AR R AR B
shareholders (10,102) (87,676)
Interest paid 25 A (31,947) (49,885)
Net cash flows used in financing BEEBFTA 2
activities RemEFHR (7,977) (656,931)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND BHERBEEEEEH
CASH EQUIVALENTS WY RE (113,244) (139,902)
Cash and cash equivalents at FzReRREEE
beginning of year B H 356,364 493,278
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXEFFHNTE FHE
changes, net 1,118 2,988
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS F#ZH&R
AT END OF YEAR HE&EEEH 244,238 356,364
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES BHERBEEE
OF CASH AND CASH BHEHESBRZDN
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as REMBRRARANZES 2
stated in the consolidated RekRESEFBEEE
statement of financial position 28 229,248 362,994
Time deposits with original maturity ~ UgEERF R B EA E 4
of less than three months when 7= 1& A i # 7
acquired, pledged as security YERB—RRIRTT
for general banking facilities and EEREBRITERZ
short term bank loans 7E B TF 3R 28 29,452 6,477
Bank overdrafts RITEX 30 (14,462) (13,107)
Cash and cash equivalents as REREMERAZIZ
stated in the consolidated iﬁi N+ EEEE
statement of cash flows 244,238 356,364
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31 March 2015 —F—AF=HA=+—H

2015 2014
—E-HF —E—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FExT FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries g N 19 1,811,446 1,561,342
Due from associates JiE AT Bt 2 /1 B BR 3K 20 3,925 3,925
Total non-current assets EMBEEMLE 1,815,371 1,565,267
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Other debtors, deposits and Hh e AR -
prepayments BE RIANRIE 189 99
Due from a director JEW—RBES IR 27 1,371 1,371
Dividend receivable JE W % 2 80,000 350,000
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFHEER 28 202 181
Total current assets mMEEELE 81,852 351,651
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Sundry creditors and accruals HEMEMNERERREFTER (2,185) (2,167)
Due to directors JEfEEFIE 44(c) (3,000) (33,023)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings B RITIEE 30 (9,508) -
Total current liabilities M BERE (14,693) (35,190)
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 67,159 316,461
Net assets BEFAE 1,882,530 1,881,728
EQUITY =
Issued capital B2 ITRR A 35 124,989 124,889
Reserves {1 37(b) 1,719,924 1,694,345
Proposed final dividends BEARHRE 12 37,617 62,494
Total equity EmRE 1,882,530 1,881,728

Ma Kai Yum

l% il\ ﬁ
Director

EF

Ng Yan Kwong

SEX
Director

EF
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31 March 2015 —F—A#F=H=+—H

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The registered office of the Company is located
at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12,
Bermuda.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) were principally
engaged in investment holding, property investment and
development, and the operations of hotel, restaurant and
food businesses.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

70

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance which, because
the Company has not early adopted the revised Rules
Governing the Listing of the Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)
issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”), are those of the predecessor
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32). The financial
statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for certain leasehold land and
buildings, investment properties, derivative financial
instruments, and certain financial assets which have
been measured at fair value. These financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

1.

2.1

2 & R
EEMEEZERERAR ([ARF])
E—ERAREFMKIZIZERAR
A A = R AL Canon’s Court,
22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12,
Bermuda °

FR-ARBREMBAR (5 [RE
BDNEBXRBRAREER WEKRE
KERASGEBE BB RRMmER -

R

ZEVBRRDERELEGAMAE
(FEETRAE]) B2 BBMER
SEA([BEMBREER]) (HE
AR EMBRE LR FEGE
A (T&EEEr £ k2E) FERQ
R RAUREFERFUED 2 KERE
(ARARRLERFPRABTBHS
RBMAERDA (BT B2 &
B EBMARXIMERARES LT
MAN(TEMRAL) - BB S FERA]
k) (32 ) IR EE ) # B - B 75 ¥
RIRFAE L AL RS AR FER
BrATHELHWEET REWE 01
EEMTAMNETEREERI -ZF
M HmERIIAETTZE Mkk = A A
S RBEBEERHBESREIO 2T



2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2015. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give
the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests,
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

FERIBRE MR AT RA A | 201547 4K

Notes to Financial Statemeqts
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31 March 2015 —F—AF=HA=+—H

2.1 4 WH# (@)

A
HEMERREEAEEHE_T -0
FZA=1+—RILFEZ2HERK
BARRARNAREE KR RIEH 2 EE
(BREERILER) BAKEYH2EK
BURREKZ FPMGAERRIZER
AN R B BEIRENR 2% (1
AEBEEETHRBENNTERELHR
MHREE) < AR R BT m A
BERAS 22 i 4

AR ERAEREGINRELHR
REBIREHBOER 2R - QIR K
BERFGESEHEHREHR ZES
HeZE—RBEFERERL 81 :

(@) HERBEHREMREFEAZAELD
L

b) HMAHNLBRMELZERN: &

© AEEZREENEERERE-

MEBARMEHRRDREH —Bze
AABREARRBHRZREREFER
B AR 2 FEMAKEREGESZ B
REEREERN UHEEFEEEZ
EHRIEZH -

BEkEMEERANZEXLD FEB
RAKBERRRHEA A MIFFZERER
Bt & 5| BRI s A5 BR L R B At o
ESBRAARHEEERBE #&E-
WA AR AL B E AR ZH
RHBEENRERELN A HHFZHIE
35 °
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

72

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described in the accounting policy for subsidiaries
below. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any
non-controlling interest and (i) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair
value of the consideration received, (i) the fair value of
any investment retained and (i) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

OPERATING CYCLE

The operating cycle of the Group for the property
investment and development business is the time
between the acquisition of assets for processing and
their realisation in cash or cash equivalents. Due to the
nature of such business, the normal operating cycle
is longer than 12 months. The Group’s current assets
include assets (such as properties under development
and properties held for sale) which are sold, consumed
or realised as part of the normal operating cycle for the
property investment and development business even
when they are not expected to be realised within 12
months after the end of the reporting period.

2.1 4 WH# (@)

EAEE )
MEENIERRE T XH BRI 2ETK
KA =IAESIERAEE P —HNZIE

FAIRNEESEGHRT ALK
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N A 4 O 2 1 I RE 0 N BR I VB AR R R
%o

MAREBREMB AR 2 ZHIH#E Bl
RIFERZMBRARZEE (BERA
B)RBE ()T IR S 2 B
18 M)y EeECEk 2 Rt ENZ/R
W HERNE WK B Z 2 FE - (i) EFIRE
BRE 2 RNFE - R(iERSEEZ ER
EERSE A o ST AT B4 2 T WA RERR
ZARSEEEED  DIRERNEEE R
EHEEEXRENBER TAFHRRE
® BMOBERBEIREBEN (RER
MmiE) °

R ¥R
AEENMERERBEREGEXBES
ROBEEZREZRRESIREF
EMALLZERRE - BREERFEE 2
XBEHBEAM2EA -NEEYER
BERBREGHOARBEEREE —ELE
FEXBHALE HRXEZEEANE
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 &3tk ki ZE 2 %

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised standards
and a new interpretation for the first time for the current

year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 (2011)

Amendments to HKAS 32

Amendments to HKAS 39

HK(FRIC)-Int 21

Amendments to HKFRS 2
included in Annual Improvements
2010-2012 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 3
included in Annual Improvements
2010-2012 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 13
included in Annual Improvements
2010-2012 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 1
included in Annual Improvements
2011-2013 Cycle

i Effective from 1 July 2014

Investment Entities

Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilties

Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge
Accounting

Levies

Definition of Vesting Condition’

Accounting for Contingent

Consideration in a Business
Combination’

Short-term Receivables and
Payables

Meaning of Effective HKFRSs
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Except for the amendment to HKFRS 1 which is only
relevant to an entity’s first HKFRS financial statements,
the nature and the impact of each amendment and
interpretation is described below:

74

(@)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 include a definition of an
investment entity and provide an exception to the
consolidation requirement for entities that meet the
definition of an investment entity. Investment entities
are required to account for subsidiaries at fair value
through profit or loss rather than consolidate them.
Consequential amendments were made to HKFRS
12 and HKAS 27 (2011). The amendments to
HKFRS 12 also set out the disclosure requirements
for investment entities. The amendments have had
no impact on the Group as the Company does not
qualify as an investment entity as defined in HKFRS
10.

The HKAS 32 Amendments clarify the meaning of
“currently has a legally enforceable right to set off”
for offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities.
The amendments also clarify the application of the
offsetting criteria in HKAS 32 to settlement systems
(such as central clearing house systems) which
apply gross settlement mechanisms that are not
simultaneous. The amendments have had no impact
on the Group as the Group does not have any
offsetting arrangement.

2.2
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(©

The HKAS 39 Amendments provide an exception to
the requirement of discontinuing hedge accounting
in situations where over-the-counter derivatives
designated in hedging relationships are directly
or indirectly, novated to a central counterparty
as a consequence of laws or regulations, or the
introduction of laws or regulations. For continuance
of hedge accounting under this exception, all of
the following criteria must be met: (i) the novations
must arise as a consequence of laws or regulations,
or the introduction of laws or regulations; (i) the
parties to the hedging instrument agree that one or
more clearing counterparties replace their original
counterparty to become the new counterparty
to each of the parties; and (i) the novations do
not result in changes to the terms of the original
derivative other than changes directly attributable to
the change in counterparty to achieve clearing. The
amendments have had no impact on the Group as
the Group has not novated any derivatives during
the current and prior years.

HK(FRIC)-Int 21 clarifies that an entity recognises
a liability for a levy when the activity that triggers
payment, as identified by the relevant legislation,
occurs. The interpretation also clarifies that a levy
liability is accrued progressively only if the activity
that triggers payment occurs over a period of time,
in accordance with the relevant legislation. For a
levy that is triggered upon reaching a minimum
threshold, the interpretation clarifies that no liability
should be recognised before the specified minimum
threshold is reached. The interpretation has had
no impact on the Group as the Group applied, in
prior years, the recognition principles under HKAS
37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets which for the levies incurred by the Group
are consistent with the requirements of HK(IFRIC)-Int
21.

2.2
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The HKFRS 2 Amendment clarifies various issues
relating to the definitions of performance and service
conditions which are vesting conditions, including
(i) a performance condition must contain a service
condition; (i) a performance target must be met
while the counterparty is rendering service; (i) a
performance target may relate to the operations or
activities of an entity, or to those of another entity in
the same group; (iv) a performance condition may
be a market or non-market condition; and (v) if the
counterparty, regardless of the reason, ceases to
provide service during the vesting period, the service
condition is not satisfied. The amendment has had
no impact on the Group.

The HKFRS 3 Amendment clarifies that contingent
consideration arrangements arising from a business
combination that are not classified as equity should
be subsequently measured at fair value through
profit or loss whether or not they fall within the
scope of HKFRS 9 or HKAS 39. The amendment
has had no impact on the Group.

The HKFRS 13 Amendment clarifies that short-term
receivables and payables with no stated interest
rates can be measured at invoice amounts when the
effect of discounting is immaterial. The amendment
has had no impact on the Group.

2.2
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23 HWARKMZHGl REETE
B E R DR A A

2.3 NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs AND
NEW DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS

UNDER THE HONG KONG o) R BITE T 2 5] % & H E
COMPANIES ORDINANCE NOTYET
ADOPTED

ZN SLINEN R R e Y N IS
o fB iR R R 2 ¥ a] AR BRI B AW S

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective,

in these financial statements.

WS R

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments* ERMBRELRES, £HTA

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets between BB EREER REZHRBE L A5
HKFRS 10 and an Investor and its Associate or F10 BB BREDLERZ
HKAS 28 (2011) Joint Venture® A Bl 085 EBENERRA

Amendments to

Investment Entities: Applying the

(ZF——F) 2§d
BAEYBREER

REEE  ERFAEN

HKFRS 10, Consolidation Exception? E10% BBHB R
HKFRS 12 and WEERFE12% R
HKAS 28 (2011) BT ERIE285%

(ZF——F) 2]

Amendments to Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests BB BHRELER WERR T E e 2
HKFRS 11 in Joint Operations® ENR2EF B 72

HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts® RN BREER HEELEF®

F14%
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with RN BRELER KEEP & a
Customers® F15%

Amendments to Disclosure Initiative? ERSHENEIR: RETE
HKAS 1 )

Amendments to Clarification of Acceptable Methods of BRQHENEORR BEMEREHTE
HKAS 16 and Depreciation and Amortisation? il RIE
HKAS 38 385 2 BF]

Amendments to Agriculture: Bearer Plants? BRGHENERR £F LEMLEN
HKAS 16 and B e £l
HKAS 41 FAHR BT

Amendments to Defined Benefit Plans: Employee BAEGF R EREEFITE ERH
HKAS 19 Contributions' F1R 2 BE] #

Amendments to Equity Method in Separate Financial BRGQHENE  BUIBHEZED L
HKAS 27 (2011) Statements? (Z2——F) 2837

Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of HKFRSS' —E-FFEF T —F ZREBVBRELEL
2010-2012 Cycle BHZ FRH#E ZERT

Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of HKFRSs' ZE—#FF-F-—F LIHEAWBREES
2011-2013 Cycle BHZ ER#E ZIERT

Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of HKFRSs? ZE-—FF-FT-F LRV BRELL
2012-2014 Cycle BHZ FRH#E Z BRI
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2.3 NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs AND
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NEW DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
UNDER THE HONG KONG
COMPANIES ORDINANCE NOT YET
ADOPTED (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2014

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2016

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2017

. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2018

< Effective for an entity that first adopts HKFRSs for its
annual financial statements beginning on or after 1
January 2016 and therefore is not applicable to the Group

In addition, the amendments to the Listing Rules
announced by the Stock Exchange in February 2015
relating to the disclosure of financial information with
reference to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622) and HKFRSs will be applied for the year ending
31 March 2016. They will affect the presentation and
disclosure of certain information in the consolidated
financial statements for the next financial year.

Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is as follows:

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final
version of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the
financial instruments project to replace HKAS 39 and all
previous versions of HKFRS 9. The standard introduces
new requirements for classification and measurement,
impairment and hedge accounting. The Group expects
to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 April 2018. The Group expects
that the adoption of HKFRS 9 will have an impact on the
classification and measurement of the Group’s financial
assets. Further information about the impact will be
available nearer the implementation date of the standard.
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2.3 NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs AND

NEW DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
UNDER THE HONG KONG
COMPANIES ORDINANCE NOT YET
ADOPTED (Continued)

The amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011)
address an inconsistency between the requirements in
HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the
sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain
or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the
investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments from 1 April 2016.

The amendments to HKFRS 11 require that an acquirer
of an interest in a joint operation in which the activity of
the joint operation constitutes a business must apply the
relevant principles for business combinations in HKFRS
3. The amendments also clarify that a previously held
interest in a joint operation is not remeasured on the
acquisition of an additional interest in the same joint
operation while joint control is retained. In addition, a
scope exclusion has been added to HKFRS 11 to specify
that the amendments do not apply when the parties
sharing joint control, including the reporting entity, are
under common control of the same ultimate controlling
party. The amendments apply to both the acquisition of
the initial interest in a joint operation and the acquisition
of any additional interests in the same joint operation. The
amendments are not expected to have any impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group upon
adoption on 1 April 2016.
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2.3 NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs AND
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NEW DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
UNDER THE HONG KONG
COMPANIES ORDINANCE NOT YET
ADOPTED (Continued)

HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model that will
apply to revenue arising from contracts with customers.
Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects
to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or
services to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15
provide a more structured approach for measuring
and recognising revenue. The standard also introduces
extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure
requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations, changes in
contract asset and liability account balances between
periods and key judgements and estimates. The
standard will supersede all current revenue recognition
requirements under HKFRSs. The Group expects to
adopt HKFRS 15 on 1 April 2017 and is currently
assessing the impact of HKFRS 15 upon adoption.

Amendments to HKAS 1 include narrow-focus
improvements in respect of the presentation and
disclosure in financial statements in five areas, including
materiality, disaggregation and subtotals, notes structure,
disclosure of accounting policies and presentation of
items of other comprehensive income arising from
equity accounted investments. The amendments further
encourage entities to apply professional judgement in
determining what information to disclose and how to
structure the disclosure in the financial statements. The
Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 April
2016.
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2.3 NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs AND

NEW DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
UNDER THE HONG KONG
COMPANIES ORDINANCE NOT YET
ADOPTED (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 clarify the
principle in HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 that revenue reflects
a pattern of economic benefits that are generated from
operating business (of which the asset is part) rather than
the economic benefits that are consumed through the use
of the asset. As a result, a revenue-based method cannot
be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment
and may only be used in very limited circumstances
to amortise intangible assets. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The amendments are not
expected to have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group upon adoption on 1 April 2016
as the Group has not used a revenue-based method for
the calculation of depreciation of its non-current assets.

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle
issued in January 2014 sets out amendments to a
number of HKFRSs. Except for those described in note
2.2, the Group expects to adopt the amendments from
1 April 2015. None of the amendments are expected to
have a significant financial impact on the Group. Details
of the amendments most applicable to the Group are as
follows:

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments: Clarifies that an entity
must disclose the judgements made by management in
applying the aggregation criteria in HKFRS 8, including
a brief description of operating segments that have
been aggregated and the economic characteristics
used to assess whether the segments are similar. The
amendments also clarify that a reconciliation of segment
assets to total assets is only required to be disclosed
if the reconciliation is reported to the chief operating
decision maker.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies
that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively.
In addition, when there has been a change recognised
directly in the equity of the associate, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s investments in the associates,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates is included as part of
the Group’s investments in associates.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment
at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture
is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group
elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope
of HKAS 39 is measured at a fair value with changes
in fair value either recognised in profit or loss or as a
change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent
consideration is not within the scope of HKAS 39, it is
measured in accordance with the appropriate HKFRS.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures its investment properties, derivative
financial instruments and equity investments at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the
most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets,
investment properties and non-current assets classified
as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted
for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for
that revalued asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at
a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

RELATED PARTIES
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

() has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

()  the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iiy  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a); and

(vij a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND DEPRECIATION

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after
items of property, plant and equipment have been put
into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:
Hotel properties Over the lease terms
Leasehold land under

finance leases Over the lease terms
Buildings 2.5% to 3%
Leasehold improvements 5% to 20%
Plant and machinery 10%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15% to 20%
Motor vehicles 20% to 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts
and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year
end.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND DEPRECIATION (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating
lease for a property which would otherwise meet the
definition of an investment property) held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary
course of business. Such properties are measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair
value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of
profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Investment property is transferred to non-current assets
held for sale when it is expected that the carrying amount
will be recovered principally through sale rather than from
continuing use. For this to be the case, the property must
be available for immediate sale in its present condition,
subject only to terms that are usual and customary
for sales of such property and its sale must be highly
probable.

For the sale to be highly probable:

o the board of directors must be committed to a plan
to sell the property and an active programme to
locate a buyer and complete the plan must have
been initiated;

o the property must be actively marketed for sale at a
price that is reasonable in relation to its current fair
value; and

o the sale should be expected to qualify for
recognition as a completed sale within one year from
the date of classification.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell. Assets and liabilities classified as
held for sale are presented separately as current items in
the statement of financial position. On re-classification,
investment property that is measured at fair value
continues to be so measured.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN
GOODWILL)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful life of intangible asset is
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible asset
with finite life is subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets represent the rights to purchase
pre-determined lots of land pursuant to legal binding
agreements. Intangible assets are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
Intangible assets are amortised to properties under
development as land costs in accordance with the actual
acquisition patterns of these pre-determined lots of land.

LEASES

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and
risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than
legal title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the
inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset
is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease
payments and recorded together with the obligation,
excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and
financing. Assets held under capitalised finance leases,
including prepaid land lease payment under finance
leases, are included in property, plant and equipment and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of
such leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss
SO as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over
the lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
LEASES (Continued)

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but
are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to the statement
of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable
under operating leases are charged to the statement
of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land
and buildings elements, the entire lease payments are
included in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance
lease in property, plant and equipment.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Properties under development are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value and comprise land costs,
construction costs, borrowing costs, professional fees
and other costs directly attributable to such properties
incurred during the development period.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets unless the construction of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete beyond the
normal operating cycle. On completion, the properties are
transferred to properties held for sale.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial
investments, as appropriate. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus
transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of
the financial assets, except in the case of financial assets
recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the
near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging instruments as
defined by HKAS 39.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with positive net changes in fair value presented as other
income and gains and negative net changes in fair value
presented as other expenses in the statement of profit
or loss. These net fair value changes do not include any
dividends or interest earned on these financial assets,
which are recognised in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date
of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are
satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for
as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are
not held for trading or designated as at fair value through
profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if
there is either a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise
be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of
the fair value through profit or loss category.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method less any allowance
for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation and the loss arising from impairment are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments.
Equity investments classified as available for sale are
those which are neither classified as held for trading nor
designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial
investments are subsequently measured at fair value,
with unrealised gains or losses recognised as other
comprehensive income in the available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised,
at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised
in the statement of profit or loss in other income, or until
the investment is determined to be impaired, when the
cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the available-
for-sale investment revaluation reserve to the statement of
profit or loss in other expenses. Dividends earned whilst
holding the available-for-sale financial investments are
reported as dividend income and are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss as other income in accordance
with the policy set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)
When the fair value of unlisted equity investments
cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability

in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is
significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities

of the various estimates within the range cannot be
reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value,
such investments are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention
to sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near
term are still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances,
the Group is unable to trade these financial assets due
to inactive markets, the Group may elect to reclassify
these financial assets if management has the ability and
intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable future or
until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date
of reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and
any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been
recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the
remaining life of the investment using the effective interest
rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost and
the maturity amount is also amortised over the remaining
life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If the
asset is subsequently determined to be impaired, then the
amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the statement
of profit or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment
exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence
of impairment may include indications that a debtor or
a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation and observable data
indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears
or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually
for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the
asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them
for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not yet been
incurred). The present value of the estimated future
cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
(Continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues
to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and
is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount
the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with
any associated allowance are written off when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-
off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the
statement of profit or loss.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is
not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be
reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets
are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that an investment or a group
of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised
in the statement of profit or loss, is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment
below its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the
original cost of the investment and “prolonged” against
the period in which the fair value has been below its
original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the
cumulative loss — measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that investment previously recognised
in the statement of profit or loss — is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity instruments
classified as available for sale are not reversed through
the statement of profit or loss. Increases in their fair
value after impairment are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to
which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or
loans and borrowings, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
include financial liabilities held for trading and financial
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if
they are acquired for the purpose of repurchasing in the
near term. This category includes derivative financial
instruments entered into by the Group that are not
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships
as defined by HKAS 39. Separated embedded derivatives
are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or
losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not
include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date
of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are
satisfied.

LLoans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: () the
amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period; and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as
interest rate swaps, to hedge its interest rate risk. Such
derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair
value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out
basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished
goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value
is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value on an individual property basis.
Cost includes all development expenditure, applicable
borrowing costs and other direct costs attributable to
such properties. Net realisable value is estimated by the
directors by reference to the prevailing market price.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

For the purpose of the statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted
as to use.

PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in
the statement of profit or loss.

INCOME TAX

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the jurisdictions/
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INCOME TAX (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense,
it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over
the periods that the costs, which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed. When the grant relates to
an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income
account and is released to the statement of profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the useful life of the asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(@ from the sale of goods, when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred
to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains
neither managerial involvement to the degree usually
associated with ownership, nor effective control over
the goods sold;

(b) income from the restaurant and food businesses, at
the point of sale to customers;

(c) income from the sale of completed properties, on
the exchange of legally binding unconditional sales
contracts;

(d) rental income, in the period in which the properties
are let out and on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms;

(e) hotel and other service income, in the period in
which such services are rendered;

()  interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset; and

(g dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible
participants (including the Company’s directors and
other employees of the Group, any consultant, advisor
or agent engaged by or business/joint venture partners
of any member of the Group) who render services and/
or contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Employees (including directors) and advisor of the
Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, whereby employees/advisors render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
for grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The cost of equity-settled transactions with non-
employees is measured by reference to the fair value of
the services received at the date they are received. Where
the market information for the services provided by non-
employees cannot be reliably determined, the fair value of
the share options granted at the date when the services
are received is applied as a surrogate measure. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 36 to the
financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfiled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting
period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which
the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and
end of that period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

No expense is recognised for awards that do not
ultimately vest, except for equity-settled transactions
where vesting is conditional upon a market or non-vesting
condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether or not the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in central pension schemes (the “CP Schemes”)
operated by respective local municipal governments.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their covered payroll to the CP Schemes to
fund their benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the CP Schemes is to pay the ongoing required
contributions under the CP Schemes. Contributions under
the CP Schemes are charged to the statement of profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the CP Schemes.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

DIVIDENDS

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as
a separate allocation of retained profits within the equity
section of the statement of financial position, until they
have been approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. When these dividends have been approved by
the shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a
liability.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
and associates are currencies other than the Hong
Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period and their statement of
profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate
component of equity. On disposal of a foreign operation,
the component of other comprehensive income relating
to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FOREIGN CURRENCIES (Continued)

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor
The Group has entered into commercial property leases
on its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all the

significant risks and rewards of ownership of these
properties which are leased out on operating leases.

Classification between investment properties and
properties held for sale

The Group develops properties held for sale and
properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation. Judgement is made by management in
determining whether a property is designated as an
investment property or a property held for sale. The
Group considers its intention of holding the properties
at the early development stage of the related properties.
During the course of construction, the related properties
under construction are accounted for as properties under
development if the properties are intended for sale after
its completion, whereas, the properties are accounted
for as investment properties under construction if the
properties are intended to be held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation. Upon completion of the
properties, the properties held for sale are transferred to
completed properties held for sale and are stated at cost,
while the properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation are transferred to investment properties and
are subject to revaluation at each reporting date.

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount

of goodwill at 31 March 2015 was HK$72,145,000 (2014:
HK$40,111,000). Further details are given in note 17.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties
The Group engaged independent professionally qualified

valuers to perform the valuation of the investment
properties of the Group at the end of the reporting period.

In the valuation, the valuers consider information from a
variety of sources, including:

(@) direct comparison approach and reference to the
recent transactions for similar premises in the
proximity; and

(b) discounted cash flow analysis which discounts
the projected free cash flows generated from the
properties at an appropriate market rate of return to
arrive at the present values of the properties.

The carrying amount of investment properties of the
Group as at 31 March 2015 was HK$1,602,847,000
(2014: HK$1,547,416,000). Further details, including the
key assumptions used for fair value measurement and a
sensitivity analysis, are given in note 15 to the financial
statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimation of fair value of contingent
consideration

The Group’s business combination during the year
involved post-acquisition performance-based contingent
consideration. The Group recognises contingent
consideration at its fair value which is determined in
accordance with the terms under the relevant agreement
and with reference to the estimated post-acquisition
performance of the acquired subsidiaries. Judgement
is required to determine key assumptions (such as
growth rate, margins and discount rate) adopted in
the estimation of post-acquisition performance of the
acquired subsidiaries. Changes to key assumptions can
significantly affect the amount of future liability. Contingent
consideration shall be remeasured at its fair value resulting
from events or factors emerge after the acquisition
date, with any resulting gain or loss recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The carrying
amount of contingent consideration as at 31 March
2015 was HK$2,564,000. Further details, including the
key assumptions used for fair value measurement and a
sensitivity analysis, are given in note 38 to the financial
statements.

Corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to income taxes in the People
Republic of China (“PRC”). As a result of the fact that
certain matters relating to the income taxes have not been
confirmed by the local tax bureau, objective estimate
and judgement based on currently enacted tax laws,
regulations and other related policies are required in
determining the provision for income taxes to be made.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts originally recorded, the differences will
impact on the income tax and tax provisions in the period
in which the differences realise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision
for LAT is based on management’s best estimates
according to the understanding of the requirements set
forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. The
actual LAT liabilities are subject to the determination by
the tax authorities upon the completion of the property
development projects. As the Group has not finalised its
LAT calculation and payments with the tax authorities
for certain of its property development projects, the final
outcome could be different from the amounts that were
initially recorded.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested
for impairment annually and at other times when such an
indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is
based on available data from binding sales transactions in
an arm'’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash
flows for the asset or cash-generating unit and choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets
relating to recognised tax losses at 31 March 2015 was
HK$1,644,000 (2014: HK$1,735,000). Further details are
contained in note 32 to the financial statements.

Recognition and allocation of construction costs
on properties under development

Development costs of properties are recorded as
properties under development during the construction
stage and will be transferred to properties held for sale
upon completion. An apportionment of these costs will
be recognised in the statement of profit or loss upon
the recognition of the sales of completed properties.
Before the final settlement of the development costs
and other costs relating to the sale of the completed
properties, these costs are accrued by the Group based
on management’s best estimate.

When developing properties, the Group may divide the
development projects into phases. Specific costs directly
related to the development of a phase are recorded as the
cost of such phase. Costs that are common to phases
are allocated to individual phases based on the estimated
saleable area of the entire project.

Where the final settlement of costs and the related
cost allocation is different from the initial estimates, any
increase or decrease in the development costs and other
costs would affect the profit or loss in future years.
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OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and
has two reportable operating segments as follows:

(@ the restaurant, food and hotel segment is engaged
in restaurant and hotel operations and the provision
of food and beverage services; and

(b) the property investment and development segment
comprises the development and sale of properties
and the leasing of commercial and residential
premises.

Management monitors the results of its operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit, which is a measure of adjusted profit
before tax. The adjusted profit before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit before tax except that
bank interest income, certain fair value gains or losses
from the Group’s financial instruments, finance costs
as well as corporate expenses are excluded from such
measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.

4.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

4. K87k &R

Year ended 31 March 2015

BE-Z-HF=A=+t—HLEE

Property
Restaurant, investment
food and and
hotel development Total
il MERE
BEmREE RER @it
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TER TER TER
Segment revenue: i1 ONE
Sales 1o external customers HETIHIRER 543,973 126,319 670,292
Intersegment sales NEfEHE 1,306 6,770 8,076
678,368
Reconciliation: A
Elimination of intersegment sales Wi MR HER (8,076)
Total revenue BIA 670,292
Segment results PEEE 94,509 121,516 216,025
Reconciliation: A
Bank interest income AT WA 7,314
Unallocated other income and AABREMKAR
gains, net Wz H8 13,565
Corporate and unallocated expenses TERRDES N (31,828)
Finance costs B (32,681)
Profit before tax R 750 AT A 172,395
Other segment information: HthpHER:
Changes in fair valug of REMEZATER
investment properties - 63,022 63,022
Gain on disposal of HEREME 2 Yz
investment properties - 22,514 22,514
Fair value gain on financial assets BRATEFIRRRERS
at fair value through profit REZERHEELZ
or loss, net A EYE FE
- unallocated —-AxHE 7,848
Fair value loss on derivative instruments - $74 TE 72 AFEEE—
transactions not qualifying THEHPER 2
as hedges, net X5 38R
- unallocated xR 624
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BETHER (9
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2015 (Continued) BE-ZE—HE=A=+—RHLEE
(#8)
Property
Restaurant, investment
food and and
hotel development Total
BRREE REE @t
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TER TER TER
Other segment information: (Continued) H# 2 &R : (&)
Share of loss of an associate EiE—HEeE N REE - 10,994 10,994
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries AEMBARZ W 871 - 871
Equity-settled share option expense NEREE 2 BRERS
- segment N - 210 210
- unallocated —-XDHE 749
959
Other interest income HanF 2 WA
- segment - - 4,918 4,918
- unallocated Aok 1,362
6,280
Impairment of trade debtors, net EKE SRR
HE R 8,982 - 8,982
Recognition of prepaid land BAEN T EE A
lease payments 839 - 839
Depreciation e
- segment - 28,403 8,419 36,822
- unallocated o Ny 2,428
39,250
Interests in associates YNl 172 242,688 242,860
Capital expenditure BARRY
- segment -5 141,363 18,755 160,118
- unallocated o Ny 817
160,935*
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant * BEARL BIERNEME  BE N RENM
and equipment, and prepaid land lease payments. TN LS o
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BE7HER (9
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2014 HE-_Z-—NF=ZA=+—HI&E
Property
Restaurant, investment
food and and
hotel development Total
g MERE
R KB RER B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT TET TET
Segment revenue: AHBBA:
Sales to external customers HETIHIRER 488,344 524,757 1,013,101
Intersegment sales N HE 1,609 6,480 8,089
1,021,190
Reconciliation: A
Elimination of intersegment sales WD E 2 HER (8,089)
Total revenue BA 1,013,101
Segment results FEHEE 70,386 295,511 365,897
Reconciliation: S
Bank interest income RITHEWA 6,140
Unallocated other income and gains, net KA E MR Rz 25 21,206
Corporate and unallocated expenses TERRDES (51,995)
Finance costs B A AR (43,194)
Profit before tax B 750 AT A 298,054
Other segment information: HthpHER !
Changes in fair value of investment REMEZAVER
properties, net ik = 40,466 40,466
Fair value gain on financial assets at BRRTEFIRRRERS
fair value through profit or loss, net REZEBMEEY
AFENE F8
- unallocated R 12,888
Fair value loss on derivative instruments - $14 ZE 7 AFEERE-
transactions not qualifying THEHHER
as hedges, net X5 EHE
- segment —-nH - 37,234 37,234
- unallocated Vol 14,014
51,248
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BETHER (9
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2014 (Continued) BE-_Z-—NF=A=+—HI&FE
(#8)
Property
Restaurant, investment
food and and
hotel development Total
g MERE
RBRBE RERE @at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTET TET
Other segment information: (Continued) H#t 2 &R : (&)
Share of loss of an associate B —RBE R rEE - 13,889 13,889
Equity-settled share option expense NEREE 7 BRERX
- segment -nH - 459 459
- unallocated —RxDHE 4,611
5,070
Other interest income H bl S WA = 2,684 2,684
Impairment of trade debtors EWESERRE 86 = 86
Write-down of inventories to net WREEZENERFE
realisable value - 3,423 3,423
Recognition of prepaid land REMG LA EHE
lease payments 429 - 429
Depreciation ik
- segment -nE 21,844 9,926 31,770
- unallocated —RxHE 2,357
34,127
Interests in associates BENRER 178 347 631 347,809
Capital expenditure BARRX
- segment - 33,021 4,882 37,903
- unallocated vl 1,354
39,257**
**  Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant > BARZBREARBEYE HWEREZME -
and equipment, investment properties and prepaid land HEMEREN LB -

lease payments.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4., BETHER (8

INFORMATION (Continued)

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION H 48 & B

(a) Revenue from external customers (@ kREAFREFZRA
2015 2014
—E-H%F —T-MmF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Hong Kong BB 141,063 45712
Mainland China lEipN 529,229 967,389
670,292 1,013,101

The revenue information above is based on the
locations of the customers.

B AERTIRIRR P AE 2

[ M E e

(b) Non-current assets (b) FEiR & E
2015 2014
—2-HF —FNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Hong Kong B 240,141 186,598
Mainland China B oK BE 3,700,805 3,401,068
3,940,946 3,587,666

The non-current asset information above is based
on the locations of the assets and excludes financial
instruments.

RSB EEDNRIBEEEMEL
Mol mE (/T ARRIN) o

HE-F-ODFR-F-WF=A
St-ALFE PERAREAES
B 2 (B AR BB Z10%3
ko

No revenue from sales to any customer accounted for
10% or more of the Group’s total revenue for the years
ended 31 March 2015 and 2014.
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REVENUE

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents
gross restaurant and food business income and net
invoiced value of goods sold, net of relevant business
tax and allowances for trade discounts; income from
rendering of hotel and other services; proceeds from
sale of properties; and gross rental income received and
receivable during the year.
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5. WA

WATMRAERZ €58 EFRNEEZ
MEREBBABEREE
BEREAEETLE ST BEHE
JE R EMR 2 WA B EWMEMSRK
H: RE WKk ER 2 B WA LRE-

»(bl:l

= uu?‘*z—v?

An analysis of revenue is as follows: WA :
2015 2014
—E—-fF —E—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET

Income from hotel, BE B R R MEBKA
restaurant and food businesses 543,973 488,344
Gross rental income WAL 90,120 81,905
Proceeds from sale of properties HEMEFRT %Ei FKIA 36,199 442 852
670,292 1,013,101
) Y RN
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. Fx B wi i A

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/
(crediting):

AEBMBRBADGE MEHRR (FTA)

2015 2014
—®2-IF —F—NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5 FHET FET
Cost of inventories sold and EEFERERERE
services provided P AR 323,021 560,288
Depreciation e 14 39,250 34,127
Recognition of prepaid land MERIEN L E RE
lease payments 16 839 429
Lease payments under operating A 8 1 b M 18 F 4L &
leases for land and buildings: MO
Minimum lease payments =EHEE 41,685 28,745
Contingent rents HANEE 208 413
41,893 29,158
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6.

126

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued) 6. BB A7 Al a0
2015 2014
—E2-aF —T-mF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHET FHT
Auditors’ remuneration % 5 B % T 3,497 3,121
Employee benefit expense EERNHAX
(excluding directors’ (EE=%E (FIzEs)
remuneration (note 8))*: BRON) *
Wages and salaries ITERY=® 122,739 108,552
Equity-settled share option R EE 2
expense R RER X 210 1,505
Pension scheme contributions R4 5T 2|t 5k
(defined contribution (REHKEED
scheme) 9,239 13,129
132,188 123,186
Foreign exchange differences,  [E X =% F58
net (2,108) 87
Impairment of trade debtors, net EWE SRR ZHE F5E 26 8,982 86
Fair value losses/(gains), net: AEEEE (W) -
FRE
Financial assets at fair value BRFEY R R
through profit or loss REBRPEREZ
— Held for trading —RBEEE (6,062) (13,356)
— Designated as such upon — RN SRR 2
initial recognition B@EE (1,786) 468
Derivative instruments — PTETE-TFE
transactions not qualifying as HHAEEZR S
hedges 624 51,248
Available-for-sale investments AHHERE
(transfer from equity on (R &R
disposal) BiEmER) - (152,315)
Write-down of inventories to net U 17 & & r] & 18 % (E
realisable value - 3,423
Gain on disposal of investment &R E Y 2 Wak
properties (22,514) -
Changes in fair value of KEMELTEES FHE
investment properties, net 15 (63,022) (40,466)
Gross rental income HeWABE (90,120) (81,905)
Direct operating expenses B s REMEESE
(including repairs and ZEEEEYH
maintenance) arising on rental-  (BIE#E RRE)
earning investment properties 1,508 1,367
(88,612) (80,538)
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued) 6. R BL Al Al s
2015 2014
—E-FfF —E—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
MIaE FExT FET
Bank interest income RITH B U A (7,314) (6,140)
Other interest income H A F B A (6,280) (2,684)
Dividend income from available- AIfft & FHRE 2
for-sale listed investments & B U A (19,456) (13,897)
Dividend income from available- AJft H&EFE FHKE 2
for-sale unlisted investments & B U A (1,784) =
Dividend income from financial &2 FE%E KRB H
assets at fair value through BEZEREELZ
profit or loss % 2 A (2,271) (4,757)
Gain on deregistration of M B AR Z W
subsidiaries 39 (871) -
Loss on disposal of items of HEYE - BERE&EIEE
property, plant and equipment,  Z E518 - F 58
net 212 221
& Inclusive of an amount of HK$83,019,000 (2014: & BEMEAEEFEREBRERE Z
HK$76,166,000) classified under cost of inventories sold X 783,019,000/ 7T ( =& — P9 4 :
and services provided. 76,166,000/87C) ©
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MBERA
Group
rEE
2015 2014
—E-aF —T—mF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT TET
Interest in respect of: A
Bank loans, overdrafts and other RITER - EXRER
loans (including convertible notes) RAFABEEEK
wholly repayable within five years REREEZHMER
or on demand (BHEMMBRRER) 43,307 56,553
Bank loans not wholly repayable BEARDFRNEBHERZ
within five years IRITE 1,127 426
Contingent consideration FARME 714 -
Finance leases BEMEA 49 85
Total interest expense on WIER A FEHR KA BT
financial liabilities not at fair REsERBEZTE
value through profit or loss X 48%8 45,197 57,064
Less: Interest capitalised B BEAMEFE (12,516) (13,870)
32,681 43,194
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant
to the Listing Rules and section 161 of the predecessor
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32), is as

=HM e

RiE EMRARFTEE R RHERS (32
B)FRIVGRBEAFEESEME N T

follows:
Group
RE
2015 2014
—E-EF —E—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FTET
Fees e 600 600
Other emoluments: H At
Salaries and allowances Fre KoERL 8,723 9,636
Bonuses paid and payable* B RERTEAT* 3,793 8,409
Equity-settled share option expense  LAKE 5 #5 E v BEARAE B 2 749 3,565
Pension scheme contributions BRIRGTEI R 217 198
13,482 21,808
14,082 22,408

Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to
bonus payments which are approved by the Remuneration
Committee with reference to the Group’s current year
profit and the individual’s performance.

During the prior year, certain directors were granted share
options, in respect of their services to the Group, under
the share option scheme of the Company, further details
of which are set out in note 36 to the financial statements.
The fair value of such options, which has been recognised
in the statement of profit or loss over the vesting period,
was determined as at the date of grant and the amount
included in the financial statements for the current year is
included in the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. ®EHEM 2w
(Continued)
(a) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE (@) WIERITESF
DIRECTORS
The fees paid to independent non-executive REEESNBUIERITESHEES N
directors during the year were as follows: I
2015 —E-AfF
Fees
e
HK$°000
FET
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles LA Sk 200
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam B E 200
Mr. Wong See King HERBEE 200
600
2014 —T-mF
Fees
e
HK$’000
FHT
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BLBR S S 200
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam B HEEE 200
Mr. Wong See King HEEBRLE 200
600
There were no other emoluments payable to the AEEWEENBELIEFNTEESZ
independent non-executive directors during the year HtMle (ZF—mHE &) o
(2014: Nil).
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. ®HEM 2w
(Continued)
(b) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND A b) FATEER —MIFFRITESF
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Salaries Bonuses Equity-settled Pension
and paidand  share option scheme Total
Fees allowances payable expense  contributions  remuneration
e 2 NEREE Bie
& REM ZBRE tE e
we 41 A BX f#t Fok
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FER TER TER TER FER
2015 —Z-1fF
Executive directors: WIES:
Mr. Ma Kai Yum ENSiE - 2,294 1,616 - 70 3,980
Mr. Chan Sheung Lai, Jimmy 41254 - 2,386 1,040 749 18 4,193
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong REXEE - 1,931 921 - 62 2914
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John SR EAE - 668 - - 15 683
- 7,279 3,577 749 165 11,770
Non-executive director: FHiTES:
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung™ ENBEE" - 1,444 216 - 52 1,712
- 8,723 3,793 749 217 13,482
2014 —T-NF
Executive directors: WIES:
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung™ ENBRE" - 1775 2,608 - 39 4,42
Mr. Ma Kai Yum ENREE - 1,980 2,608 - 52 4,640
Mr. Chan Sheung Lai, Jimmy — BRE#ELE - 2,589 1,715 2,437 15 6,756
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong RENEE - 1,932 1,449 971 62 4414
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John SR EAE - 690 29 157 15 891
Mr. Yuen Wai Man* REXGE" - 78 - - 2 80
- 9,044 8,409 3,565 185 21,203
Non-executive director: FaiTESR
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung** SNBELE - 592 - - 13 605
- 9,636 8,409 3,565 198 21,808
* Resigned as executive director on 10 June 2013 * RZZE—=F A+ HEERT
B
**  Redesignated as non-executive director from 1 * RZE—NF—A—BEATAE
January 2014 EWMITES
There was no arrangement under which a director waived RERNEBERNLZHABESRELF
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year. EMEEMEE -
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10.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION

The five highest paid employees during the year included
four (2014: four) directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of
the remaining one (2014: one) non-director and highest
paid employee are as follows:

9.
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hfi# e sz kA

RAZE AEBERBSHIES 0
Mm% (- E—ME: mg) S H
SEHFIN XS BT —& (%
—ME— %) THEERRSHIES Y
BT

Group
rE
2015 2014
—E-EHF —T—mF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Salaries and allowances e KoER 1,058 1,058
Equity-settled share option expense A B {7 45 & BE AL 4 X - 728
1,058 1,786

The remuneration of the non-director highest
paid employee for the year fell within the band of
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 (2014: HK$1,500,001 to
HK$2,000,000).

IEE VB HFEERAEE ZHM
B2 721,000,001 7T 1,500,000/ JT £
BR(=ZZF—M4:1,500,0018LE
2,000,000/ 7T ) ©

INCOME TAX 10. Jif 5 i
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of BEENEBHIBRBFARBEBEE 2
16.5% (2014: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits SHRERBREFIE16.5% (—FE—PUF:
arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits 16.5% ) 2 W X5t E 8 - B RREER
assessable in Mainland China have been calculated at the Wi Al 2 B I8 Th i R B KB 2 BT X
rates of tax prevailing in Mainland China. &
Group
rEE
2015 2014
—E-FF —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Current — Hong Kong BVE— &8
Charge for the year REEXH 628 309
Current — Mainland China BVER — rp B K B
Corporate income tax EFTER 40,244 73,932
Land appreciation tax T IEE R 871 10,091
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBRERE (39,160) (27,278)
Deferred (note 32) ERE (F5E32) 12,549 24,686
Total tax charge for the year AREFHBESL L@ 15,132 81,740
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10. INCOME TAX (Continued) 10. Fi 13 B (2)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit ST N8 AR E AR AR AT A B R IR A
before tax at the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in EMEFE UARBREETENER
which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries is T 7 e M A B s M i 2 BRR B &
domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rate, and STERERY  WAS BB EEER (B2
a reconciliation of the applicable rate (i.e., the statutory tax EEMER)EERME LR AT
rate) to the effective tax rate, are as follows:
Group
bS-3
2015 2014
—E-1F —T-lF
HK$’000 % HK$'000 %
TET THT

Profit before tax R 25 A i A 172,395 298,054
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory BREBEENEFE

tax rate B 28,445 16.5 49,179 16.5
Higher tax rates of specific REAESTEENRR L

provinces in Mainland China &= 15,109 8.8 19,928 6.7
Adjustments in respect of curent  FLBE IR 2

tax of previous periods EHTEAE (39,160) (22.7) (27,278) 9.2)
Loss attributable to an associate  [E{L & A RIEE 1,814 1.0 2,292 0.7
Income not subject to tax BREH WA (19,488) (11.3) (22,445) (7.5)
Expenses not deductible for tax "R AI{ERSIB0R 2 & 17,199 10.0 38,106 128
LAT T EER 755 0.4 11,022 37
Tax losses utilised from EEHRAATHREL

previous periods BEER (701) (0.4) (357) (0.1)
Tax losses not recognised AERZHIEEE 11,159 6.5 11,293 3.8
Tax charge at the Group’s BREEERT X

effective rate ATEZHERX 15,132 8.8 81,740 27.4




11.

12.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS
OF THE PARENT

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the
parent for the year ended 31 March 2015 includes a profit
of HK$752,000 (2014: HK$80,591,000) which has been
dealt with in the financial statements of the Company. In
addition, the Company also recorded dividend income
of HK$60,555,000 (2014: HK$222,220,000) from a
subsidiary attributable to previous years’ profits. In
aggregate, the Company’s profit for the year ended
31 March 2015 amounted to HK$61,307,000 (2014:
HK$302,811,000) (note 37(b)).

TSR WA IR AT | 20155FH

Notes to Financial Statemeqts
W it & M sk

31 March 2015 —F—AF=H=+—H

11. 82 5] 8 A A KA % A

HE_Z—AF=-A=t—HLFE"
HAREE ARGRERFNBIERF
752,000/ 7T ( ==& — M 4 : 80,591,000
BIL) BERARAMBRERARE
o o - ARRA R NERIS B — M B A
AR F R 2 IR E U A 60,555,000
B (ZF—MH4F 222,220,000
L) o BE_ZEZ—RF=ZA=+—81
FE - ARQAE2EFE £ A61,307,000
It (—Z— M4 : 302,811,000/ 7T )
(MI5E37(0)) °

DIVIDENDS 12. K B
2015 2014
—2-IHF —F—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET

Proposed final - HK3 cents (2014: BEARH -SRI @RS

HK5 cents) per ordinary share (ZZ—m4F :5%81(l) 37,617 62,494
Additional final FAINK HA - 4,531
Additional special EE AN R - 27,185
- 31,716

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to
the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

REFZZHBRYREAFARRIIR
REBBRZBERBFRE LHER
JTEEE -
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13.

134

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 1,249,882,057 (2014:
1,217,408,547) in issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent, adjusted to reflect the interest on
the convertible notes and fair value change on derivative
component of the convertible notes, where applicable.
The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in
the calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year, as used in the basic earnings per share
calculation, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration
on the deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share
are based on:

13.

0

B w) 8 M B AN JE A
=

H-];&%

X 1oL

=
—_—

BREARZFTHIRES QR L BRER
EANEBEARFE M RFACEITLER
% 2 hn#E 19 811,249,882,0570% ( ==
— U4 :1,217,403,5470% ) 5T & o

FREERN IR ES QR T BRER
BARIEARFRE G NEE - WA FHE
PR BR AT $2 A SR 48 2 ) B I AT R A R AR
ZOUTET ARG (WER) 2 A FHEE
B A ERARA 2T BBINETH
G ESRERRNARABZFAR
BT EREREE U RRBITEHER
PrEEEER L BRAERRERRERRE
EEZTHEBBRINEFHHK-

)

#

>
i3

PR ERN N EE R TIRE AT SR

b

2015 2014
—E-EHF —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Earnings EH
Profit attributable to ordinary equity R EZIREAREF 2
holders of the parent, used BAREBREREA
in the basic earnings per iyl
share calculation 120,744 195,629
Interest on convertible notes ARERREZFE - 8,148
Less: Fair value loss on the derivative & : Al #AR Z4& 2 $T4E T A
component of Hin 2 AT EEBE
the convertible notes - 14,105
Profit attributable to ordinary equity ~ FOBR AT AR =R E A4 2
holders of the parent before R 32 RSN
financial effect arising from LRRERA A
convertible notes i fapiagal 120,744 217,882*
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13. B 5] 48 IR+ A A\ BEAG
58k 5 A o)

(Continued)
Number of shares
RO EE
2015 2014
—E-IF —T-mF
Shares % 17
Weighted average number of ARETESRERERNZ
ordinary shares in issue during FARAEBITEBR
the year used in the basic earnings ~ H1#E F 19 &x

per share calculation

Effect of dilution — weighted average

BEorE LA

1,249,882,057 | 1,217,403,547

number of ordinary shares: DAEF I &
Share options HE i 1 8,573,413 14,371,903
Convertible notes ElEd - 12,852,890
1,258,455,470 | 1,244,628,340"
* Because the diluted earnings per share amount would be * EAATRBEREEARSTREERF

increased when taking convertible notes into account, the
convertible notes had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic
earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2014
and were ignored in the calculation of diluted earnings per
share. Therefore, the diluted earnings per share amount
was based on the profit for the prior year attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the parent of HK$195,629,000
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
1,231,775,450 in issue, after adjusted for dilution effect of
share options, during that year.

ZHEEN TREREEHEE_T
—MNE=ZA=+—"BIFERZER
EXRBANITEHFTEIRTEETR
BCE AN 2T - Bl BREE
BRNSBEDBESARETRKRERS
A FE1H 38 7 F & 195,629,000/ 7T
MZFRB BT LB Z T E
1,231,775,4500% (4% 0 %08 N 1 2 8
BRER)TE
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

136

—FE—AF=H=+—H

14. ¥ 5%~ W5 &k fle

Group RE
Furniture,
Hotel Landand  Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor Construction
properties buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
HE BER B
EENE THRET NEEE #E RERRE EH EEIR ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET TERT TET TET TET FET TET
31 March 2015 “E-RFE=H=1-R
At 1 April 2014: R-E-MmE
mA—A:
Cost or valuation BB (GE 416,530 116,113 115,183 32,935 82,792 29,256 17,186 809,995
Accumulated depreciation ZEERRE
and impairment (71,502) (38,786)  (101,837) (15,027) (74,494) (19,101) - (320,747)
Net carrying amount EREFE 345,028 77,327 13,346 17,908 8,298 10,155 17,186 489,248
At 1 April 2014, net of accumulated  R=ZF—WFELA—A -
depreciation and impairment BB RHTERAE 345,028 77,327 13,346 17,908 8,298 10,155 17,186 489,248
Additions NE 436 64,578 35,195 4,600 8,095 64 30,526 143,494
Acqisition of subsidiaries (note 38) Yt E i & 22 &) (H5E38) - - 7,817 - 4,118 3 - 11,938
Transfers ot - 6,327 - - - - (6,327) -
Depreciation provided FRMERE (KHo)
during the year (note 6) (11,873) (8,783) (7,890) (2,194) (4,756) (3,754) - (39,250)
Disposals HE - - (929) (152) (465) (556) - (2,102)
Exchange realignment R A 1,626 518 165 48 40 20 181 2,508
At 31 March 2015, net of RZZ-RF
accumulated depreciation =A=t—-A"
and impairment BB R ERAE 335,217 139,967 47,704 20,210 15,330 5,932 41,566 605,926
At 31 March 2015: RZ2-1%
=A=+-R:
Cost or valuation N FE AT 418,987 187,643 145,811 36,178 88,451 26,156 41,566 944,792
Accumulated depreciation ZEERRE
and impairment (83,770) (47,676) (98,107) (15,968) (73,121) (20,224) - (338,866)
Net carrying amount REFE 335,217 139,967 47,704 20,210 15,330 5,932 41,566 605,926
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 14. W%~ B B & & i (e
EQUIPMENT (Continued)
Group rEH
Furniture,
Hotel Land and Leasehold Plantand  fixtures and Motor  Construction
properties buildings - improvements machinery  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
nE Ak
EENE DHRET  VERE BERER EERR R ERIE k]

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiER TER TiER TR TEL TER TET TER

At 31 March 2014 —Z-ME=A=+-A
At 1 April 2013: RZE-=£MmA—-A:
Cost or valuation RRAELEE 408,644 107,099 108,219 29,708 79,756 30,704 1,195 765,325
Accumulated depreciation ZAERAE
and impairment (58,591) (32,764) (96,102) (12,677) (68,946) (16,329) = (285,400)
Net carrying amount REEE 350,053 74,335 12,117 17,031 10,810 14,375 1,195 479916

At 1 April 2013, net of accumulated R=ZF—=FMA—H"

depreciation and impairment BB ETERRE 350,053 74,335 12,117 17,031 10,810 14,375 1,195 479916
Additions NE 447 7,862 5,248 2,864 2,838 1,189 15,988 36,436
Depreciation provided FRTERE (f156)

during the year (note 6) (11,858) (5,949) (4,247) 2,111) (5,501) (4,461) = (34,127)
Disposals HE - - - U] (50) (1,110) = (1,167)
Exchange realignment ERAR 6,386 1,079 228 131 201 162 3 8,190
At 31 March 2014, net of RZZ-MEF

accumulated depreciation =R=+-B ENk

and impairment ZEELAE 345,028 77,327 13,346 17,908 8,298 10,155 17,186 489,248
At 31 March 2014: RZZ—NF

EREr=h
Cost or valuation BRAEXREE 416,530 116,113 115,183 32,935 82,792 29,256 17,186 809,995
Accumulated depreciation ZAELRE
and impairment (71,502) (38,786) (101,837) (15,027) (74,494) (19,101) = (320,747)
Net carrying amount REFE 345,028 77,321 13,346 17,908 8,208 10,155 17,186 489,248
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14.

138

PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The net carrying amount of the Group’s items of property,
plant and equipment held under finance leases included in
the total amount of motor vehicles at 31 March 2015 was
HK$1,246,000 (2014: HK$1,821,000).

Certain of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings were
revalued at 31 March 1995, by independent professionally
qualified valuers at an open market value based on their
existing use. Since 1995, no further valuation of the
Group’s leasehold land and buildings has been carried
out, as the Group has relied upon the exemption, granted
under the transitional provisions in paragraph 80A of
HKAS 16, from the requirement to carry out further
revaluations of its property, plant and equipment which
were stated at valuation at that time.

Had these leasehold land and buildings been carried
at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, their total carrying amounts
would have been approximately HK$1,146,000 (2014:
HK$1,249,000).

At 31 March 2015, certain of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment with a net carrying amount of
approximately HK$92,084,000 (2014: HK$371,106,000)
were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted
to the Group (note 43).

14.

JEDY &3 AC D

R—_ZE—RAF=ZA=+—8 RBREM
EHERABTARERSE I AEE
ME - BEERZRECHEEZEDFER
1,246,000/ 7T ( —ZZ—PO4 : 1,821,000
BIT) o

BYBXAERMAEMESREGAE
ZEERAATER-ANAEF=HA
=t HAYARKEETHELHWRET
ETER - B-NANAFE AEEZHE
ELHMEEFTUEETE-TERL R
ARAEEFEREET B ERIZE16
5 R SR B0AR Z IR IR IR th 2 T e ¥t
ZERERREBIKRZVE BE R
REETE-SERZIAE-

fiws% & Lt RAEF AR 5 5 AR &
A ERERRESBEBAR HAKTE
EFE#) 51,146,000/ 7T (— T — P04 :
1,249,000/ 7 ) ©

R-_ZE—RE=ZA=+—H KA&H
H 5 R FE 492,084,000 T (=&
— P04 :371,106,0008 7T) 2 & T 9
¥ B REREERR  EATEEER
—MRIRITEE 2R (KI5E43) ©



14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Continued)
The analysis of the cost/valuation of the Group’s land and

buildings and hotel properties by geographical location
and lease term is as follows: T
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14. % 5% > BB Roak fig (80

AEE R MNAOFHE D 2 LR
BFMBEEMEZRAE, HES TN

2015 2014
—E2-hF —T—mF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FHET
Medium term leasehold land and REBZFPHEET RIEF
buildings situated in Hong Kong, BE—hNAFHE
at 1995 valuation 23,991 23,991
Medium term leasehold land and KRB KRR FEAAE L &
buildings situated in Mainland China, &5 » &5k A&
at cost 163,652 92,122
Medium term hotel properties situated 7 A Bl A FE > F BB JE 4 5 -
in Mainland China, at cost B AE 418,987 416,530
606,630 532,643

139



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2015

Notes to Financial Statements
Wt i & M sk

31 March 2015 —F—A#F=H=+—H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

140

15. % &Y ¥

Group
xE
2015 2014
—E-AF —T—MEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERT FHET
Carrying amount REL 2 BREE - K& E
at beginning of year,
at valuation 1,547,416 1,501,351
Addition (from acquisition) RE (RBEKE) - 818
Disposal s (8,942) =
Net gain from fair value NP ERBESE 2 FRF
adjustments (note 6) (MI3E6) 63,022 40,466
Exchange realignment BE 5 3 & 1,351 4,781
Carrying amount at 31 March, R=A=T—B2ZKEE &*KE
at valuation 1,602,847 1,547,416
Less: Classified as held for sale* & : DA AFIELE* (47,530) =
1,555,317 1,547,416

*

During the year, the Group entered into certain sale and
purchase agreements with independent third parties
to dispose of certain items of investment properties
located in Shenzhen, the PRC with an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$47,530,000 for a total consideration of
HK$55,000,000.

The above assets, which were expected to be sold within
twelve months from 31 March 2015, have been classified
as non-current assets held for sale and are presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

RER NEBEBIE=F AR
£ 855,000,000/ T tH E AR E(E A
47,530,000/8 T2 & TR i BRI 2
REMERBI VA TESEWH-

FRERR T —RF=A=+—H
Bt _BAALEZEEE D BARF
ERE ZERBEEL RN A M BN
NEANEBET -
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15. L&YW ¥ (@)

Group

rEH
2015 2014
—E-EHF —ET-MF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTET FHT

Analysis by geographical location: R =gl 5

Hong Kong B 140,748 131,552
Mainland China B K B 1,462,099 1,415,864
1,602,847 1,547,416

Group

rEE
2015 2014
—E-FfF —E-MAF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHT

Analysis by lease term: RHEOFHE S -

Long term leases KHEIFE A 198,641 193,907
Medium term leases AR HRFA 49 1,404,206 1,353,509
1,602,847 1,547,416
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15.

142

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The directors of the Company have determined the
Group’s investment properties into different classes of
asset based on the nature, characteristics and risks
of each property. The Group’s investment properties
were revalued on 31 March 2015 based on valuations
performed by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited,
independent professionally qualified valuers, at
HK$1,602,847,000. Each year, the Group’s management
decides to appoint which external valuer to be responsible
for the external valuations of the Group’s properties.
Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards are
maintained. The Group’s management have discussions
with the valuers on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results when the valuation is performed for
annual financial reporting. The investment properties are
leased to third parties under operating leases, further
summary details of which are included in note 41(a) to the
financial statements.

At 31 March 2015, the Group’s investment properties
of HK$1,128,917,000 (2014: HK$1,122,777,000) were
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 43).

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties
are included on pages 222 to 224.

15. &K & W% )

ARREZERBEZMEZME  FiE
EKEBEASEREMEETATRE
Ef-R-_ZT—RE=ZA=1+—8"
REBECREMERBERBLEELE
B ER ST E ETEERE AR AT
#1T 2 EEE A1,602,847,000/8 7T ©
BEE AEBZEEBREZRTING
%@%Ef$%l%¥2%%ﬁﬁiﬂ
BERNDEMSNG B8 B R
CHBEEZRE-AEB EBRERT
JE B 7% BR 3R 1T (A (E S B (AT T w1
ERIRGEEER - REMENREE
HERFTE=F #— im;%%aﬁ
R &M 41 (A

R_TE—RAE=ZA=+—H &x&H
1,128,917,000%8 T (= Z — O F :
1,122,777,000 7T ) < IR E M 2 1EE
A ERASBME—RRITEECE
1R (FI7E43) »

ARBRENDR ZE—FTHBIER
222F 2248 °



15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:
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15. R&EWE 9
AREES:
THRARAEBGANE? AT E 8
5

Fair value measurement
as at 31 March 2015 using
R-E-RF=A=+—H

FAUTEEETZATENE

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
WEEMSE EATEE EATIUEER
ZRE BAE BAE
(5-%) (B=®) (5=H) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET BT TET TET
Hong Kong: B
Commercial properties EEME = = 63,200 63,200
Industrial properties TEM% = = 77,548 77,548
Mainland China: B KB
Commercial properties BENE - - 1,451,730 1,451,730
Industrial properties I¥9% - - 10,369 10,369
- - 1,602,847 1,602,847
Less: Commercial properties B RPEAESEA
located in Mainland China RELEZEENE
classified as held for sale - - (47,530) (47,530)
- - 1,555,317 1,555,317
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15. REYW ¥ (w)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued) AR R )

Fair value measurement
as at 31 March 2014 using
R-E-—NE=A=1+—H
FRNUTREET AT ERNE

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

WNERMS  BATBE EXTAER
BB BAE BAE

(E—#H) (B=8) (B=H) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TET TET
Hong Kong: B
Commercial properties HENE - - 59,900 59,900
Industrial properties I£9% - - 71,652 71,652
Mainland China: F B KB
Commercial properties BEME = = 1,396,611 1,396,611
Industrial properties TIEM% - - 19,253 19,253
- - 1,547,416 1,547,416
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RERN BEEEEPNMEME — R EE —
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no W2 ATFEAERTVERE=FHEA
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2014: Nil). FEH(ZE—HF &) -
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15. L&YW ¥ (@)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued) AR XE P
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised SHERNE=ZRAFEERERN ZAFE
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: =8
Hong Kong Mainland China
S HE KB
Commercial Industrial Commercial Industrial

properties properties properties properties

[EE$VES IRN=E [CES/ES IRNE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT THET THT THT
Carrying amount at 1 April 2018 ~ RZZ—=FMA—HZ
REE 59,500 70,659 1,356,584 14,608
Addition (from acquisition) AE (RBUE) - - 818 -
Net gain from a fair value adjustment NEZ R 2 A FEAE
recognised in profit or loss Wz 38 400 993 34,689 4,384
Exchange realignment ERTIEES - - 4,520 261
Carrying amount at 31 March 2014 R =Z—NF
and 1 April 2014 =A=+—-8k
“T-MEMA-BZ
REE 59,900 71,652 1,396,611 19,253
Gain from a fair value adjustment ~ REEERZ ATEAZK
recognised in profit or loss = 3,300 5,896 53,827 -
Disposal HE - - - (8,942)
Exchange realignment B 5 5 R - - 1,292 58
Carrying amount at 31 March 2015 R=E—RAF=A=+—H
ZEHE 63,200 77,548 1,451,730 10,369
Less: Classified as held for sale B EARELE - - (47,530) -
63,200 77,548 1,404,200 10,369
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and

15. &K & W% )

2AF R s

TERBARE X EEMRBZ A ERM

the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: REBHAE:
Significant
Valuation technique(s) unobservable inputs Range
fHERM EXTABEBAE #E
2015 2014
—E-RE | ZZ—NF
Hong Kong:
BE:
Commercial properties Direct comparison approach  Estimated market price HK$4,320 to | HK$4,090 to
(per square foot) HK$12,000 HK$11,350
[GESUES BELEBE fEsmE (BTHER) 43208 7TE | 4,008 TE
12,000 7T 11,3507 T
Industrial properties Direct comparison approach  Estimated market price HK$1,250 to | HK$1,160 to
(per square foot) HK$2,500 HK$2,300
IEMZE BRI fhEtmE (BT HER) 1,250%8TE | 1,1608LE
2,500/ 7T 2,300 7T
Mainland China:
FR B AR -
Commercial properties Direct comparison approach  Estimated market price HK$17,890 HK$16,990
(per square metre) to to
HK$79,670 HK$77,410
BEME BELEE fEsmE (BEHXK) 17,8900 TZE 16990 L&
79,6707 7T 77,4108 T
Investment approach Estimated rental value (per square HK$69 to HK$66 to
metre per month) HK$313 HK$299
RE% et HE (BT A AEA) 69T E 66182
313E 20978 7T
Discount rate 10.5% 10.5%
FrE=
Industrial properties Investment approach Estimated rental value (per square HK$15 HK$15
metre per month)
I9% RE% st EE (BYHKEA) 158 7T 158 7T
Discount rate 7.5% 7.5%
FrEx

Under the direct comparison approach, fair value is
estimated with reference to the recent transactions for
similar premises in the proximity with adjustments for the

differences in transaction dates, building age, floor area, o

etc.
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16.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continueay 15, % & 1 ¥ (50)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued) AR XE P
Under the investment approach, fair value is estimated BIERE L A FEDEEZFE#ERE
by taking into account the current rent passing of the ZBRMEESKFEFREECERENE
property interests and the reversionary potential of the 7E °
tenancy.
A significant increase/decrease in the estimated rental EEtRERESTE (BFEAFROK)E
value and the estimated market price per square foot/ BRI, WA EREHERTEY
metre in isolation would result in a significant increase/ ENNFERBEN R R EE
decrease in the fair value of commercial and industrial BARIEN, WS ERTEY
properties. A significant increase/decrease in the discount ¥MATFEKEBRLD,HEme
rate in isolation would result in a significant decrease/
increase in the fair value of commercial and industrial
properties.
PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 16. T8 fF 1 #b & 5% 18
Group
rEE
2015 2014
—E-IF —ET-MmF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Carrying amount at beginning of year R &4 2 BRE&E 15,279 13,462
Addition during the year RERRE 17,441 2,003
Recognised during the year (note 6) A& AHER (Fi:E6) (839) (429)
Exchange realignment BEE 5, 53 B 142 243
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—HZEEE 32,023 15,279
Current portion included in debtors, — B1E3E8{D B2 157 FE UK BR 7K -
deposits and prepayments e RBRRIEZA (811) (459)
Non-current portion JEBNHAER 1 31,212 14,820

The leasehold land is situated in Mainland China and is
held under medium term leases.

S 1 3 7 7 Fp B KB IE AP ER AR 40 %5
ﬁo
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17. GOODWILL 17. v &
Group rEE
HK$’000
FHET
At 1 April 2013, 31 March 2014 and R—ZE—=FMYAH—H-
1 April 2014: —T-mE=A=+-AK
—ET-MFEMA—H:
Cost B 45,062
Accumulated release upon sale of developed HECBRREMEZRTELD
properties (1,288)
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE (3,663)
Net carrying amount AREEE 40,111
Cost at 1 April 2014, net of accumulated release W —Z—PUEM A —H Z KA
and impairment R 2t H RRE 40,111
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38) W BEHT B A &) (B 3E38) 32,034
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 March 2015 R=ZZE—RF=A=+—HxZ
PR R BRI HE 72,145
At 31 March 2015: R-_E—HRHF=HA=+—8:
Cost B AR 77,096
Accumulated release upon sale of developed HEBRREMERTED
properties (1,288)
Accumulated impairment Z2FHRE (3,663)
Net carrying amount FREFE 72,145
IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL v A 2z E B
Goodwill acquired through business combinations is BERSHAKE 2 EEEDEENT
allocated to the following cash-generating units for MEEEBEMAERERR:
impairment testing:
e Mainland China restaurant, food and hotel cash- e HFEKERE RRKEEHRSE
generating unit; AR
e Hong Kong restaurant and food cash-generating e AHABRERRMBESELEEMN: K
unit; and
e Property investment and development cash- e YMERERBRREGESAEN-

generating unit.
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17. GOODWILL (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
(Continued)

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each of the
cash-generating units are as follows:
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17. 58 ()

CE AL R ENE D

BEZERAEDEAE EHRSELE
fzgnF

2015 2014
—E-EHF —FE-AF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET

Mainland China restaurant, B KREEE - R MBS
food and hotel 8,721 8,721
Hong Kong restaurant and food EABERREM 32,034 =
Property investment and development %) %% & & 3% & 31,390 31,390
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—HZEBEE 72,145 40,111

The recoverable amounts of the above cash-generating
units have been determined based on a value in
use calculation using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets covering a five-year period/the
expected development project period approved by senior
management. The discount rates applied to the cash flow
projections range from 7% to 17% (2014: 7% to 17%).
The growth rates used to extrapolate the cash flows
of the Mainland China restaurant, food and hotel cash-
generating unit and the Hong Kong restaurant and food
cash-generating unit beyond the five-year period range
from 3% to 5% (2014: 7%). The rates adopted do not
exceed the long term average growth rate of the industry.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation
of the above cash-generating units for 31 March 2015
and 31 March 2014. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash
flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwiill:

PR eEABEM 2 AINEHBEDZIR
EefEBEABHE AFHIETE
B TRAEREEBEEAFEARSREREN
TECZEFREBEE iumi?ﬁﬁ Al 35
BAZIRENT7%E17% (ZF—K©
FT7%E17%)  BBAFHARBEK
EREE RANRBERSELESBEMNUAR
BEEBERRMREELEBMIAERM
ENEERNT3%E% (T —POF
7% )HEITIER  FTERA 2 B RE W EH
BRZITEARBEHERE-

FE_FE-hAF=-A=+—RHEK=F
—UF=A=+—RHAZLlREELSE
Iz EREER BEARR BEER
HIR S RSB ETE 2R E R = prac
Bz&8EFEMREFWOT:
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17.

18.

150

GOODWILL (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
(Continued)

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the
average gross margins achieved in the year immediately
before the budget year, increased for expected efficiency
improvements and expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax

and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

The values assigned to the key assumptions are
consistent with external information sources.

17.

XD
R PR R R D

RERREN -REEEREERERN
PIEEBECEE RERREFER
—EMRZFIBEEN Y EREH
MR LT N TR EA T 5 3 IR W H AR FE 5

=
=] °

PIRER—FE R 2 IR KR BARFT B IAA
MRRERBEVEB T ERRZ L

=y

* ERRISE 2 M E RSB E R SR
# o

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. H i 4 & & &
Group rEE
HK$’000
FET
At 1 April 2013, 31 March 2014 and 1 April 2014: R —Z—=40 3 —H *
—E-MFE=A=1+—"HK
—E-mEmA—A:
Cost PR 533,559
Accumulated amortisation 2 EH (133,827)
Net carrying amount FREFE 399,732
Cost at 1 April 2014, net of accumulated RZZE—NFEA—BZKA
amortisation HRx R 514 i 399,732
Amortisation provided during the year* FNEIHRE (40,338)
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 March 2015 R—Z—RF=A=+—H2
BN N AR T F B 359,394
At 31 March 2015: R_E—RF=A=+—8:
Cost PR 533,559
Accumulated amortisation S ETH (174,165)
Net carrying amount BREVFE 359,394
* As further described in note 2.4 to the financial * AN B 755 R 3R BT A2, 4P HE — 2P E

statements, the amortisation has been included in
properties under development as land cost.

BIECER LKA ABRRPYE -
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19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 19. Ift B 2 5] # &
Company
VNN
2015 2014
—®2-EHF —F—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FETT
Unlisted shares, at cost JE EMRRD - B ANE 61,990 61,990
Due from subsidiaries A EUNGIE S 2,199,979 1,903,895
Due to subsidiaries Xl NGB (431,176) (385,196)
1,830,793 1,580,689
Impairment* BAE? (19,347) (19,347)
1,811,446 1,561,342
# An impairment was recognised for certain amounts HRETHEBRRINBEEH BB

due from subsidiaries with a total carrying amount of
HK$137,428,000 (2014: HK$137,428,000) as such
subsidiaries have suffered losses over the years and the
amounts are considered as not recoverable. There was no
change in the impairment account during the current and
prior years.

REERATITIE - FH it & T EYK
ZEMBARRAZ AREEDER
Z 1B A&137,428,000/8 7T (ZZE—MW
F 1 137,428,000/ 7T ) e RAFE K iB
FEERNRERE T ETMES-
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19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The amounts due from the subsidiaries included in
non-current assets are unsecured, interest-free and
have no fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the
directors, the amounts are considered as parts of the
Company’s investments in its subsidiaries. The amounts
due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and not
repayable within one year.

19.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company
are as follows:

Wt B 2 5] HE 2 (s
FEURF B A F) Y BB AR B A
B ZEZIEARER 28 RERE
am%@‘§$w%*xﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%¢

AFREHEA 7&§Z—%ﬂmﬂﬁ
WBAT Y REAEER ¢ 8 REA
R—FREE-

RRBETEMBAR ZFHBWT:

Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration and Class of equity registered interest attributable
Name business interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
ML, BRITEE/ ANEEGRE
A% AR EE FrisRERS R A BAk FEER
2015 2014
“E-1E ([ ZT-—QNF
Amica Properties Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$10,000 100 100 Property investment
DEMEXFBRAA B LER 10,0007 ¢ MERE
Carrianna (BVI) Ltd.* British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares Us$1 100 100 Investment holding
KBRS EER E REER
Carrianna (Chiu Chow) Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$8,000,000 73 73 Restaurant operations
Restaurant Limited?
EZH AN ERERDA B8 LER 8,000,000/ 7T BEEE
Carrianna Chinese Food Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$900,000 100 89  Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited
EERRAR R (FE) BE EER 900,000 7T REZK
BRAR
Carrianna Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$25,000,000 100 100  Property investment
and development
EEREEERR BE LAk 25,000,000 7 NERERER
Carrianna (Shenzhen) PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital HK$80,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
Investment Co., Ltd.* and property
development
E2H ORI KRE RE/REARE AMER 80,000,000/ 7T REABRRMERRE
BRAR
China East International Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1,000,000 83 83  Investment holding
Materials City Limited
EREARYHAERRE  FA Limk 1,000,000/ 7T REZK
Crown Tech Investments Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited
ERREBRAA B EER 18T BAEER




19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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19. Mt B 2 5] # %5 (#)

Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration and Class of equity registered interest attributable
Name business interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
HmAL, BRTLE/ KPR ELRE
a8 AR E XL FisRERR HERA BAk TEXEK
2015 2014
ZE-IF | Z2-0F
Earn Fame Group Limited British Virgin Islands  Ordinary shares Us$1 100 100 Investment holding
AERBBERAA EREXHES EER E REZR
Elite Brave Development British Virgin Islands  Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited*
BEERBRAA" KBRS LER E REER
Goldfield Properties Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 100 100  Property investment
REEXARLA BE EER 2B MERE
Huge Moral International British Virgin Islands  Ordinary shares USs$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited*
EREARERAR EEELHE LER e REER
RAEZFHNEE PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital HK$12,000,000 60 60  Restaurant operations
BRARR
HE/REAE i E A 12,000,000/ 7T i3
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$200 100 100  Property investment
5 LER 2008 7T MERE
Non-voting HK$1,000,000 - -
deferred
shares
ERRIE 1,000,000 7
R
Tak Sing (Panyu) Fashion PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital HK$51,000,000 100 100  Property investment
Company Limited*
ENTERREERAR O FE/PEAE i E & 51,000,000 7T MERE
EEP (L) FE PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB14,700,000 100 100 Hotel and restaurant
BRARA™0 operations
HE R E AR HHEA AR 14,700,0007 BEEREREY
FIERPERER PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB5,000,000 100 100  Restaurant operations
AR AR
HE/ HREARE AR AR¥5,000,0007 il Hd
BEEZHPRHABMAE*E  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB31,000,000 65 65  Food business
HE/REAKE HHEA AR ¥31,000,0007C RMEE
wHERPEREIEEE PRC/Mainland China ~ Registered capital ~ RMB100,000,000 90 80  Hotel operations
BRRR@
RE L RE AR AMER AR #100,000,0007 BIEEE
Carrianna (Hunan) Enterprise  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital ~ RMB385,000,000 87.5 87.5  Property investment
Co., Ltd. (“Hunan and development
Carrianna”)f®
EE2H (PR EXERAR HE/PEAE AMER AR #385,000,0007 NERBRER
(DHfEER]) e
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19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

19. Mt B 2 5] # %5 (#)

Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration and Class of equity registered interest attributable
Name business interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
HEMRYL/ CRITEE/ QR ML RAE
£ AR s RESR R R AR BAk TBER
2015 2014
ZE-IF | Z2-0F
EREBEERMENFAE  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital US$46,000,000 83 83 Property investment
(EEB)BRAA and development
HE R E AR FEff A AR 46,000,000 7T MEREREE
FIEEZPHRRERAF*®  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB6,000,000 68 68  Restaurant operations
HE/REAKE A A A #6,000,0007T it
BHEEEDERRE PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB50,000,000 65 65  Restaurant operations
BRARF
HE R E AR FEA B A AR H50,000,0007C i3t
EREEHARAERAF  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital US$2,000,000 75 75  Food business
HE/REAKE A A 2,000,000 7T RmEH

Direct subsidiaries of the Company

*k

55% of equity interest is directly attributable to the
Company

i The statutory financial statements of these companies
were not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another
member firm of the Ernst & Young global network

M Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises

@ Sino-foreign joint venture companies

® Domestic enterprises

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.
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19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continuedy ~ 19. [ff J& 2 5 # &5 (@)

Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non- REBBEBEAFERER ZHBAF
controlling interests are set out below: ZEBEINAT
2015 2014
—E—-T1F —E—F
Percentage of equity interest held M EE 2 TR S
by non-controlling interests of FiFEREZ B DL
Hunan Carrianna 12.5% 12.5%

2015 2014
—E-RF —F—NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Profit/(loss) for the year allocated to 7 Bt &= i m = Z 4 &2
non-controlling interests of HIE A A
Hunan Carrianna and (A EEPER]) 2
its subsidiaries FEVER R 2
(the “Hunan Carrianna Group”) AEEmF, (EI8) (283) 11,246
Accumulated balance of REBHR B EEREE
non-controlling interests of IR 2 BET AR
Hunan Carrianna Group at
the reporting date 142,288 142,208
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19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continuedy 19. [ff /B 2 5 HE 35 (&)

The following tables illustrate the summarised TRINTHEEERERZLEUKE
consolidated financial information of Hunan Carrianna BB Z-FiRBEseRAERARRE
Group. The amounts disclosed are before any inter- HAI < £ %8 :

company eliminations:

2015 2014
—E-1F —T-MmF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TAT
Revenue WA 37,728 404,105
Profit/(loss) for the year REERFM (BE) (2,263) 89,970
Total comprehensive income AEEEARKALEE
for the year 643 99,038
Current assets MENE E 750,742 756,221
Non-current assets FERBEE 1,091,362 1,046,041
Current liabilities mENEE (399,661) (305,518)
Non-current liabilities EMBAE (304,136) (359,080)
Net cash flows used in operating KEEBFMARSREFHE
activities (61,113) (118,033)
Net cash flows from/(used in) BEEBE, (FA)
investing activities WEREFTE (1,027) 66,520
Net cash flows from financing activities Bt & /& E T 15 & M2 558 35,263 49,995
Net decrease in cash and RekReEEER
cash equivalents B R (26,877) (1,518)
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. BB A E 2 B
Group Company
rEH VN
2015 2014 2015 2014
“E-HE | Z-NF | ZB-RF | —T—NOF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET FERT FAT
Share of net assets DHEEFE 34,960 52,247 - =
Due from associates AN 160,699 181,174 3,925 3,925
Due to associates JETES & A A - (4,145) - -
Loans to an associate 4B — %
NAIZER 129,161 129,161 - -
324,820 358,437 3,925 3,925
Provision for impairment? & (B 5 & - (10,628) -
324,820 347,809 3,925 3,925
Portion classified as PEAERBEELHD
current assets (81,960) - - -
242,860 347,809 3,925 3,925

The amounts due from associates of HK$160,699,000
(2014: HK$181,174,000) and loans to an associate of
HK$47,201,000 (2014: HK$47,201,000) are unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment. In the
opinion of the directors, these balances are considered
as part of the Group’s investments in the associates. The
amounts due to associates were unsecured, interest-free
and not repayable within one year.

Included in current assets is a loan to an associate of
HK$81,960,000 (2014: HK$81,960,000 under non-
current assets) secured by the pledge of the entire share
capital of South China International Purchasing Exchange
Centre Limited (“SCI”), interest-bearing at 12% per annum
and repayable in December 2015.

i As at 31 March 2014, an impairment was recognised for
certain interests in associates with a total carrying amount
of HK$10,628,000 as such associates had suffered losses
over the years and the amounts were considered as not
recoverable. The total carrying amount was fully written
off during the year as those associates were deregistered/

dissolved.

F Hﬁz %% N Al 2 5 IH160,699,000/8 7T

— P4 : 181,174,000/ 7T ) R 4
%—Fﬁﬂ%ﬁgf@ﬂz% 747,201,000/ 7T
ZZT— U4 : 47,201,000 7t ) 15 &
B TFFERERTERPB-ES
u%%vmi?%ﬁ%%&ﬁ%zl&%lﬁwﬁﬁéﬁ
AIE 2 — 885 o FET B & R R Z 5K
BERR TR B RBAR— $W1ﬁ
5@0

MEBEBIEGS TR E D a K
EZEEBREBIZHFLERAE ([FE
MER])zZE BHMWEW%ZT?X
81,960,000 L (ZE—WF : kR H
BETET 281,960,000/ 7T) * BiRXE
F12%t BN AR -_ZE—RAF+_AE

yam
R ©

' R-ZT—NE=A=+—H ANEH

Hﬁ%fé’&jyiﬁiﬂ@ ERREE QR

i@ 18R TEI{E10,628,000/8 7T 2 & T izt

RRME M % E SRR ST AT E - i

%EZ?H&%%’ATE%‘E%/%E%& " MU RR
HEE R & AT B -
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Particulars of the principal associate are as follows:

20.

RS ATz B e
TEBAATEENT

Percentage of

158

Particulars Place of equity interest
of issued Business incorporation/ attributable
Name shares held structure business to the Group Principal activity
EmA,
A8 RECROTROFE XBES Sk AEERERERSL EEER
2015 2014
“E-IF | Z2-IF
SCIF Ordinary shares (unlisted) Corporate Hong Kong 50 50  Investment holding
EER L@ (kL) NG B RAER
# Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another G EIRBEAR KGR Eﬁ%ﬁ*ﬁﬁ‘kk%
member firm of the Ernst & Young global network 2 n‘l' MEFFEREE s EKES
STRD ST EZ

The above table shows the associate of the Group
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
associates would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length. All associates were
indirectly held by the Company.

SCl is considered as a material associate of the Group
and is accounted for using the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements. SCI and its subsidiary
(collectively the “SCI Group”) are mainly engaged in the
property investment and development.

EEZRR UERRAEKE 2B E QA
REIBHEARGERAFE 2 EE M
RAEBEEEFEIZMH2BER
T I RIS R B R B T H 2 B e
REIZER BgSHENBRIUK -
PRAMEARIHARRIRERER-

ZHERRAAARE—REERED
Bl WRAR B M SRR A A AR

EHEREEMB AR (S [ 3K
SEDIBREVERERBERER -



20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of the SCI Group adjusted for any

differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the R

carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements:
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20. R B A E Z R )
TR REREEEE PEEREE
(BReslEy TAZ2ENERE) T
BN EEEYENT

2015 2014
—E-aF —T—mF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Current assets MENVEE 76,222 203,530
Non-current assets EMBEE 975,777 622,865
Current liabilities mBEE (593,146) (525,443)
Non-current liabilities EREBAERE (379,097) (201,344)
Net assets BEFE 79,756 99,608
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest  E2:t AJERENE = 2 A&
in the associate included in non- REtERR 2 EmEik:
current assets:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership N2 [ BT A #£ 2 £ 1 50% 50%
Group’s share of net assets of REBELBERRZ
the associate EEFE 39,878 49,804
Unrealised interest income eliminated 7k &4 I8 F1 8 g A % 44 (4,918) =
Amount due from the associate JrE L B 2 N B FRIE 160,527 172,816
Loans to the associate BTHERBZER 47,201 129,161
Carrying amount of the investment R & REE 242,688 351,781
Revenue A - -
Loss for the year KFEEEE 21,988 27,778
Other comprehensive income Hi 2wk A 2,136 =
Total comprehensive loss for the year 7K [ %4 [H 5 18 42 %8 19,852 27,778

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial

TRIRAEE @R T EAZEE QA

information of the Group’s associates that are not BB R
individually material:
2015 2014
—2-1f% —FmF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Aggregate carrying amount of the REERBERARZERLZ
Group’s interests in the associates ~ #ABRMEE 172 (3,972)
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21.

160

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE 21. T & & &
INVESTMENTS
Group
KEH
2015 2014
—E—FE —F—mF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Listed equity investments in REBLTRAKRE - ZHE
Hong Kong, at market value 352,975 491,942
Unlisted equity investment, at cost JEETRAIKRE - kA 30,348 30,202
383,323 522,144

The listed equity investments represented the Group’s
entire equity interests in China South City Holdings
Limited which were designated as available-for-sale
financial assets and have no fixed maturity date or coupon
rate.

During the year, the gross loss in respect of the
Group’s available-for-sale listed equity investments
recognised in other comprehensive income amounted to
HK$138,967,000 (2014: gross gain of HK$464,833,000,
out of which HK$152,315,000 was reclassified upon
disposal from other comprehensive income to the
statement of profit or loss).

The fair values of these listed equity investments are
based on the quoted market price.

As at 31 March 2015, the unlisted equity investment
with a carrying amount of HK$30,348,000 (2014:
HK$30,202,000) was stated at cost less impairment
because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so
significant that the directors are of the opinion that its fair
value cannot be measured reliably. The Group does not
intend to dispose of it in the near future.

EMRARE A RER ERRIERA
Ramlezzihig EEERAHLE
CREENEETEINHARREAME-

FR REMZABARERZAEE
ZAMHHE FTRAKRE 2 EIBBER
138,967,000/ 7 ( — T — U4 : k2548
#H464,833,0007% 7T+ & #1152,315,000
BILIREERAEMEEARAEZENS

BEBHER) -

ZELTRARE 2 A TFETIZT ISR
BT E -

-

R-ZE—RF=ZA=1+—H @A
8 530,348,000 7L (=T — M & :
30,202,000/ 7T ) Z I E TR ANEE T5
RRAMBRRES R REREEAT
BEREFTHEERARNECABEERAER
FEEEAETE - NEETHEHNAR
HEREEZIELTIRARE -



22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
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22. % AP fH 5 Bk R N 4 & R

HZzeméEE
Group
EEE
2015 2014
—E—FE —FT—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET

Hong Kong listed equity investments, &6 i REKRE R HE

at market value 26,383 48,350
Hong Kong listed debt investment, ~ &H& LM EBKKE - EHE
at market value 6,102 -
Singapore listed debt investment, I EmERIRE  RhE
at market value 1,260 1,267
Unlisted investments, at fair value FELEMRE AT E 4,679 55,452
38,424 105,069
Less: Current portion B - BNAEREB1D (33,745) (100,415)
Non-current portion JERNEREB 15 4,679 4,654

The listed equity and debt investments at 31 March 2015
and 2014 were classified as held for trading.

The unlisted investments at 31 March 2015 and 2014
were, upon initial recognition, designated by the Group as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as they
are managed and their performance are evaluated on a
fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk
management and investment strategy, and information
about the investments is provided on that basis to the
Group’s key management personnel.

é —HEFER_E-MNF=R=+—
mﬂx$&ﬁ%%&,§’“*ﬁﬁ%f’ﬁﬁ

i 1D

R-E—RAFR-_ZT—NF=ZA=1+—
B #Lm&éﬂﬂm*ﬁu%w$ﬁ
BiEEREATFEYIRERAIBRSTEE
ZeMEE REAAZZIRETIIRIERE
EZRBREERKERE KRATER
EEBRFHERR MEBEZSRE
ZERDRZEENAEEZ T BER
UN=E
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22,

23.

162

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

The fair values of the above investments were based on
the market values provided by financial institutions or
quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period.

At 31 March 2015, the Group’s financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss of HK$4,679,000 (2014:
HK$29,975,000) were pledged to secure banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 43).

STRUCTURED DEPOSITS

Structured deposits were stated at fair value and
represented several deposits placed in banks. The Group
designated the structured deposits as investments at fair
value through profit or loss in accordance with HKAS 39.
As at 31 March 2015, the aggregate fair values of the
structured deposits at approximately HK$74,105,000
(2014: HK$24,993,000) and total realised and unrealised
fair value gains of HK$1,237,000 (2014: HK$2,972,000)
were recognised by the Group during the year.

At 31 March 2015, structured deposits with an aggregate
value of HK$50,150,000 (2014: HK$12,250,000) were
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 43).

The fair value was based on the market value provided by
financial institutions at the end of the reporting period.

22,

23.

%N A5 IR R it 48 45
HzeMERE @

PR E 2 A ETD R BEERM 2
MEIXNFEHRMERE/ELE-

R—_ZTE—RAF=ZA=+—8 &x&H
BB /4,679,000 T (=& — U 4 :
29,975,000/ 7T ) 2 & R FEH R KR
Bt RECeREECD/EERR A
REBME—MRRITEE ER (HE
43) o

R R

HEBUEGER DR AFEEREFER
RITZHEEFR - AEBEERERAS
FTEBIZEICR G A BETFRIEE AR
ATFEIEERNREBEZTREEZRE R
—ET-RF=A=+—H #£BHEEX
ZBNT{EAE#74,105,0008 L (= F
—PO4F : 24,993,000/ 7T ) A K& B 38 &
R IR N F(E W& 2 581,237,000 7T

— T4 : 2,972,000 7T ) ERFA
AAEEER -

R-ZE—RF=ZA=1+—H £@\
& /550,150,000 7L (=& — M4 :
12,250,000/ 7T ) 2 &1 M7 R E AR -
EAREBMER —RBRITEEZER
(MF7E43) °

RNHEDRMBEEERREARERL
m{ER/EE-
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24. PROPERTIES UNDER 24. TR W ¥
DEVELOPMENT
Group
rEE
2015 2014
—E-aF —T—mF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
At beginning of year R A) 1,082,225 1,568,811
Additions NE 174,242 246,564
Transfer to properties held for sale BREEREFEZME - (755,662)
Exchange realignment BE 3 8 2 3,706 22,512
At 31 March WN=A=+—H 1,260,173 1,082,225
Properties under development TEEIR A N HARR IR T 2 B
expected to be completed: ES
Within normal operating cycle @ﬁf@fﬁ@]ﬁfﬁz AR
included under current assets ER 186,081 99,507
Beyond normal operating cycle fi’n’iﬂj ERBEEZATLE
included under non-current assets B 1,074,092 982,718
1,260,173 1,082,225
Properties under development 8 /\Hﬂf% N= R R W‘
expected to be completed within BT RAIKE 2 EREFR
normal operating cycle and
recovered:
Within one year —FR 186,081 99,507

The Group’s properties under development were located
in Mainland China.

Included in the Group’s properties under development as
at 31 March 2015 were land use rights with an aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HK$585,035,000
(2014: HK$538,393,000) held under medium term leases.

AEB 2 BRPYEMRHBIARRE-

AEER-_T—RAF=-A=+—8BERE

)% R ABRREE ) /585,035,000 7T
—Z— U4 : 538,393,000/ 7T ) LA Ef

MaEaz L EmkE-
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24.

2.

26.

164

PROPERTIES UNDER
DEVELOPMENT (Continued)

At 31 March 2015, the Group’s properties under
development with a value of HK$475,981,000 (2014:

HK$411,374,000) were pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 43).

Further particulars of the Group’s major properties under

24.

FRPWE @

R—_ZFE—RAF=ZA=+—8 &x&H
E{E475,981,0008 0 (=& — U & -
411,374,000 7T ) 2 ERHP Y EE/EK
B ERAREBME—RIBITEECE
R (F7E43) »

AEBZIBRRTPYEE—THIF

development are included on pages 229 to 231. BN E220F231H o
INVENTORIES 25. 17 &
Group
rEE
2015 2014
—E-HF —E—PF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Food and beverages B kst 31,041 37,148
DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND 26. EW MRk~ #% & KM HE
PREPAYMENTS

Included in the balance is an amount of HK$88,352,000
(2014: HK$50,446,000) representing the trade debtors of
the Group.

4EERE1$588,352,00008 7T, ( —Z — P04 :
50,446,000/ 7T ) AAEE 2 FEWE 5k

e
A °

2015 2014
—E-Af —ZT—mEF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FH T FHE T

Trade debtors JEUE HER K 117,739 70,891
Impairment BE (29,387) (20,445)
88,352 50,446
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26. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND 26. JEWCHR 2 ~ % & & TA £t 2 &
PREPAYMENTS (Continued) (%)

REFR SRR RREE RS
RIBRE BRI

An aged analysis of such debtors as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of
provision, is as follows:

2015 2014

—2-EHF —FNF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

Current to 30 days BNHEZ=30H 6,731 6,214
31 to 60 days 31E60H 946 5,833
61 to 90 days 61Z90H 3,857 18,323
Over 90 days FB3EI0H 76,818 20,076
88,352 50,446

CREDIT TERMS

For hotel, restaurant and food business, the Group’s
trading terms with its customer are mainly on cash
and credit card settlements. For property sales, credit
terms vary in accordance with the terms of the sale and
purchase agreements. All trade debtors are recognised
and carried at their original invoiced amounts less
impairment of debtors which is recorded when the
collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad
debts are written off as incurred.

In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the
Group’s trade debtors relate to a large number of
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration
of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over these balances. Trade
debtors are non-interest-bearing.

{5 & f& 5%

PBE BERARREBNE AREE
HEPZ RS HER—RUR S RERT
BHRE RMEBEMS - EEGERA
R EEA R G E - A R
BERERNRARRRSBAGRTE
A 8 A B B OB AR 2 FEIE 5 R
HRERBERRAR ERERELRT
DA S o

ZRE b BN R AN B EUE 5 AR
BRAEBRZREWEFZEE RE
BERZEERBRES - NEEIL ERZ
ERSBHAEMERSIEBEERA-
BRI REFH S
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26. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

The movements in the provision for impairment of trade
debtors are as follows:

26. JE WL ik - d @ I TE A K

BIHRYIRR CREREBEZEB T :

Group

rEE
2015 2014
—E-Af —E-mEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHT
At beginning of year REA) 20,445 20,033
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) 2 E &2 (HT:E6) 9,214 86
Amount written off as uncollectible ~ {E& A U] 2 i 4 & 58 (165) =
Impairment losses reversed (note 6) R {E BB &S O (B 5E6) (232) =
Exchange realignment ME H, B 125 326
At 31 March R=A=+—H 29,387 20,445

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
debtors is a provision for individually impaired trade
debtors of HK$29,387,000 (2014: HK$20,445,000) with
a carrying amount before provision of HK$38,386,000
(2014: HK$21,306,000). Such provision was determined
after taking into account the ageing of individual debtors’
balances, the creditworthiness of the debtors, the
repayment history and historical write-off experience.

166

FRBETFRREZIERZRERESD
BEREAERNERERBKEZERERELZ
P {%29,387,0008 7L (Z & — IO & -
20,445,000/ 70 ) * 2 F MR R 2 BB
A1l BR [ {8 538,386,000/ 7T ( — & —
£ :21,306,000/870) - X BB 2 B =
KRZEERERNRFEKEREHRZE
BRI 2 SR - B RB
TMERCR o FE-
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26. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND 26. JE R K 2 K& T A k8
PREPAYMENTS (Continued) (%)
The aged analysis of the trade debtors that are not BAERRE 2 R AR FREREC AT 4T

considered to be impaired is as follows:

Group
rEH
2015 2014
—E-hF —T—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Neither past due nor impaired AR B sk ROBUE 6,738 6,214
Less than 1 month past due mHE DR —1E A 4,482 5,791
1 to 3 months past due BE—Z= =18 A 410 18,364
Over 3 months past due mHIE R = 1E A 67,723 19,216
79,353 49,585
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate R 18 B sl R R (B 2 FE Y BR FO8 Kl BN
to a large number of diversified customers for whom there BRPEE I REDHZIEF -
was no recent history of default.
Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate EaHERRE EKERDBEARZ
to a number of independent customers that have a good FEAEBRFBRTTEALHEIBILE
track record with the Group. Based on past experience, PoRERBERR ARAREERR
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no ZERBRNE BN EEERITREE
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these BEREE BRFAEAKDARERE -
balances as there has not been a significant change in O ZE B VB S AR )R B R 4 o
credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable.
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27. DUE FROM DIRECTORS 27. JEW # F 3 H
Particulars of amounts due from directors, disclosed RIBERTE B R aEH (5325 ) 5E161B
pursuant to section 161B of the predecessor Hong Kong BRECERRESHREZFBROT

Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32), are as follows:

Group xE
Maximum
amount
31 March outstanding 1 April
Name 2015 during the year 2014
“Z-IF FRHKER —T-mE
i ZA=t-8 ZEEEHE mMA—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT TET
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung SNELAE 3,031 3,031 776
Mr. Ma Kai Yum BNREE - 727 727
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John SR 275 275 273
3,306 1,776
The amounts due from directors are unsecured, interest- BWEE 2 RIEBLAEERR 2ENE
free and have no fixed terms of repayment. TEEFHER -
Company AT
Maximum
amount
31 March outstanding 1 April
Name 2015 during the year 2014
“E-1fF FRRKER —T-mE
i =ZA=t-8 XEREERE mA—A
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT TET
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John SBHEE 1,371 1,371 1,371
The amount due from a director is unsecured, interest- RUE—2BERALELAR RERE
free and has no fixed terms of repayment. Bl KA o
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28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS
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28. e kBl FHEH - ZIRH

Bl& kB MK

Group Company
rEE PN
2015 2014 2015 2014
“E-8fF | ZTNF | ZF-1F | ZT-0OF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THER THET THER TET
Cash and bank balances % & MiE1T&EF 213,991 372,569 292 181
Time deposits EHER 144,265 68,589 - =
358,256 441,158 292 181
Less: Pledged time w ARBRTER
deposits for long Rz EBER
term bank loans (88,844) (61,564) - -
Pledged time B—RRITEE
deposits for KB HRTT
general banking BERERZ
facilities and EHFR
short term
bank loans (29,452) (6,477) - -
Restricted cash BRHIRE
(note) (F3E) (10,712) (10,123) - =
Cash and cash RekReEHEER
equivalents 229,248 362,994 292 181
Note: According to relevant contracts, property development Mar: ZRBHBGH A5BERNEEDE

companies of the Group are required to place at
designated bank accounts certain amounts as deposits for
potential default in payment of mortgage loans advanced
to property purchasers. Such guarantee deposits will only
be released either after the property ownership certificate
is submitted to the banks as collateral or when the
property purchasers have repaid the full mortgage loans to
the banks.

BRZDPAFEN—ESERIETE
RITRAREBRIZIBHAZMEER
RIEHER ZBARILESFAE
RITESHEEEERFERAZ
MEBRMARITAE 2 BRIBHK
B 75 T RRRR o
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28.

29.

170

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and
bank balances (including time deposits) of the Group
denominated in Renminbi amounted to HK$102,088,000
(2014: HK$187,277,000). The Renminbi is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange Renminbi for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

TRADE CREDITORS

An aged analysis of trade creditors as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

28.

29.

HekJLEFMHEH - ZRH
e ke &8 F3% @

RBERR AEBBEANAREE
ZEeREBTEF (BEEHER)
/5 #0102,088,0008 7T ( =& — U 4 :
187,277,000 ) - ARBEKRBEB R K
BAEEMEY BIRES R KEZINE
B HIE D] R A5 TE - 5 B R AT BB B 1R 1R f
REN BRI AEE B BIFTEITIMNESE
BZBITHBAREAHMER -

RITREMBMZF BT HRITHER
MR ZFEM R E < FBHERFRLZ
HRA— N F—HE=EATEF X2
BERNEE 2 SRS FR WIZTE
Z R HITE BT SRR B SRITHE 17 ]2
BERERERRNEERFROREE
HIRCER 2 SRTT

ME £ & 5 Bk 3K

RBEHR BNEZRRREZAH
ZRREOMT

2015 2014

—E-FE —=Z—OF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHETT

Current to 30 days BDHERZ=30H 104,045 122,954
31 to 60 days 31260H 6,132 3,272
61 to 90 days 61£90H 2,207 6,350
Over 90 days HBiBI0H 3,959 6,851
116,343 139,427

Trade creditors are non-interest-bearing and repayable
within the normal operating cycle.

ENEZERRTEAMERBERER
BBEHAER-

S
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30. ffEzMfT R E &

OTHER BORROWINGS
Group PG
31 March 2015 31 March 2014
ZE-HEFZA=1+-H “E-WE=A=1+—H
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%)  Maturity HK$'000 rate (%)  Maturity HK$'000
ERAZE  HHA TEx | BERAZE 3HA THT
Current
B
Bank overdraft - secured 45 Ondemand 4,954 48-55  Ondemand 13,107
RITEX-FHER REX REK
Bank overdraft - unsecured 3.2-33 Ondemand 9,508 - - -
RITEX —EEA REX
Bank loans - secured 22-8.0 by March 2016 604,909 2.2-6.9 byMarch 2015 303,318
RITEH-FHERA —E-X%=H —2-1F=H
Current portion of long term 1.2-3.0 by March 2016 110,603 12-7.8 byMarch 2015 190,137
bank loans - secured
ERBRITER—BHA —E-X%=H “E-1F=AH
Long term bank loans repayable 25 Ondemand 18,334 22-32 Ondemand 52,601
on demand - secured (note)
RERRERRBETER REX REK
—HHER (M)
Other loan - unsecured 8.5 by December 25,290 - - -
2015
Hi B 5 - EHER ZB-nftZA
773,598 559,163
Non-current
FENH
Bank loans - secured 1.2-3.0 2016 - 2025 231,820 12-78 2015-2025 315,012
RITER-BEA “E-REFZE Y
“ZEC-HE e e
Other loan - unsecured - - - 8.5 by December 2015 37,752
HiE 57— EER “E-RFTZA
231,820 352,764
1,005,418 911,927
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND 30. Rz REMBER 9

OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Company VNN
31 March 2015 31 March 2014
“E-AF=A=1-A —F-MmF=A=t+-H
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$°000 rate (%)  Maturity HK$'000
ERF=E  2HA TEx | ERFAZX  HHA THT
Current
B HA
Bank overdraft — unsecured 3.2-3.3 Ondemand 9,508 - - -
RITEX — KR REX
Group Company
rE&E NN
2015 2014 2015 2014
“E-FHF | ZE—HF | ZE-HE | ZE—MOF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TERT TET TER FHET
Analysed into: Pk
Bank overdrafts repayable B — & R sk 1% B ki
within one year or on BEZEITEX
demand 14,462 13,107 9,508 -
Bank loans repayable:  RITEZE R
Within one year or on —FANIRE K
demand (note) &2 (FIsE) 733,846 546,056 - _
In the second year F-F 65,649 150,462 - =
In the third to fifth years, SEZ=FZ2HHF
inclusive (BEME
BREEA) 130,802 116,287 - -
Beyond five years RFENUE 35,369 48,263 - =
965,666 861,068 - -
Other borrowings ARATHRERNERZ
repayable: HinfEE :
Within one year —FR 25,290 - - -
In the second year EF - 37,752 - =
25,290 37,752 - -
1,005,418 911,927 9,508 -




30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND
OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Note: The Group’s term loans with an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$45,694,000 (2014: HK$136,476,000)
containing on-demand clauses have been classified in
total as current liabilities. Accordingly, a portion of those
term loans due for repayment after one year with an
aggregate carrying amount of HK$18,334,000 (2014:
HK$52,601,000) has been reclassified as current liabilities.
For the purpose of the above analysis, the loans are
included within current interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and analysed into bank loans repayable within
one year or on demand.

Based on the maturity terms of the loans, the amounts
repayable in respect of these term loans are: within
one year or on demand HK$27,360,000 (2014:
HK$83,875,000); in the second year HK$6,667,000
(2014: HK$16,352,000); in the third to fifth years, inclusive
HK$11,667,000 (2014: HK$12,120,000); and nil balance
for over five years (2014: HK$24,129,000).

Included in the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings as at 31 March 2015 were borrowings with
an aggregate carrying amount of HK$214,284,000 (2014:
HK$322,828,000) which were denominated in Renminbi.
The remaining interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
were denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Certain of the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings were secured by the pledge of certain of
the Group’s assets as further detailed in note 43 to the
financial statements.
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30. B 2 AT R H fh fa & (a0

sk AEESEE —HARNERIERER
*&Wé%ﬁéﬂéﬁumﬁa1f2mﬁﬂ§
4B BR T B A45,694,0005 7T (=
— PO 4F : 136,476,000/ 7T ) ° Jkt c
ZEZ EBHERER —FREER
2 #EARTE{E 418,334,000 T (==
— P04 : 52,601,000/ 7T ) IR 21 &
;Fﬁ iﬁﬁmbébﬁfﬁ"?ﬁiﬂ%tﬁﬁﬁ
T OREENBRE—FAXEEE
tzum%}jlﬁ,ﬁfﬁﬁ&ﬁm%%mo

REEREPHR FEZETH
BERzEEESBESHIA—FR
sk 3% Bk A27,360, OOO/ETE(:ZE
— PY 4F : 83,875,000/ 7T )

£ 56,667,000 7T ( —F — ¢ :
16,352,000 L) : FE=ERF (§
EMFBIEEN) A11,667,0007% 7T
(ZZ—/M4:12,120,0007T) : &
AFUEAEEH#H (T —NF:
24,129,000/ 7T ) °

R-ZZFE—RAF=ZA=+—8 &#4&%
B cRITREMEEFRER
8 5214,284,0008 L (ZZE — Y F:
322,828,000 7T ) 2B E A A R &
B HRWEZRITREMEEANET
HE -

AEBETHWEZRITREMERTIA

ERAKEETEERER E—T+
EESHE R E TR
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31. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES

The Group leases certain of its motor vehicles for its
property investment and development business. These
leases are classified as finance leases and have remaining

lease terms of one year.

31. JE ff wh & H &
AEBEAMERERERESHAE
ETHAE  RSHERAAMAHEE
BTHEEHA—F-

At 31 March 2015, the total future minimum lease
payments under finance leases and their present values

R_E-—RE=A=+—HB ®EHE
BN ZARFERENRARENERE

were as follows: m
Present value | Present value
Minimum Minimum of minimum of minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
2015 2014 2015 2014
BEAEMAN | RERENK
BRAEMN | REHENR ZRE ZHE
“E-IF | ZT-MF| ZB-IF| —T-MOF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Group rEE THER FTAT TERT FAET
Amounts payable: TSR 2 508
Within one year —FR 619 825 607 776
In the second year F-F - 619 - 607
Total minimum finance REREREMNFESR
lease payments 619 1,444 607 1,383
Future finance charges ARBEERA (12) (61)
Total net finance lease payables ERRERERIBEFE 607 1,383
Portion classified as current liabiities 548 B &1 & EZD (607) (776)
Non-current portion FERNER R {7 - 607
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32. DEFERRED TAX 32. i JE i 18
The movements in deferred tax during the year are as RNEZRLERIB 2 ZEHOT
follows:
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES i B IH & fE
Group rE
2015
—E-Rf
Depreciation Fair value
allowance in  adjustments
excess of  arising from Revaluation
related acquisition of of investment
depreciation  subsidiaries properties Total
W Bt
BAEBITE ARE4£Z REME
MITERBE  ATERR Eff st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT TET THET
At 1 April 2014 RZE-—NEMNA—H 24,340 260,353 179,325 464,018
Deferred tax charged/(credited) AEREREKTR
to the statement of profit or loss %/ (GtA)Z
during the year (note 10) ERFIE (F3E10) (13) (781) 13,252 12,458
Exchange realignment i AR - 20 119 139
Gross deferred tax liabilities RZZE-RAF=ZA=1+—H
at 31 March 2015 ZEEHEERLE 24,327 259,592 192,696 476,615
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32. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 32. A BLIE (w0
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS i A B IH & R
Group rEE
2015
—E-EHF
Losses available
for offsetting
against future
taxable profits
A A DUBE R 3R
ERBOER
Kz B8
HK$’000
FERT
At 1 April 2014 R-ZE—NEMA—H 1,735
Deferred tax charged to the statement of REEBEEKRP R ZELER IR
profit or loss during the year (note 10) (Mi3E10) (91)
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 March 2015 RZE—RAF=ZA=+—HZ
BIETHIAE ERE 1,644
Deferred tax assets and liabilities at the end of the RBERR EEHEEERABEE T
reporting period, presented after appropriate offsetting: EEHH:
HK$’000
FExT
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RERE W BRARERZ
consolidated statement of financial position BEBIERE 474,971
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32. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 32. BB (m)
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES % A B A R
Group rEH
2014
—T-mE
Depreciation Fair value
allowance in  adjustments
excess of arising from Revaluation
related  acquisition of  of investment
depreciation subsidiaries properties Total
Sl
BAEHENE LRE4Z REME
MTERTE ATERE Bff @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT FET TR
At 1 April 2013 R-_Z—=FMA—H 2,903 262,737 173,248 438,888
Deferred tax charged/(credited) AEEBRRT
to the statement of profit or loss ~ #1%& / (3t A) 2
during the year (note 10) ERERIE (FEE10) 21,437 (2,375) 5,552 24,614
Exchange realignment ERTIE LS - ©) 525 516
Gross deferred tax liabilities RZZ—NE=A=1+—H
at 31 March 2014 ZRERERBRE 24,340 260,353 179,325 464,018
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32. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Group

32. 3% JE B A (a0

T & E
AEME
2014
—ZE—puF

Losses available
for offsetting
against future
taxable profits

A A DA B SR 3R

JE FR Bt

Kz BE

HK$’000

FAT

At 1 April 2013 R-oB—=&m[—{ 1,807

Deferred tax charged to the statement of REEBmERFPNRKRZ

profit or loss during the year (note 10) EIERIE (FiFE10) (72)
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 March 2014 RZE—NE=A=+—HZ

EETIAE EAAE 1,735

Deferred tax assets and liabilities at the end of the R EHR EEREEERBEE T

reporting period, presented after appropriate offsetting: EEHH:
HK$’000
FHET
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RERE B BRARERZ
consolidated statement of financial position RERIBEE 462,283
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32. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
HK$225,595,000 (2014: HK$211,874,000), subject
to the agreement by the Hong Kong Inland Revenue
Department, that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which
the losses arose. The Group also has estimated tax
losses arising in Mainland China of HK$148,499,000
(2014: HK$126,581,000) that will expire in one to five
years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred
tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as it is not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rates are 5% and 10%. The Group
is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008.

At 31 March 2015, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland
China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled approximately HK$720,804,000 at 31
March 2015 (2014: HK$668,459,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.
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32. % M B IE (@)

AEEEREEAZHEEBSIE
225,595,000 L (ZF — I & :
211,874,000/ 70) - BREBEENBE B
JE ML EE BT &R B A DA B EE A S
B2 AR B2 R E R 5 A K 8 o
AEBETEAEREPREKRE ZEEHIE
fE518148,499,0008 7T ( =& — U 4 -
126,581,000/ 7T ) * i bk F B8 Al R
—FERF AN - 7] B AR ER
MaAEiE AR RATARELEEH
ZERTEMBIEREABA 2 LS
HEE AR EEERRELERIE
BE-

BE (PRLEMSETOR) - NP BEARE
BRI SNERBIMIEET R 2R -
ARBKI0%EHNH - BEAREE -F
ENF-A-—HARBER UEAR-F
TLFET _A=+T—"RBAELEZAR
) o fiaf P B K B BRI SMR B P8 B
R EEARBRG A RREER
TR AT - AR B 2 BA LT R5% K
10% ° Bt - NEE B L% F R R B K
R B AR — ST NF— A —
B EL 2 BFM DK IS MR IEN
o

R-_ZT—RF=ZA=+—8 AEBEIL
R B RERY B ASRBINRZ
B ARz KELRFMEREN 2 TE
MR -FEERE ZEMBRARIRAR
REDEZERINZEE IR -RZF
—AF=ZA=1+—RH HHEFEKEY
MBARZIREREB 2 ERMEEZES
H #9720,804,00078 7T H K TR A& L
FIBEE (—T—H4F : 668,459,000/
JL) °

A7 T 0 EL R BOIR (< R B 3 4 A T 15
Bk R -
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33.

180

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 33. fitemILH
INSTRUMENT
Liability
=

2015 2014
—2-1f —FmF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Group rEE FExT FAT
Interest rate swap F) & 45 Hf 1,517 4,044
Portion classified as non-current D4 A IERNER 2 2B 1D - (1,536)
Current portion BN HR 2R 1 1,517 2,508

The Group uses an interest rate swap to minimise its
exposure to movements in interest rate in relation to one
of its floating rate term loans with a nominal amount of
HK$200,000,000 (2014: HK$200,000,000). Such swap
did not meet the criteria for hedge accounting.

This derivative is not designated for hedge purposes and
is measured at fair value through profit or loss. Fair value
loss of derivative financial instruments of HK$624,000
(2014: HK$37,143,000) was recognised in the statement
of profit or loss during the year.

The above derivative was measured at fair value at the
end of the reporting period and was determined based on
discounted cash flows model.

7N & B A & & & 58200,000,0007% 7T
—Z—PU4F : 200,000,0005 7T ) 2 Fl| =&
HHUREFI R RS E — B REZE
BERZEE - ZBEBUTFEEFER
%

ZOUTETAWEEEEEHRARRIER
FEREETEESRNGFE - ZETE
SR T A2 AT {EEE624,000%8 7T (=
T — 04 : 37,143,000/ 7T ) E R E R
ABEE -

AEPTET EURER R 2 A FENRES
Rz REEAFE-



34. DEFERRED INCOME

The deferred income represents cash subsidies received
from a government authority in respect of a property
development project in Mainland China. Deferred income
of HK$21,183,000 was released to the statement of profit
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34. FEEIWA

B AR R W ERFTFEBPIRE A —E
BAEYEZRAIZRESHEH -BE
—E-RE=-A=+—HILtFE B
RPIEE W A AE21,183,0008 7L (= F

or loss during the year ended 31 March 2015 (2014: Nil). —F ;) o
35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. kA&
Company
VYN
2015 2014
—E—-fHfF —E—mF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FETT
Authorised: JETERRA
2,000,000,000 (2014: SRMEEC.10B T
2,000,000,000) ordinary shares & 38 1% 2,000,000,0004%
of HK$0.10 each (ZE—F:
2,000,000,0000% ) 200,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BT REUERRA
1,249,887,536 (2014: EREECI10E T
1,248,887,536) ordinary shares T EA%1,249,887,5360%
of HK$0.10 each (ZE—EF:
1,248,887,536/% ) 124,989 124,889

During the years ended 31 March 2015 and 2014, the
movements in share capital were as follows:

(@ The subscription rights attaching to 27,900,000
share options were exercised during the prior
year at the weighted average subscription price of
HK$0.61 per share (note 36), resulting in the issue
of 27,900,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each
for a total cash consideration of HK$17,119,000.
An amount of HK$8,606,000 was transferred from
the share option reserve to share premium account
upon the exercise of the share options in the prior
year.

Bz Z—HRFE_ZT—NFE=A
=+ HULEFER BRAZESHMT

(@ FBER27,900,00017 BE RS HE ~ R B8
BEREFERINEFIREBES
AR0.618TT FLATTEE (MI3E36) - &
B %% 1727,900,0000% & A% E {HO. 1
B EER ReRERER
17,119,000/ 7T 17 {3 & IR #E 1%
% %88,606,000/8 TE N EF A B
BERFEERERMDEER-
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35. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

182

(b)

Convertible notes with an aggregate principal
amount of HK$75,000,000 were converted into
65,217,383 new ordinary shares of the Company at
a conversion price of HK$1.15 per share during the
prior year.

The subscription rights attaching to 1,000,000
share options were exercised during the year at the
subscription price of HK$1.03 per share (note 36),
resulting in the issue of 1,000,000 new ordinary
shares of HK$0.1 each in a total cash consideration
of HK$1,030,000. An amount of HK$492,000 was
transferred from the share option reserve to share
capital upon the exercise of the share options.

A summary of the transactions during the year with

reference to the above movements in the Company’s
issued share capital is as follows:

35. kA& (@)

(b)

4

N
X

R4 4858 475,000,000/ T 2 Al #2
REBEREFRER1158TZ
HIR (BB R 565,217,383/ A A A
L BAR o

1,000,00017 & AR & Bt 75 2 SR A #E
ERAFEENERBESTRIO3
7S (I 3E36) 1T F - E B 31T
1,000,0008% F AR E B £0.1E T2
g mA% - 4838 € R (841,030,000
78 JT ° & ¥8492,00078 JT B R 1T
ERESOAEREREERER
Z’So

MR LA ARERTRARD
SHEMT :

Number of Share
shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
BT
ROBE E2BTRE ROEER @t
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
it TET TET THT
At 1 April 2013 RZE—=F
mA—H 1,155,770,153 115,577 1,281,545 1,397,122
Share options exercised BT BkE (a) 27,900,000 2,790 22,935 25,725
Conversion of convertible notes B3 A # i} Z 1% (b) 65,217,383 6,522 83,871 90,393
At 31 March 2014 and NS a3
1 April 2014 ZA=+—-8k
—T-mF
MmA—A 1,248,887,536 124,889 1,388,351 1,513,240
Share options exercised BT BkE (©) 1,000,000 100 1,422 1,522
At 31 March 2015 RN_FE—LF
=h=+—H 1,249,887,536 124,989 1,389,773 1,514,762




36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of
the Scheme include the Company’s directors, including
independent non-executive directors, other employees of
the Group and consultants of any member of the Group.
The Scheme became effective on 10 October 2005 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme is
an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any time. The
maximum number of shares issuable under share options
to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director are subject to
approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors of the Company, and share options to any of
their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value
(based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date
of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month
period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance
in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of offer. The amount payable
on acceptance of an option is HK$1. The exercise period
of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors.
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ARBIRE - HBBRESS ([Z5H
2 REAKEEBIELERZEE
RS EERHEBRER -ZHEZA
BERSEZARARAES BREBY
FATEST AKREEMBETIRAKE
EAKE AR ZEH Zf IR _FF
AFETATHEAR HRIFETHKE
R ZETEISNE BT +EASRA

RiFZETE BRERD 2 HARITRE
BEE LRI SBENEITERARR]
B BTN BB 210% < R Z&T 2
HET2BHaER2EEREBRERY
TITRD LR AEMN21E A RE S
BARBNHEETRMDBEZ1% °1E
s — H R 2 BIRAEE B LR 7R - A
FRBMRAEBRASG LHEHE -

BRTESHERELNFTRALESEARAE
MIEHITESHERR TRE 2 (E M5
BEATZEREASBAARGTRFDE
TR 00.1%3 AR 121E B Bi R - 4218
BE(EETHRHHEEARAZKRE)BR
5,000,000/ 7t - AIl 75 Z 78 £ R R AR
RARE EHbfE-

BRECRLE BR2RAKXRE
BEABRERSNRESBT -KTH
BRENTENHESETE -
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
directors and shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing
price of the shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet
of the Stock Exchange on the offer date, which must be
a business day; (i) the average closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding the offer
date; and (i) the nominal value of a share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meeting.

The following share options were outstanding under the
Scheme during the year:

36.

s M st B a0

BREZTEEIHESEE LAR
UTEEZ&ESE: (RORERBH
(ZAVAREER) NS HRE
TETHIZ W E: ()ROREEZZEH
HATAEE X ARE e A RERMN
52 W E ¢ K (i) B EIME

FEAEND IR T A AR B X
RERARE LR

EARFEAR ZA8 THARITREZER
R

2015 2014
—E-I% —T-mE

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price options price options

mEFY ETH
TEE BREHE TEE BREHE

HK$ HK$

per share per share

Shigx BRBT
At beginning of year REA] 110 31,050,000 0.75 47,100,000
Granted during the year RERE T - - 151 12,000,000
Exercised during the year RERTTE 1.03 (1,000,000) 0.61  (27,900,000)
Forfeited during the year RERRK - - 1.30 (150,000)
Lapsed during the year RERKH 1.51 (5,000,000) = =
At 31 March R=A=+—H 1.10 25,050,000 1.10 31,050,000

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise
for share options exercised during the year was HK$1.10
(2014: HK$1.54) per share and the weighted average
closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before
the exercise date of the share options was HK$1.10
(2014: HK$1.52) per share.

RERITRBRER 2 METHRER
FBRAA0ET (Z T —HF 1,548 L)
REETEBREANARRRN 2
MEFIHETERERIAET (ZF
—PO& :1.52%7T) °
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 36. Bk Bt oa)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share RIERREKRITECBREZITERE
options outstanding as at the end of the reporting period MATEHEARE T
are as follows:
2015 —E-IfF
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREEE THEE TEHE
HKS$ per share
BRET
4,150,000 1.300 18-12-2006 to 17-12-2016
1,000,000 1.080  3-1-2015 to 2-1-2017
1,000,000 1.080  3-1-2016 to 2-1-2018
2,900,000 0.710  31-12-2013 to 11-5-2017
3,000,000 0.824  22-10-2013 to 21-10-2017
3,000,000 0.824  22-10-2014 to 21-10-2017
3,000,000 0.824 22-10-2015 to 21-10-2017
7,000,000 1510  2-7-2013 o 1-7-2016
25,050,000
2014 —T—F
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREHE THEE TEHE
HK$ per share
BRET
4,150,000 1.300 18-12-2006 to 17-12-2016
1,000,000 1.030 3-1-2014 to 2-1-2016
1,000,000 1.080 3-1-2015 to 2-1-2017
1,000,000 1.080 3-1-2016 to 2-1-2018
2,900,000 0.710 31-12-2013 to 11-5-2017
3,000,000 0.824 22-10-2013 to 21-10-2017
3,000,000 0.824 22-10-2014 to 21-10-2017
3,000,000 0.824  22-10-2015 to 21-10-2017
7,000,000 1.510 2-7-2013 to 1-7-2016
5,000,000 1.510  Note izt
31,050,000
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to * BREIT B AR R M AR S AT AR 3L 17
adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other RN B 2 E A FR LB &) 1E I 3
similar changes in the Company’s share capital. o
Note: In the prior year, the Company granted share options to BieE: RBEFE AQRIE TERES—
an external consultant for services to be rendered to the LM AR AR RIS 2 B S BAfE - B
Company. The commencement of the exercise period A 2 17150 A 2 B HA I R B R [l AR 2
of the share options depended on the date of service AR E BRFTE R —NX
rendered. As at 31 March 2014, the consultant had not yet F=ZA=1+—H ZEB R ARMAAE
rendered the service to the Group. These options lapsed BIRERE - ZEERECRERE
on 2 July 2014 according to the agreed terms. EHRRZE—HFLAZHELK-
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36.

186

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The fair value of the share options granted during
the prior year was HK$2,544,000 (HK$0.36 each), of
which the Group recognised a share option expense of
HK$2,544,000 during the year ended 31 March 2014.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted
during the prior year was estimated as at the date of
grant, using a binomial model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model
used:

36. M Mz 7 w8 a0

RBEFEASELBEREZD
2,544,000% 7t (§A80.368 L) * A+
AEERBE-Z—HNF=A=+—H
1F F B B ¥R 5 IR # 7 522,544,000
=

FER

WBEERN BT RREE T B
I RAFEUETE Y —EREREH R
5T B AR 7 (SRR I 4 e - R
RPN FEARER T BAER

2014

—T—-lmF

Dividend yield (%) AR 5.2 (%) 272
Expected volatility (%) i%ﬁ HA R 18 (%) 42
Historical volatility (%) JE 52 0% 18 (%) 42
Risk-free interest rate (%) 42 3 Fx 1) 2R (%) 0.545
Expected life of options (years) B E 2 TBEA A (F) 3
Weighted average share price (HK$ per share) mEFARE (FRBET) 1.51

The expected life of the options is based on the historical
data and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise
patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects
the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative
of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the
actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.

The 1,000,000 (2014: 27,900,000) share options
exercised during the year resulted in the issue of
1,000,000 (2014: 27,900,000) ordinary shares of the
Company and new share capital of HK$100,000 (2014:
HK$2,790,000) and share premium of HK$1,422,000
(2014: HK$22,935,000), as further detailed in note 35 to
the financial statements.

Bt 2 TREA AR AR IBE £ 8RB

PARNAETEENMEAGE - FBHIK

filaa LAFEE?BWEVEE%E%HE%%@E@%@ ’
ERER

I T AR
o

FEAE EMBRUEK

F£RE171# 21,000,000/ (= F—
4 :27,900,00017 ) B A% # B B B 1T
1,000,0000% ( == — Y 4F : 27,900,000
IR ) AR A A 2 i AR K #7 A% 45100,0007%
7T (ZZ — P4 : 2,790,000 7T ) A &
AR 7 % 1B 1,422,000 7T (=T — P 4
22,935,000/8 70) (40 BF 7% 3k & M 5235
P — afat) o



36.

37.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
25,050,000 share options outstanding under the
Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding share
options would, under the present capital structure of the
Company, result in the issue of 25,050,000 additional
ordinary shares of the Company and additional share
capital of HK$2,505,000, and share premium of
HK$24,995,000 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 21,050,000 share options outstanding
under the Scheme, which represented approximately
1.68% of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

RESERVES
(a) GROUP

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years
are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on pages 63 and 64 of the
financial statements.

The reserve funds of the Group represent the non-
distributable statutory reserves of the Group’s
subsidiaries operating in Mainland China. The
transfers to these reserves are determined by the
boards of directors of the subsidiaries in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations of Mainland
China. The reserve funds can be used to offset
against future losses or to increase the capital of the
subsidiaries.

36.

37.
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W M it B a0

REHR BRIEZAE A2a8
25,050,00017 8 % # 181 K 17 5« 1R 1%
RARBITRALE 2EITERRK
TEZEREEBER AR EIINE
1125,050,000/8% & @ % - BN AN B
2,505,000/ 7T * % 17 & (B /24,995,000
BT (FBREEITHRZAT) ©

Rt EHSEMBRERE B BIEZTE
XA T 21,050,00017 B P& #E 1 R 1T
ff (HARARE BEEITIRMNA1.68% °

fif

(a) 7 % [
AEBHZRFENAFEE 2 EE
TR REBESD 25N EHE
FO3NCABE ZIRE B ERK -

REBEZ FHEEA/REERFEA
EEEZMBRRTEED IR ZEE
fEw-MBLRzEZTSKRED
BIAEZ BRERIERBEZS
&6 o L FREE S P R 2 BB
LI AIEEMMB AR 2 R -
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37. RESERVES (Continued) 37. kM )

(b) COMPANY (b) A&7 F
Share Capital Share

premium Contributed redemption option Retained
account surplus reserve reserve profits Total
Rip i ERR Egas BOEE ERERR REEH @it
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(i T FET FEL T FEL FEL
At 1 April 2013 RZZE-=4MmA—AH 1,281,545 59,759 316 12,999 27,855 1,382,474

Profit for the year and total ~ AEFERF| RAEE

comprehensive income for A2 EMWA

the year 11 - = - - 302,811 302,811
Transfer to retained profits ~ BMEE M AEZRE &7

upon expiry of share

options - - - (71) 71 -
Issue of shares upon exercise  [A1T {58 IR 7 f &7 AR 7

of share options 22,935 - - (8,606) - 14,329
Equity-settled share option I8 2 BIRHER 5

arrangements - - - 5,070 - 5,070
Conversion of convertible SRARSE

notes 83,871 - - - - 83,871
Additional final and BB T —=FRBR

special 2013 dividends RIS

declared 12 - - - - (31,716) (31,716)
Proposed final 2014 dividend 323 = Z— & KRS, 12 - - - - (62,494) (62,494)
At 31 March 2014 and RZZ-WE=A=+-HK

1 April 2014 “Z-mFEMA-A 1,388,351 59,759 316 9,392 236,527 1,694,345
Profit for the year and total ~~ AEERF| R RAEE

comprehensive income FEETTON

for the year 11 - - - - 61,307 61,307
Issue of shares upon exercise  [A17 {8 IR 7 f 217 AR 7

of share options 1,422 - - (492) - 930
Equity-settled share option ~ bMEZ 4B 2 BIREL H

arrangements - - - 959 - 959
Proposed final 2015 dividend & =F—HFRHRE 12 - - - - (37,617) (37,617)
At 31 March 2015 R-E-RF=A=1+—H 1,389,773 59,759 316 9,859 260,217 1,719,924
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37. RESERVES (Continued)

(b) COMPANY (Continued)

The contributed surplus of the Company arose as
a result of the Group reorganisation on 12 August
1991 and represented the difference between
the nominal value of the share capital issued by
the Company and the combined net assets of
the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group
reorganisation, less the effects of the bonus issue of
shares in previous years.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), the contributed surplus is distributable to
shareholders under certain specific circumstances.

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised,
as further explained in the accounting policy for
share-based payment transactions in note 2.4 to
the financial statements. The amount will either be
transferred to the share premium account when the
related options are exercised, or be transferred to
retained profits should the related options expire or
be forfeited.

38. BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 1 August 2014 (“Acquisition Date”), the Group
completed the acquisition of 60% equity interests in Sleek
Treasure Ventures Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Sleek Treasure Group”) through a cash consideration
of HK$30,000,000 to Messrs. Cheng Ka Wah and Cheng
Ka Yeung (the “Sellers”) (the “Acquisition”). Sleek Treasure
Group is engaged in the operation of chain restaurants in
Hong Kong. Further details of the acquisition are set out in
the Company’s announcements dated 26 June 2014 and
1 August 2014. As a result of the business combination,
goodwill of HK$32,034,000 was recorded in the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position during the
year.
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(b) A2 E ()
ARRZEHBHBTIE—AA—EF
NA+-—BrE@sEmES B
AR RHITRA 2 EERIREER
BETMURE Z WBARZ AHEE
FEYEZE O REBEFE AR
BT

REARE-NN—FRADE (K
(ER])  BERBRAIIZETREERS
DR T RR ©

BREREBEERRLBRRITREZ
BRELTE FHE— TN
BHRERMF2LANBPD XN H 2
SRR - BA N BB
BT ERERERNEERINE
MEREERR AR ERERE

5o

38. ¥£% & bt

RZZE—mWFENA—AB ([WEEEHH]) -
7N 52 B LA IR € R {830,000,000/% 7T [A] #B
REEERBRERE ([BH]) K
BIEEBAIRERARLEMBAR (5
BIEERIIRER ] )60%H#E ([WES
H])  JEBRIREBNEBLEBHE
E-HAKBEEZE-—DHBIRAK
ARHBAE-ZE—NEAA=-+BK
—T-NENA-—BZRAMH-ARER
A 32,084,000 TZ B EERFR
ATAREBZGREMBARREK-
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38. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued) 38. ¥£% A& b <)

The Group had elected to measure the non-controlling AEEDERRIEEREREGIEEAR
interests in the Sleek Treasure Group at the non- REBERFANEEFEZLAGENIE
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the identifiable BRIREE 2 TR ER -

net assets of the Sleek Treasure Group.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of FriEmIEE At S BN E BB 2 7]
the Sleek Treasure Group acquired at the Acquisition Date HAEERBECAFEHRHINAT

are as follows:

Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
AU R 2
A¥E
HK$'000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment (note 14) M BRE K& (FizE14) 11,938
Inventories FE 655
Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEUER N & RTEFKIB 2,889
Cash and bank balances e RIRITEE R 2,583
Trade creditors FETE S 8RR (436)
Sundry creditors, accruals and deposits HEEMARAR BErERA R
received A& & (7,411)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BEATEFECATHNEE
FEARE 10,218
Non-controlling interests eI R = (4,087)
6,131
Goodwill (note 17) g (MFE17) 32,034
38,165
Satisfied by: THRAR:
Cash Be 30,000
Contingent consideration FARE 8,165

38,165




38. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

The gross contractual amounts and the fair values of the
trade debtors and other debtors as at the Acquisition
Date were HK$3,000 and HK$2,808,000, respectively.

The Group incurred transaction costs of HK$1,276,000
for this acquisition. These transaction costs have been
expensed and are included in administrative expenses in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

As part of the Acquisition, contingent consideration
is payable depending on whether the adjusted profits
(as defined in the announcement dated 26 June 2014)
of the Sleek Treasure Group for the first financial year
commencing from 1 August 2014 (“First Financial Year”)
or the average adjusted profits for the First Financial Year
and second financial year commencing from 1 August
2015 (“Second Financial Year”), whichever is the higher
(the “Calculated Profits”), exceed HK$7,200,000 and
is calculated by taking the excess of the Calculated
Profits over HK$7,200,000 (“Excess”) multiplied by
a price-earnings (“PE”) ratio of 6.35 and 60%. The
contingent consideration is subject to a maximum
amount of HK$24,000,000. The initial amount recognised
was HK$8,165,000 which was determined using the
discounted cash flow model and is under Level 3 fair
value measurement. The contingent consideration is
due for final measurement and payment to the former
shareholders within 20 days upon receipt of the financial
statements for the First Financial Year and Second
Financial Year.
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38. £ A b (m)

ENESERF M EMEMERINUER
HiZ & #4858 K A FEH 5 A3,000/%8 7T
12,808,000/% T, ©

AEERHKRBEREERSER
1,276,000/ T Lk FRX HBERAEIIEX
H WIAZEBRERZITRERT -

ERKREEE, — X5 ARREAE
HEARIBEEEIREBER —S—MF
NA—BRBARZE—BYREE ([F
—EAMBFE]) ML AREINE (EX
RESA-ZT—MWEA-+BZA
HIREE—EAMBRFEFENE=_S—H
FNA—BRERABZE_EAHRFEE
([B-EFBEE]) NFHEHAERET
HERHReE ([FFEMBRE A
7,200,000/ 7T LA £ & Jh 3% BR 51 & F B
R 117,200,000/ ;T 2010 ([HB5B]) ok
LATH 2 %6.35(F &60%:T & - sk AR (B
2 B = & 58 424,000,000/ 7T ° HE R

¥4 % %8 48,165,000/ 7T JH{E A ELIR
BenEilEBErYEALZ =BT E
E-HARERERAKIE —EHBEE
REZ(EMBFE M BHREFE=_1TH
NETRRFTERZ FAIRE
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38.
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BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

The contingent consideration is subsequently remeasured
at its fair value as a result of change in the expected
performance at the end of each reporting period, with
resulting gain or loss recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. As at 31 March 2015,
the contingent consideration was remeasured at
HK$2,564,000 with HK$6,315,000 recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Significant
unobservable valuation inputs for the fair value
measurement of contingent consideration as at 31 March
2015 include the estimated Excess of HK$796,000 and a
discount rate of 13.4%.

A significant increase/decrease in the estimated Excess
would result in a significant increase/decrease in the fair
value of the contingent consideration liability. A significant
increase/decrease in the discount rate would result in
a significant decrease/increase in the fair value of the
contingent consideration liability.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition
of the Sleek Treasure Group is as follows:

38. £ A b (m)

HARERERRZEHRBE LIRS
B AAREBREREQAFEEN
E B REREENGEBERARE
R-R-EBE-—RAF=A=1+—HB KA
REBEH T E 52,564,000 ¢ E [
6,315,000/ TR & 1B m R AR
NR-ZE-—RE=A=+—HHAREZ
AFEFEZERATABRGERAZK
& B 15 b 5T A BE796,00078 7T & Bh IR &=
13.4% ©

fhET AR LH, TREEHEAR
BRENDXTEKRERS, TRE-83R
RRIE LR/ TREERFARELE
B AFEKRE TR RS-

HWBIRERREREHAZHEE ST
T

HK$’000

FHET

Cash consideration ReRE (30,000)

Cash and cash equivalents acquired BAZRERREEEY 2,583
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents PIAREESRERIRER

included in cash flows from investing activites ~ IR&Z B L # 58 (27,417)

Transaction costs of the acquisition included PIAKEFERES R
in cash flows from operating activities W B 32 5 X AR (1,276)
(28,693)




38. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

Since the Acquisition Date, the Sleek Treasure Group
contributed HK$96,167,000 to the Group’s revenue and
HK$5,070,000 to the consolidated profit for the year
ended 31 March 2015.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group and the profit of the Group
would have been HK$671,514,000 and HK$157,856,000,
respectively.

In addition, as part of the Acquisition, the Sellers shall
compensate the Group if the Calculated Profits are
less than HK$6,000,000 and the compensation is
calculated by taking the excess of HK$6,000,000 over the
Calculated Profits multiplied by a PE of 6.5 and 60%.

And if the average profits after tax of the Sleek Treasure
Group of the First Financial Year and the Second Financial
Year exceed HK$10,000,000, (i) the Sellers have a put
option to sell part or all of their shareholdings in the Sleek
Treasure Group to the Group; and (i) the Group has a
call option to require the Sellers to sell to it part or all of
their shareholdings in the Sleek Treasure Group at PE
ratios of 6.5 and 8.5 if the average profits after tax of the
Sleek Treasure Group for the First Financial Year and the
Second Financial Year are on or below HK$12,250,000
and exceed HK$12,250,000, respectively. The financial
liability that may become payable under this arrangement
is initially recognised at the present value of gross
expected realised amount with a corresponding charge
directly to equity. It is subsequently carried at amortised
cost at the end of each reporting period.
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BRERHE BEAREERAEE
BE_ZT-HAF=A=t—HALFEZ
W A B §196,167,00078 7T & A7 6 i F
& 15,070,000 7T ©

e HRFEYHET NER Z WA KK
S B 25D R A671,514,0008 7T &
157,856,000/% 7T

AN ERBBER . — &0 Hat &
A4 1726,000,00078 7T K i E R IRETE
B 26,000,000/ 7T 2 R TR A T &2 =
6.5(5 60%:T & - B K HEREE-

WEERIREBE —FEHBFER
F_EMBEENTEFLHINER
10,000,000 7t A £+ (V& 75 B R4 8
B RASEHERSETIEEAIREE
WE D 2 E AR E : RiVASBEBRE
Hig ZRESFHERSCIEERIERS
Er R 2 HRE FIREERER
F—EAMBRFEERE _EAHREEHT
1% 15 R 8 £12,250,00078 JT 8k LA T &
12,250,000/ 7T JA £ - BlJ 5 Bl LAG.5(F &
8.5 MR EVEME - MUL L HE T AJ gEFERT
NeRBEREREREE RENS
R WHAEEET AR NS RERD
RN HBIREHK AR
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39. DEREGISTRATION OF SUBSIDIARIES  39. & Iff B 2 H

2015
—E—-HF
HK$’000
FHExT
Net assets disposed of: HETIEBEZEEFE:
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables AR FRIB R M H A B R IE 704
Accruals and other payables FEET B R & E b FE T IE (1,368)
Non-controlling interests FEIE R HE A (621)
(1,285)
Exchange equalisation reserve reclassified BRERENIEEERY
from equity to profit or loss PE H 9@ ##E 414
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries EX LI NG & (871)
40. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 40. F A A &
At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not R|EHAR - RINAMBREZHAE
provided for in the financial statements were as follows: fEMT :
Group Company
x&EE b NG|
2015 2014 2015 2014
“E-Rf| Z2mE| ZB-REE| —2—@OmF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
T FHT TEx FHT
Guarantees given for mortgage REABENEERZ
loan facilties granted to RBEERBEMIEL
property purchasers HE R 223,710 206,997 - =
Guarantees given for banking B AR ERIRT
facilties granted to subsidiaries EEMmELMER - = 2,118,276 1,797,287
223,710 206,997 2,118,276 1,797,287
The banking facilities granted to subsidiaries subject AR FIGLH A R IRITIR jﬁi{’E.‘ﬁj
to guarantees given by the Company were utilised to ERE HBELNRS79,1 38:70007%75 (=
the extent of approximately HK$879,138,000 (2014: T — M4 768,865,000/ 7T) °

HK$768,865,000).
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41. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 41. 82 M & % i
(a) AS LESSOR (@ fEBHHEA
The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) AEBERBEEHELTHHE L
under operating lease arrangements, with leases B (H:E15)  KEHELR
negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 10 years. The BEKZHEBEANT—ZE2+F-HE
terms of the leases generally also require the tenants ER—RIAEREERAT T ERE
to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent & & O] E FEE 5 M E B A
adjustments according to the then prevailing market & o
conditions.
At 31 March 2015, the Group had total future RZEBE—RF=A=+—8 &%
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable B AR 1R A = 5T 25 T 51 27 FE 21 B
operating leases with its tenants falling due as Z AR A S E A B 14 T UER
follows: ZHEBESBEELNT
Group
rEE
2015 2014
—E-IF —T—NF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTET FHT
Within one year R—FR 82,326 75,409
In the second to fifth years, REZEFREFE
inclusive (BREEMF) 184,278 152,926
After five years RERFE 70,945 57,117
337,549 285,452
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41. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(Continued)
(b) AS LESSEE

The Group leases certain of its properties under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties
are negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 6 years
and rentals are normally fixed in accordance with the
respective tenancy agreements.

At 31 March 2015, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:

41. BEME L ()

(b) EBAMA

AEBRBEEHELHERET
ME-MEMELEZER 2 HEY
NF—ERF-HE2HBE KRR
BEHIHESWEE-

RZEBE—RAF=A=+—H &%
BRI T 5 53R B 8 2 T a] s
KEMETARES N &ERES
BEEIT

Group

AEE
2015 2014
—EF-HF —E—mEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Within one year R—FR 46,702 44,658

In the second to fifth years, REZEFRE

inclusive (BREEMSF) 59,295 93,085
After five years RERFE 1,080 =
107,077 137,743

The operating leases of certain properties also
called for additional rentals, which would be based
on certain percentage of turnover of the operations
being undertaken therein pursuant to the terms
and conditions as stipulated in the respective
rental agreements. As the future turnover of these
operations could not be accurately determined
as at the end of the reporting period, the relevant
contingent rental has not been included.
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42,

43.

COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed
in note 41(b) above, the Group had the following
commitments at the end of the reporting period:
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42, K I

R EHIR - BR PR £ 41 (o)sF
ZIRETHE AN REEBG AT AL

Group

AEE
2015 2014
—2-HF —FmF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET

Contracted, but not provided for: B AT 49 ME 18 AR FBE 4

Property, plant and equipment Y BB NG 2,693 2,411
Purchases of land use rights B A i A 252,625 278,429
Properties under development BERP Y 4,449 78,223
259,767 359,063

In addition, the Group has rights to purchase pre-
determined lots of land in the PRC pursuant to legal
binding agreements. The commitment under such legal
binding agreements amounted to RMB200 million (2014:
RMB221 million).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company did not
have any significant commitments.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at the end of the reporting period, certain of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment, investment
properties, properties under development, properties held
for sale, time deposits, structured deposits and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss with a total
carrying value of approximately HK$2,443,653,000 (2014:
HK$2,589,636,000) were pledged to secure general
banking, trade finance and other facilities granted to the
Group. In addition, rental income generated in respect of
certain investment properties of the Group was assigned
to bankers to secure loan facilities granted to the Group.

o REBHE L EARR O 20
EREPBRBEEBR LN -
EEZEEZEBR I HBEEEAARE
200,000,000 (= ZE —E : A R
221,000,0007%) °

HREHR ARFALHE E R E KA

o

Tk /t/;1>»

43. & & #

RBERR AEBHXBAERELD
2,448,653,0008 L (=& — g 4 :
2,5689,636,0008 L) 2 & T K E

R REWME BERAYE FEL
EZME FHER HBEMEFRAR
BAFEIEMRESFEEZSHRE
EDEER ERAXEEMER —KRR
T-EImEREMEE ZER I
REETABMIREY 2 B WEE
KR EAAEEMEREREEZE
Re
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere
in these financial statements, the Group had the
following material transactions with related parties
during the year:

4. FREANLERS

(@) FRECENMIHRREAMM TR
RN REBEBRAEALNF
NET FIERR 5

2015 2014
—E-HF —E—MF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FExT TAT
Rental paid to a director NHE&4K—fIEE [0} 165 195
Gross interest income /N SN N L
from an associate (i) 9,836 2,684
()  The rental paid to a director was determined based 0 BEEFASZESLEXMmMNE

on mutually agreed rental rates.

(i) The interest income was charged to an associate in
respect of a loan advanced thereto, details of which
are included in note 20 to the financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors, the above
transactions were entered into by the Group in the
normal course of business.

(b)  Other transaction with related parties:

(i) In the prior years, the Group acquired a
55% equity interest in Hunan Carrianna (the
“Acquisition”) from Messers. Ma Kai Cheung
and Ma Kai Yum, the substantial shareholders
and directors of the Company. In respect of
the Acquisition, Messers. Ma Kai Cheung and
Ma Kai Yum have given an undertaking to
indemnify the Group against monetary losses
up to RMB216 million arising from the failure of
Hunan Carrianna to acquire any portion of the
pre-determined lots of land and the excess of
Hunan Carrianna’s cost of acquisition of any
portion of these pieces of land over the pre-
determined price.
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

(i)

On 19 April 2013, equity transfer agreements
were entered into by the Group and Mr. Yuen
Wai Man (the “Vendor”), a then director of the
Company, pursuant to which the Group had
conditionally agreed to acquire, and the Vendor
had conditionally agreed to sell, the non-
controlling equity interests held by the Vendor
in each of six target subsidiaries of the Group
at a total cash consideration of RMB32 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$40 million).
Further details of this transaction were also set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 19
April 2013.

The above transactions also constitute connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Outstanding balances with related parties:

M

(i)

(i)

The balances of amounts due to directors by
the Group are unsecured, interest-free and
have no fixed terms of repayment.

The balances of amounts due to directors by
the Company are unsecured, interest-free and
have no fixed terms of repayment.

Except for amounts due to non-controlling
shareholders of HK$21,576,000 (2014:
HK$17,441,000) which are not repayable
within one year, the remaining balances with
non-controlling shareholders are unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed terms of
repayment.
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
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(Continued)

(c) (Continued)

©

(%)

(v) P¥RE HRE

4. GHEALER S (3

(iv) Details of the amounts due from/to associates o =
and loans to an associate as at the end of the ANARERG T —HEBERQ
reporting period are included in note 20 to the RlZ BN BEHRIM B EmE
financial statements. FMF7E20 ©

(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the ) AEEFEETEAS ZIRH:

Group:

2015 2014
—2-IHF —FmF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET

Short term employee benefits 55 HA1E E 12 7 12,114 20,680

Post-employment benefits RKAE A 217 196

Equity-settled share option NS E R IERER

expense 210 4,669

Total compensation paid to WEEEE AR Z BT

key management personnel 12,541 25,545
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included EEME 2 E—FHBHN AT

in note 8 to the financial statements.

HFRP S o
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Wt % W E
45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 45. BNz e T R
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of T RE—RENERTARRERR
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period Y BR E 1A
are as follows:
2015 —ZE—HEF
Financial assets SREE
Group b
Financial assets at
fair value through
profit or loss
BATEIRR
RERTEENSRERE
Designated Available-
as such for-sale
upon initial Held for  Loans and financial
recognition trading receivables assets Total
RER
R EXR AHEEZ
BUEE FEEE PR R SRERE At

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TERT TER TER TER TER

Loan to an associate LT -EBERRAZER - - 81,960 - 81,960
Available-for-sale investments AELERE - - - 383,323 383,323
Financial assets at fair value RATEFRRRBET
through profit or loss RENEREE 4,679 33,745 - - 38,424
Financial assets included in debtors, FARKER  Re &k
deposits and prepayments BNRE eREE - - 281,777 - 281,777
Due from directors EhES - - 3,306 - 3,306
Structured deposits HEER 74,105 - - - 74,105
Restricted cash BRHBEE - - 10,712 - 10,712
Pledged time deposits EREHFR - - 118,296 - 118,296
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEBEER - - 229,248 - 229,248
78,784 33,745 725,299 383,323 1,221,151
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period
are as follows: (Continued)

45. w2 & w1 R

M RE-—RENERTARKREHR
MRREE - (4&)

2015 —E-IF
Financial liabilities ctRasE
Group &
Financial
liabilities at
fair value Financial
through profit liabilities at
or loss - held amortised
for trading cost Total
BAREIR
kRB&Ep
BEENER LU 85
BE- BAGHEMN
BIEEE cRaE i
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TER TER
Trade creditors B E SR - 116,343 116,343
Financial liabilities included in AT AE A AT ER R -
sundry creditors, accruals and T ER KRB
deposits received ReZeMaE - 157,553 157,553
Due to directors ENES - 11,960 11,960
Due to non-controlling shareholders  J& - JEH2 AR A% R - 34,532 34,532
Interest-bearing bank and BB Z8R1T R
other borrowings Hintg & - 1,005,418 1,005,418
Finance lease payables ENmMEHRE - 607 607
Derivative financial instrument MTEeRMITE 1,517 - 1,517
Contingent consideration S ARE 2,564 - 2,564
4,081 1,326,413 1,330,494
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period
are as follows: (Continued)

45. Bkl 2 & TR a0

MRE-—RENERTARKREHR
MRRE{E : (&)

2014 —E—F
Financial assets ERMEE
Group PINCS

Financial assets at
fair value through
profit or loss

BATEFIER

BRYRENEREAE
Designated Available-
as such for-sale
upon initial Held for Loans and financial
recognition trading receivables assets Total
RER
TR Bk AEHEZ
RILETE HEEE e ER R PREE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT AT AT AT THT
Loan to an associate (note 20) LT -EBERAZER
(FfE20) - - 81,960 - 81,960
Available-for-sale investments AHHERE - - - 522,144 522,144
Financial assets at fair value through RATEFRERR BT
profit or loss RENSREE 55,452 49,617 = = 105,069
Financial assets included in debtors, FABRKER  Re &k
deposits and prepayments BRRECEREE - = 244,269 = 244,269
Due from directors EKES - 1,776 = 1,776
Structured deposits HEHER 24,993 = = = 24,993
Restricted cash BRHIRE - - 10,123 = 10,123
Pledged time deposits EREBRER - - 68,041 = 68,041
Cash and cash equivalents Re kA EEBEER - - 362,994 = 362,994
80,445 49,617 769,163 522,144 1,421,369
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period
are as follows: (Continued)

45. w2 & m TR

MRE-—BENERTARKREHR
MRRE{E - (&)

2014 —T—MF
Financial liabilities SREE
Group PINCS
Financial
liability
at fair value
through Financial
profit or loss liabilities at
- held for amortised
trading cost Total
BAFEE
K8z
BRIZH A% $8
TREE AT B
—HBEEE ERAE ks
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET FAT
Due to associates JE < B & 1 A = 4,145 4,145
Trade creditors BB RN = 139,427 139,427
Financial liabilities included in At AE AR AR
sundry creditors, accruals and FEFFER KRB
deposits received ReZemAaE = 185,299 185,299
Due to directors ENES - 3,070 3,070
Due to non-controlling shareholders — JE < JE 45 % % 2R - 25,716 25,716
Interest-bearing bank and MR ZRITREMEE
other borrowings - 911,927 911,927
Finance lease payables ERNEMERE - 1,383 1,383
Derivative financial instrument TEemMITE 4,044 = 4,044
4,044 1,270,967 1,275,011
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 45. M E ek 2 28 T H (s
CATEGORY (Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of T RE—RENERTARRERR
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period WEREE: (&)
are as follows: (Continued)
Company VNN
Financial assets SREE
2015 2014
—E-1F —ET-MmF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHETT
Loans and receivables: B EUBREK -
Dividend receivable JE Y i 2 80,000 350,000
Other debtors, deposits and H b R UL BR 3K~
prepayments e MIEM IR 189 99
Due from associates JE Ui B o ) 3,925 3,925
Due from a director Bl —%E=E 1,371 1,371
Cash and cash equivalents HeMREEEIER 292 181
85,777 355,576
Financial liabilities ERAME
2015 2014
—E-RHF —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FHTT
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: A% #55k AR 5HE A9
cal =K
Due to subsidiaries FERTHE A A 431,176 385,196
Sundry creditors and accruals HEEAERKRETER 2,185 2167
Due to directors EES 3,000 33,023
Interest-bearing bank borrowings B ZIRITEE 9,508 =
445,869 420,386
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46.

206

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities
of the Group and the Company which are due to be
received or settled within one year are reasonable
approximation of their respective fair values. As disclosed
in note 21 to the financial statements, other than the
unlisted equity investment of the Group stated at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses because its fair value
of which cannot be reasonably assessed, listed equity
investments of the Group are stated at fair value based
on their quoted market prices. For the remaining non-
current financial assets and liabilities of the Group and the
Company, in the opinion of the directors, their carrying
amounts are not significantly different from their respective
fair values.

The Group’s management is responsible for determining
the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting
date, the management analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major
inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed
and approved by the management. The valuation process
and results are discussed with the audit committee twice
a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

46.

M TARZAFMHERAFH
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AEBRARRZ AR —FRUERSL(E
NeeREERERBE RmEIIE
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EHBEARERE R EEASE G
MR E R Rt RERBIRZ55)
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E=2RR REREEEEZAQTE
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46. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
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46. M TR Z2 A F k2 FE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL W 8)

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 2 F 1R

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TEREPEAEEESRTAZ AFEFE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: g

Assets measured at fair value: EATFHAEZEE:

Group rEE

As at 31 March 2015 R-E-—aF=H=+—H

Fair value measurement using

AT EHRER
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

RERTS ERUEE ERFTEE
ZHfE LIDN ¢ BABE

(5-18) (5=8) (5=8) kel
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FH T TH5
Available-for-sale equity investments At ERERE 352,975 - - 352,975
Structured deposits BERMER - 74,105 - 74,105
Financial assets at fair value through BATFEYRERRERT
profit or loss REZEHEE 33,745 4,679 - 38,424
386,720 78,784 - 465,504
As at 31 March 2014 RZE—MFEF=A=+—H
Fair value measurement using
ATEGERER
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
WGBTS EEAHE EBEFUEHER
ZHE BARE 8RR
(F—E) (F=8) (B=E) bl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT THT AT
Available-for-sale equity investments A ERERE 491,942 = = 491,942
Structured deposits BEEEER - 24,993 = 24,993
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEYRERREZTR
profit or loss BEGHEE 49,617 55,452 = 105,069
541,559 80,445 = 622,004
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46. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 46. 2@t T H 2 APl k2P
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL W8
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued) AR (8
The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 RBEFE FE=EBz A AFEFEE
during the prior year are as follows: N
2015 2014
—E-HF —E—HF
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FET FET
At beginning of year F9 - 69,393
Redeemed BB - (72,707)
Total gains recognised in the RIBERER W BT
statement of profit or loss - 2,178
Exchange realignment B 5, 3 B - 1,136
At 31 March R=A=+—H - -

The Company did not have any financial assets measured
at fair value as at 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2014.

208

—E-HF=A=+-AR=F-M
=A=t+—B ARRWEAE AR
ARVPEFBECEBMEAE-



46. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

Liabilities measured at fair value:

Group
As at 31 March 2015
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46. 2 WM TRZAFMHEEAFHE
W 8)

2 F R ()
AP EZEfE:
FEE

R-E—AF=FA=+—H

Fair value measurement using

AFEHBER
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

REBTS EZTEE EEFUEE
ZHfE BARE BARE

(%5-18) (%5=8) (5=78) aE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET FET
Derivative financial instruments: PTHESRTA:
Interest rate swap S - 1,517 - 1,517
Contingent consideration FARE - - 2,564 2,564
- 1,517 2,564 4,081
As at 31 March 2014 RIE-—WF=H=+—H
Fair value measurement using
ATEFERA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ER TS EZAHE EEFUER
ZHE EUN 3 BABE
(F—E) (F=E) (£=FE) ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT
Derivative financial instruments: PTESRIA:
Interest rate swap Fl&ia 5 - 4,044 - 4,044
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46. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

Liabilities measured at fair value: (Continued)

46.

2MTHZA
W om)

P&~ FfE

2N F R R )
BEAFHdEZEE: (8)

The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 FA BZRBzRVEFEZEBNT:
duirng the year are as follows:
2015 2014
—B-RHF —T—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
At beginning of year F4) - -
Addition NE 8,165 =
Gain recognised in the statement of A IEZRER 2 WS
profit or loss (6,315) -
Interest expense recognised REBEERERFEMAEZ
in the statement of profit or loss 714 =
At 31 March R=A=+—H 2,564 -
The Company did not have any financial liabilities RZE—RAFR-_T—MF=A=+—
measured at fair value as at 31 March 2015 and 2014. B ARANREEMIRAFEFE
TRBaE-

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets
and financial liabilities.

47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, and cash and bank balances. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance
for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as trade debtors and
trade creditors, which arise directly from its operations.
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk, liquidity risk and equity price risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised below.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risks relates
primarily to the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings
with floating interest rates. The effective interest rates
and terms of repayment of the interest-bearing bank
borrowings of the Group are disclosed in note 30. Interest
rate risk is managed on an ongoing basis with the primary
objective of limiting the extent to which net interest
expense could be affected by adverse movements in
interest rate.

The Group has put in place an interest rate swap
arrangement for one of its floating rate term loans to
limit the variability in cash flows attributable to changes
in interest rates. This involves fixing portions of interest
payable on its underlying borrowings through derivative
instruments. Details of the interest rate swap are
disclosed in note 33 to the financial statements.

Assuming the amount of bank borrowings outstanding
at the end of the reporting period was outstanding for
the whole year, a 100 basis point increase/decrease
in interest rates would decrease/increase the Group’s
profit before tax for the current year by HK$8,835,000
(2014: HK$7,264,000) and finance costs capitalised by
HK$1,226,000 (2014: HK$1,869,000).

For the interest rate swap contract, a 10 basis point
increase/decrease in interest rates would increase/
decrease the Group’s equity as at 31 March 2015 by
HK$99,100 (2014: HK$333,000) as a result of fair value
changes on derivative financial instruments.
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A7. BB B P E AR R BOK

(&)

AEESRITEY Mz 2R R AN K
RBe - NERMR - EERR - REBE SR
pRBRERR EFSEHNLAEER
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E

AEEEH  NEXEREIZ S RAEE
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BB IRTTHE S 2 BRI R K5 & 5K
NI FES0 » MR AR IRFTBEEEE
0 Ex@ﬂ%ﬁﬂﬂgﬁiﬁﬂ gl
R MNEHTEZRE-

AEECEF —HEBH N REHER
EEM =R URGIRSRER
MERESHMME - BBEBBITETES R
HiAREE 2 BN H B Z B E & D » 7
R MFH BRI HRARM FEI3RBE -

BENRERRIREEZRITEES
HERBEFE W AEE BFI=EMN
BWMAOI00EESHSAEERAFEE 2
BR % A1 4% F1 R 4> 3% hn8,835,000/% 7T
(—ZT—PO4 : 7,264,000/ 7T ) R E KL
B TS AR AR A,/ H01,226,0007 7T (=
T —PU4 : 1,869,000/ 7T ) °

RARBEHEOME  ARTESRT

B2 RAFEZS) FEEN, 8 10E

HEBERAEBN _T—HAF=A

=+ —RAZERSHEM, /99,1008 T
T — P04 : 333,000/ 7T ) °
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

INTEREST RATE RISK (Continued)

The sensitivity to the interest rate used above is
considered reasonable with the other variables held
constant. The sensitivity for interest rate swap contract is
based on the assumption that there are parallel shifts in
the yield curve.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and Mainland
China with most of the Group’s monetary assets, liabilities
and transactions principally denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and Renminbi, respectively. Majority of the sales,
purchases and expenditure incurred by the operating
units of the Group were denominated in the units’
functional currencies and as a result, the Group does not
anticipate significant transactional currency exposures.
The Group has not used any derivative to hedge its
exposure to foreign currency risk.

CREDIT RISK

The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk. The credit risk of the Group’s financial assets,
which comprise cash and bank balances, time deposits,
debtors and deposits, loan to an associate and quoted
and unquoted financial instruments, arises from default of
the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amounts of these instruments.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade debtors are
disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements.

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and
cash equivalents and have available funding through
bank and other borrowings to meet its working capital
requirements.
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
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A7, BB B B E AR R BOK
)

LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at

W& L AR @)

the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual REHRITBRNREGTER
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

TRAAEERHREMRNEHEGE
BIEBR

Group KE
2015
—Z-31F
Within 1 year
or on demand 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total
—E40TF —FHE
HRERE ZRENUT BENLE @it
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TiER TET TET TET
Trade creditors ERE SRR 116,343 - - 116,343
Financial liabilities included in sundry creditors, 5t A E AR 3R 7% FEsH &
accruals and deposits received kENZE e BAE 146,276 8,821 2,456 157,553
Due to directors RREZ 11,960 - - 11,960
Due to non-controling shareholders ANERE & 12,956 21,576 - 34,532
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings MEZBTREMEE
(note) (Bi3E) 773,508 196,451 35,369 1,005,418
Interest payments on interest-bearing ez RITREMEEZ
bank and other borrowings FlEX 17,582 18,621 2,210 38,413
Finance lease payables ERRERS 619 - - 619
Derivative financial instrument TESBTA 1,517 - - 1,517
Contingent consideration HANRE - 3,032 - 3,032
Guarantees given to banks in connection with ~ SiIEEREREEM
facilities granted to property purchasers RITEH AR 223,710 - - 223,710
1,304,561 248,501 40,035 1,593,097
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued)

214

A7, BB B B E AR R BOR

(&)

HE &L AR @)

Group (Continued) AEE(E)
2014
—T-mE
Within 1 year
or on demand 11to 5 years Qver 5 years Total
—ENUT —FNE
FRE KR ZRENT AEMNE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL THx FHL TEx
Due to associates FEfTH 2 A - 4,145 - 4,145
Trade creditors FERE BN 139,427 - - 139,427
Financial liabilities included in sundry creditors, 5t A E- T 8R 7R fE5H &
accruals and deposits received REWEReZeBER 178,099 5,614 1,586 185,299
Due to directors EHES 3,070 - - 3,070
Due to non-controling shareholders e IR AR R 8,275 17,441 - 25,716
Interest-bearing bank and fEzBITREMEE
other borrowings (note) (Hi3E) 559,163 304,501 48,263 911,927
Interest payments on interest-bearing Mt 2z RITREMBEEZ
bank and other borrowings ST 19,071 31,309 5,410 56,780
Finance lease payables ERRERE 825 619 = 1,444
Derivative financial instrument PTESRIA 2,508 1,536 - 4,044
Guarantees given to banks in connection with ~ FLYIEEREREEM
facilities granted to property purchasers RRITIEL ER 206,997 - - 206,997
1,118,335 365,255 55,259 1,538,849
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W R 7 W
47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT A7. W F R By g B H E K& BOR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (%)
LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued) REE2ERE &
Note: Included in interest-bearing bank and other borrowings MeE: MEZIRITREMEERFEBERR

are term loans with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$45,694,000 (2014: HK$136,476,000). The loan
agreements contain repayment on-demand clauses giving
the banks the unconditional right to call in the loans at any
time and therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity
profile, the total amount is classified as “on demand”.

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not
believe that the loans will be called in entirety within 12
months, and they consider that the loans will be repaid
in accordance with the maturity dates as set out in the
loan agreements. This evaluation was made considering
the financial position of the Group at the date of approval
of the financial statements; the Group’s compliance with
the loan covenants; the lack of events of default, and the
fact that the Group has made all previously scheduled
repayments on time.

In accordance with the terms of the loans which contain
repayment on-demand clauses, the maturity profile of
those loans as at the end of the reporting period, based on
the contractual undiscounted payments and ignoring the
effect of any repayment on-demand clauses, is as follows:

845,694,000 T2 EHER (==
— P04 : 136,476,0007% 7T) - & &K 1%
EEE A BRI E ISR
4T ERTT AR BER BB FRER -
Eithpt i BIEE RS - 2 EFA
Ti5 A R ENK] -

BEBALGER EFLTRRZE
ERBEN12E A NRERE2HERE -
EEZRA/REERRBERBH
PrEl 2180 B 558 - R AT IR E B A
SEEMREMHHRRE B ZHHNK
M AREEETERRL WEED
IR REEL AEE-BERER
TR E R ER T M ES -

REBEEE — A K ERANEERIER
WERGR RBREHR ZEEHK
AR BRI IR TRET B K 2 RS 2K
BB R AR Z BRI HER
m

Within 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total
—FHE
—FUT ZHEYPT BENE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THER TER TET
As at 31 March 2015 RZE-RE=A=+—H 27,564 18,373 - 45,937
As at 31 March 2014 RZE-—mE=A=+—H 87,003 31,441 25,417 143,861

215



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2015

Notes to Finapcial Statements
Wt i & M sk

47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 47. BB g e B H R R WK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) ()

LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued) HEE 2 H R )
The maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities TRAEARALRTNRFEHRNEHEE

as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

B HARFTRA R BB BTN :

Company b NN
2015
“E-1F
Within 1 year
or on demand 1 to 5 years Total
—EHT —FH0E
HRAERE ZEEHUTF @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER
Due to subsidiaries FERH B AR 431,176 - 431,176
Sundry creditors and accruals Hi R ETER 2,185 - 2,185
Due to directors ERES 3,000 - 3,000
Interest-bearing bank borrowings fit 82 RITEE 9,508 - 9,508
Guarantees given to banks in connection ~ FLIIB LA BEREEM
with facilities granted to subsidiaries MRTIEL ER 879,138 - 879,138
1,325,007 - 1,325,007
2014
—T-mE
Within 1 year
or on demand 110 5 years Total
—FLT —FE
FRERE ZRAFEUT @Er
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET THT
Due to subsidiaries FERHB AR 385,196 - 385,196
Sundry creditors and accruals HthENRT R ETER 2,167 = 2,167
Due to directors ERNES 33,023 - 33,023
Guarantees given to banks in connection  FLIB A FIEREEM
with facilities granted to subsidiaries MITIE L ER 768,865 - 768,865
1,189,251 - 1,189,251




47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
EQUITY PRICE RISK

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of
equity indices and the values of individual securities. The
Group was exposed to equity price risk arising from equity
investments classified as available-for-sale investments
(note 21) and listed equity investments classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 22)
as at 31 March 2015.

The market equity index for the Stock Exchange, at the
close of business of the nearest trading day in the year to
the end of the reporting period, and the respective highest
and lowest points during the year were as follows:

FESEIRAE M FRA ] | 201544

Notes to Financial Statements

W o 7% M 5

47. W A By i B E R R UK

(#)

H 18 8 P

& AN B 4% B B+ A B 22 45 BUK I K (@&
FIELFEEZEMERBR AT A
AFETURZEBR - R-_ZT—HF=A

—t+—HB - AEEFfEmY ZRAELR
BXE“ﬁ%Tfﬁ%&ﬁ2%$&
& (M3E21) RO BRRAFEIIRER

E SRR 2 EFRAKRE (HiiE22) »

ﬁx%Zm%ﬁ%h%(FﬁW HE
IR RO 5 B2 R BRAERRE) -
&iWZ%%&%ﬁ%@mTi

31 March

—E-1F
=ZA=+-8

High/low High/low
during the during the
year ended year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March
2015 2014 2014

REBZE REZE
—2-I% It Sl
=ZA=t-H =A=+-H

LEER | —T-MmE IFEER
28/ |=R=+-H 2@/ &

Hong Kong - Hang Seng Index BB BERH

24,901 25,318/21,746

22,161 24,112/19,426
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

EQUITY PRICE RISK (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
5% change in the fair values of the equity investments,
with all other variables held constant and before any
impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at the
end of the reporting period. For the purpose of this
analysis, for the listed available-for-sale equity investment,
the impact is deemed to be on the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve and no account is given
for factors such as impairment which might impact on the
statement of profit or loss.

47.

Bt 5 B i B BR R BOK
(8)

ik 18 ) B (50
TREURFTA E 08 8RR A8 KRG
BEARBZEZED REBRARER
SHRZREE BRARE 2 AF
BT HES%E ) 2 BRRE - LA DTN
5 AL E EMRARE  BRZEEHK
BREHATHEEREEHREBBRF
B MmMITEEZEEMIRESAELE
BERZEZE-

Carrying Changes Increase/
amount of equity in profit decrease
investments before tax in equity*
RAERE
REE BRENRNED BAR /A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAT TET
2015 —E-If
Investments listed in Hong Kong ERLMRE-THEE
- available-for-sale (note 21) (BzEe1) 352,975 - 17,649
Investments listed in Hong Kong BB LM RE
— financial assets at fair value through ~BLTBEIRERAEET
profit or loss (note 22) EEeREAE (M) 26,383 1,319 -
2014 —TmE
Investments listed in Hong Kong BELMRE
- available-for-sale (note 21) — A E (ME21) 491,942 = 24,597
Investments listed in Hong Kong BB LM RE
— financial assets at fair value through ~BATBEFIERREZTEREL
profit or loss (note 22) SREE (M22) 48,350 2418 -
- Excluding retained profits * TEIEREFE
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements except for the undertaking by the Company
under a banking facilities letter granted to a subsidiary
of the Group to maintain a minimum consolidated
tangible net worth of HK$2,500,000,000, which has been
complied with during the year. No changes were made in
the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 March 2015 and 31 March
2014.

TSR WA IR AT | 20155FH
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W o 7% M 5

A7, BB B B E AR R BOK

(&)

- L
AEEEAREENERE R REFRA
SEAGREZRNEN BEFRRE
BN R U FEEFERE  FER
RV R(EE

AEERBEBEBELINEE BEHEE
REBIELFARE - BHEIFHARER
HERE AKERAERARRIRERS [
MEERIRE B AN I THAR o BR AN A R 5t
AEBZ —MBRRERZIRITERE
REMRBRHZAF BB REGEER
& % {E2,500,000,000/8 7T (RERT
BSF) N AEE W ETMIMEFEMNZ B
RER-BE-_E—RAE=A=+—8H
N_E—NME=A=+—BItFER"
WEAEAEEFRHEBZE BERKR
f%o
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220

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is defined as the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, net of cash and cash equivalents, structured
deposits and pledged time deposits as a percentage of
the Group’s total equity. The gearing ratios as at the end
of the reporting periods were as follows:

47.

Bt B B PR H RE R BK

(%)

& A EH (m)
REENERGEL X (AKEKNE
ZRIOTREMERERAESMRCEEE
B #EMER ke BT HTEER
BhAEEERBEC A L) BEEE
KEBR - RBEHRERNBGEL RN
T

Group E
2015 2014
= —F—N%
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B & FHExT FHT

Interest-bearing bank and e ziRITREMEER

other borrowings 30 1,005,418 911,927
Less: Cash and cash equivalents J& : 38 & M IR & £ EE H 28 (229,248) (362,994)
Structured deposits EBETR 23 (74,105) (24,993)
Pledged time deposits EHEFEHTFR 28 (118,296) (68,041)
Net debt FEE 583,769 455,899
Total equity EmRE 3,817,578 3,852,354
Gearing ratio BEARBEEE 15% 12%




48.

49.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 28 May 2015, the Group entered into a share transfer
agreement with New Sheen Holdings Limited (the “Target
Company”) and Chu Chun Fung (“Mr. Chu”) to acquire
a 60% equity interest in the Target Company from Mr.
Chu at a cash consideration of HK$20,400,000. The
Target Company and its subsidiaries are engaged in
the production, wholesale and/or retail of bread, cakes,
pastries, Chinese pastries and pies. The transaction
is expected to be completed on 1 July 2015. Further
details of the acquisition are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 28 May 2015.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 26 June 2015.

48.

49.
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i & 1% 3

RZE—RERA-F+ /B KAERHR
FRIERAERAR ([BERAAF]) REE
g (THREE] T RHDEE R AR
% 1B 520,400,000 7T A 28 70 4 Y BE
BIZ QA 260%HE - B 1%~ a) R E M
BARNSEEE HBE HTEME -
ERLFHE AR RS - X ZTEH
BER—_E—AFtA—BEK-BRAK
BEEE—SHBEARARGTASEA
—E—RFREAZFTNBZAER-

Bt B ok 2 it

B RAREN —_E—RHF /A -+ H
KEEDH EWIRERE M-

2|



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2015

Schedule of Principal Properties
FEREME

31 March 2015 —F—A#F=H=+—H

Particulars of the investment properties held by the Groupasat RZZE—RAF=A=+—HBAXREFZFNE
31 March 2015 are as follows: BYEFBWOT

Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross area % held completion
BREH
8/ HAKE £ REROE Bolk THER
(m?)

(F5%)

Hong Kong
gH

Unit B, 26th Floor Medium term 1,568% 100 Completed
Wyler Centre, Phase Il lease

200 Tai Lin Pai Road,

Kwai Chung, New Territories

#ARER HERFR A T B &K
KB HE 20055

BmPLE=H

2612BZE

Ground Floor and Cockloft, Medium term C 87t 100 Completed
61 South Wall Road, lease

Kowloon City, Kowloon

NENERHEE HERFR A ] B &K
615% it T & A&

Tak Sing Alliance Building, Medium term C 780% 100 Completed
1/F-3/F, 15/F-18/F, lease

115 Chatham Road South,

Tsimshatsui, Kowloon

NEELRYHE ERAE A 5] B &R

R BB 11555

EREERNE

1HEE3E

1518 £ 1818

Notes: BT

Types of properties: |-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial VIR I-T%¥ R—FE C—@%
# Gross floor area *RIE T E AR

e



Particulars of the investment properties held by the Group as at

31 March 2015 are as follows: (Continued)

Name/location

LV L

Tenure

ERME

Type

5l

(SR M AT RA R | 201544,

Schedule of Principal Properties

31 March 2015 —F—AF=HA=+—H

R-ZE-—RAF=A=+—HAXEEFANR
BYMEHBWOT : (&)

Approx. Effective Stage of
gross area % held completion
BEREE
RERNH Bk THER
(m?)

(FHK)

Hong Kong
'R

15th Floor and

Car park space No. 5,
Young Ya Industrial Building,
381-389 Sha Tsui Road,
Tsuen Wan, New Territories

e

) IH 78381-3895%
BTTEAE
158

T B AE R

Mainland China
W KB

Units 9D-F, 10A-F, 22C
Man Wah Mansion,
Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

ARG T R
NEREAKE
9D-F, 10A-F, 22C

Carrianna Friendship Square,
Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road,

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

ARYIE A

ARBEEEREBRIR
EENRERS
Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

# Gross floor area

Medium term
lease

REEA

Medium term
lease

REEA

Medium term
lease

REEA

C/R

B/ E

2,594# 100 Completed

1,881% 100 Completed

&b
2%

28,339¢ 100 Completed

BT -

MHERR: I-T% R—EE C—@E%
*HRIE T E R

s
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Schedule of Principal Properties
FEHEME

31 March 2015 —F—A#F=H=+—H

Particulars of the investment properties held by the Group as at
31 March 2015 are as follows: (Continued)

R-ZE-—RAF=A=t—HAXEEFHFANR
BYMEHBWOT : (&)

Name/location

Al

Tenure

ERAKE

Type

]

Approx.
gross area

BEBROE
(m?)

(F5%)

Effective
% held
BEREE
B

Stage of
completion

52 A PR B}

Mainland China
B K B

A building at Shi Lien Road,
Chiu Tien Industrial Park,
Shi Lou Town,

Panyu District,

Guangdong Province
fRERE

B8R

AIgHE

BIE T ¥4

MERZ —BET

Imperial Palace,
Hong Vi Cun,
Baoan South Road,

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RN
)
B
Bz E

14 Zu Miao Road,
Foshan Municipal
AN

18 BA R 1455

Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

# Gross floor area

224

Medium term
lease

REFEA

Long term
lease

REHEL

Medium term

lease

REFEA

C/R

B/

3,322¢

4,899*

6,838"

BT

100

100

100

Completed

Completed

Completed

WMHERR: I-T% R—EE C—@%

*HRIE T E R



Particulars of the properties held as property, plant and
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2015 are as follows:

Name/location Tenure Type

BB ERAKE Yl

(eI MR RATRA R | 201544,

Schedule of Principal Properties

31 March 2015 —F—AF=HA=+—H

R-E-—RAF=A=+—AXEESHHER
MR- BEREEZMEFBOAT:

Approx.
gross area

BEBOE
(m?)

(F7HXK)

Effective
% held
BEREE
Bt

Stage of
completion

52 B P R

Hong Kong
gH

Unit A, 26th Floor and

Car park space Nos. 19, 20, 21,
22, 39 and 40 on 2nd Floor and
Lorry Parking Space No. L21

on 1st Floor, Wyler Centre, Phase II,
200 Tai Lin Pai Road,

Kwai Chung, New Territories
IRRE- Y

REHEE2005%
BmPLE_H

2BIBAE R2IEFE 1055 -

2055  215% ~ 225% »

39%% - 405R B K

L2 EERE N

Medium term
lease

REEA T

Mainland China
B K BE

Medium term C
lease

Nos. 3-6, 5/F,

Carrianna Friendship Square,
Junction Renmin Road South
and Chunfeng Road,
Shenzhen Special Economic
Zone

RIYINE FE =

AREE K

BB A
SEMRKEES

FE3-65%

REFEA 7

Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial
# Gross floor area

8127

1,068"

B T -

100

100

Completed

Completed

MHERR: I-T% R—EE C—@%

IR T E R
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31 March 2015 —F—aA#F=H=+—H

Particulars of the properties held as property, plant and
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2015 are as follows:

R-ZE-—RAF=A=+—HAXEESHHER
MR -BERRBIORFBOT : (&)

(Continued)

Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross area % held completion
BRER
£ HAKME £ REROH Bl ZTHER
(m?)
(FFHXK)

Mainland China
Bl KB
2 Zishan Road, Yiyang Municipal Medium term C 34,490* 100 Completed

lease
g 5 T RF L BR255% R EIFR A ] BI&RK
14 Zu Miao Road, Medium term C 12,954# 100 Completed
Foshan Municipal lease
AN R EIFR A ] BI&RK
18 BR K 1457
Sales Centre, Medium term C 1,739 83 Completed
East of Xin Guang Road/South of lease
Da Gang Road C section
Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,
Lianyungang
EEERERGAERR HERFE A 5] B & B
B RABEECKR
LB O
Notes: B 5

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

# Gross floor area

226
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Particulars of the properties held for sale held by the Group as
at 31 March 2015 are as follows:

Name/location Tenure Type

BB ERAKE Yl

TSR WA R AT | 20155FHH

Schedule of Principal Properties

T EHEME

31 March 2015 —F—AF=HA=+—H

R-E-—RAF=A=t—HBAEEFHELE

WMERFEBWT

Approx.
gross area

BEBOE
(m?)

(F7HXK)

Effective
% held
BEREE
Bt

Stage of
completion

52 B Pl R

Mainland China

] KB

Medium term C/R
lease

Carrianna Friendship Square,
Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road,

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone
RIYINE B =
AREERERERR
SEMREES

REFEA B/ E

Imperial Palace, C/R
Hong Vi Cun,

Baoan South Road,

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone
RN B =

)

Ht—#f

BEAE

Long term
lease

REHEA B/ E

Residential and commercial units C/R
and car parks of Grand Lake City,
Yiyang Road, Hunan

kPN
RIS AT R EE T REBEA

Long term
lease

REHEL B/ E

Medium term C
lease

Shopping street of
Grand Lake City,
Yiyang Road, Hunan
M=k K&
AT B %

TR A [

Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial
# Gross floor area

3,532

163"

30,927¢

31,487*

B T -

100

100

87.5

87.5

Completed

Completed

Completed

B &K

Completed

MHERR: I-T% R—EE C—@%

IR T E R
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Schedule of Principal Properties
FEHEME

31 March 2015 —F—A#F=H=+—H
Particulars of the properties held for sale held by the Group as

at 31 March 2015 are as follows: (Continued)

Name/location Tenure Type

LV ERAKE il

R-ZE-—RAF=A=t—"HAEEFHELE
MEFHBWOT: (&)

Approx. Effective Stage of
gross area % held completion
BRER
AEBRNH Bl ZTHER
(m?)

(F5%)

Mainland China
B K B

Leather Trade Centre Medium term C
KA GH L lease

East of Xin Guang Road/South of

Da Gang Road B section,

Lin Gang Industrial Area,

Lianyang Eco & Tech

Development Zone,

Lianyungang

EEERERGAERR ERFR A 5]
B R KB B B BER

Building Materials Trade Centre Medium term C
BMR S0 lease

East of Xin Guang Road/South of

Da Gang Road C section,

Lin Gang Industrial Area,

Lianyang Eco & Tech

Development Zone,

Lianyungang

ETERERGEERR EIFH A ]
FRBERABEACR

Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial
# Gross floor area

228

35,833* 83 Completed

&b
2%

51,600% 83 Completed

BT

WMHERR: |-T% R—EE C—@%
HHRIE T E R
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Schedule of Principal Properties

T EHEME

31 March 2015 —F—AF=HA=+—H

Particulars of the properties under development held by the W -_Z—HAF=F=+—HAEBEZHERE
Group as at 31 March 2015 are as follows: RYEFBROT
Expected
Site Stage of Effective completion
Location Use area completion % held date
BREE
it B A% TERE 75 P R Bk HESTEHRAH
(m?)
(FHX)

Mainland China
B K pE
Chaoyang Road to the Commercial/ 16,026 Foundation work 87.5 N/A
north, Zishanhu to residential in progress
the south, Yiyang
a5 1 20 53 B DA - BmE/(EE METRETH TNEH
R AL
Tuanyuan Road to the east, Yiyang Commercial/ 318,709 Design work 87.5 N/A

residential in progress
a5 T [ (B 5% 7 BME/EE Rt TIEEITH TEHA
Yangwuling Village, Lucigiao Village, Commercial/ 120,040 Design work 87.5 N/A
Yiyang residential in progress
5 T F SRR A - BMEMEE Rt TIEEITH TEHA
BB
Huanyuan Road to the west, Commercial/ 21,283 Design work 87.5 N/A
Tuanyuan road to the east, residential in progress
Huangjiaxiang to the north, Yiyang
g 5 71 3 (B B SR BE/Ex Rt LIEETH TiERA
BEARA =XEEMA
Qiligiao Village, Commercial/ 15,431 Design work 87.5 N/A
Heshan District, Yiyang residential in progress
g 5 1 o LU [ - B AR Y HE/Ex Ret TIEETH TNEH
Notes: B 5T

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

# Gross floor area

MHERR: I-T% R—EE C—@E%

*HRIE T E R
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Schedule of Principal Properties

31 March 2015 —F—A#F=H=+—H

Particulars of the properties under development held by the R-_ZT—HE=A=+—BAEBEAELE

Group as at 31 March 2015 are as follows: (Continued) RYEFIBO T (8)
Expected
Site Stage of Effective completion
Location Use area completion % held date
BEREE
o B R TEE ¢ R B R Btk HEstxHAH
(m?)
(FH%)
Mainland China
B K pE
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 26,069 Foundation work 83 N/A
Da Gang Road B section, residential in progress
Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,
Lianyungang
EEERERGEEXR mE/fFE METRETH TEA
R KB R AEBR
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 77,757 Foundation work 83 N/A
Da Gang Road F section residential in progress
Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,
Lianyungang
EEERERGEERR mE/EE WETZETH NEHA
B R A BB EFR
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 22,731 Foundation work 83 N/A
Da Gang Road C section residential in progress
Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,
Lianyungang
BEEERERGEERR BmE/(EE WETRETH TNEH
B R A BB ECER
Notes: B 5 -
Types of properties: |-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial VIR - T%¥ R—FE C—@%
# Gross floor area BB EE AR
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Particulars of the properties under development held by the
Group as at 31 March 2015 are as follows: (Continued)

Site

Location Use area

A% T EE
(m?)

(F5%)

1t 3

(SR M AT RA T | 201544,

Schedule of Principal Properties

T EHEME

31 March 2015 —F—A#F=HA=+—H

Stage of
completion

78 B B R

Effective
% held
BEREE
BOl

R-ZE-—RF=A=+—HAFXEEFHFER
PYEFHBOT (&)

Expected
completion
date

Rt A A

Mainland China
B KB

Commercial/
residential

East of Xin Guang Road/South of
Da Gang Road E section

Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,

Lianyungang
ETERERGEERR
B RO B B P ERR

93,643

BE/EE

Commercial/
residential

East of Xin Guang Road/South of
Da Gang Road G section

Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,

Lianyungang
EEERERGAERR

H LR A8 I GE

122,677

BE/EE

Commercial/
residential

East of Xin Guang Road/South of
Da Gang Road H section

Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,

Lianyungang
BEEERERGEERRE
B R A B B EHER

83,618

BE/EE

Foundation work
in progress

WETRETH

Foundation work
in progress

WEIRETS

Foundation work
in progress

R TI2ETH

83

83

83

N/A

N/A

TEM

N/A

T
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that an annual general
meeting of Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”) will be held at Carrianna (Chiu Chow) Restaurant,

1st Floor, 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai,

Hong Kong on

Monday, 24 August 2015 at 11:00 a.m. for the following

purposes:

1.

To receive and consider the audited consolidated
financial statements and the reports of the directors of
the Company (the “Directors”) and of the auditors of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2015.

To declare a final dividend of HK3 cents per share for the
year ended 31 March 2015.

To re-elect the following retiring Directors and to authorise
the board of Directors to fix the remuneration of the
Directors.

(@)

(b)

Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John as an Executive Director of
the Company.

Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company.

To re-appoint Messrs. Ernst & Young as auditors of the
Company and to authorise the board of Directors to fix
their remuneration.

As special business, to consider and, if thought fit, pass with
or without amendments, the following resolutions as ordinary

resolutions:
ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
5.  “THAT
(@) Subject to paragraph (b) below, the exercise by

LR

the Directors during the Relevant Period of all the
powers of the Company to purchase issued shares
of HK$0.10 each in the capital of the Company,
subject to and in accordance with the applicable
laws and the requirements of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited as amended from time to
time be and is hereby generally and unconditionally
approved;

the aggregate nominal amount of shares to be
purchased pursuant to the approval in paragraph
(a) above shall not exceed 10% of the aggregate
number of ordinary shares of the Company in issue
on the date of this resolution, and the said approval
shall be limited accordingly; and

BRSEEHEBIERARQRA ([AR7F]])
ERR-_T-—RAF/N\AC +EEI(EHJ1 ) £
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for the purpose of this resolution, “Relevant Period”
means the period from the date of passing of this
resolution until whichever is the earlier of:

()  the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company;

(i) the revocation or variation of the authority
given under this resolution by ordinary
resolution of the shareholders in general
meeting; and

(i) the expiration of the period within which the
next annual general meeting of the Company
is required by the Bye-laws of the Company or
the laws of Bermuda to be held.”.

“THAT

(@

subject to sub-paragraph (c) of this resolution,
the exercise by the Directors during the Relevant
Period (as hereinafter defined) of all the powers of
the Company to allot, issue or otherwise deal with
additional shares of the Company and to make or
grant offers, agreements and options which might
require the exercise of such powers be and is
hereby generally and unconditionally approved;

the approval in sub-paragraph (a) of this resolution
shall authorise the Directors during the Relevant
Period to make or grant offers, agreements and
options which might require the exercise of such
power after the end of the Relevant Period;

the aggregate nominal amount of share capital
allotted or agreed conditionally or unconditionally
to be allotted (whether pursuant to an option or
otherwise) by the Directors pursuant to the approval
in sub-paragraph (a) of this resolution, otherwise
than pursuant to:

(i)  aRights Issue (as hereinafter defined);

(i) the exercise of any option scheme or similar
arrangement for the time being adopted for
the grant or issue to officers and/or employees
of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries
of shares or rights to acquire shares of the
Company; and

SRR WA IR AT | 20155FHH

Notice of Annual General Meeting
I SLEDN SR

BAORZBRM S - [AEHE] Ji1E
RARZERE BB 2 BE THEM
—HARPHRLE B ZHE:

() ARATERRBEFRGHE
Eg=an

(i) TRERBELZENEHRK
REBRRKRESEBEBRZE
ETARBEHERT 2B &

iy ANABZzARMASEFEE
BRI EARRRIZBLET NE
BEBEF KR EHZ
Heole

[Bh &

(@)

ERRBRCODBEZBRHIT  Zitt
—R R BGOSR AR
N(EEZR TXOTERRBMRA
NARCE BITHRIEARAZ
BN RIEH SR LA RER E
TEZERN 22  ha LEBR
1

RREBRQIBZIERREES
EABHEAEL SR L ATBEAR
BRRERRITEZSEN 22
& ek MR AR

ERREBEANRER (@D B ZHAER
BRARTREFEREESE (F
mE R IREEERESREMT ) 2
PR {EARRE - HEARSE T 5107 A 3%
1TERRSN:

) EEFR(EERLTX):

(i) TTEERRMZBERETS
SR ZHE - MAARR &,
S HAERIM B AR 2B E K&
S REEBREHBEITRM K
WIE AR R RIS 2 R K

233



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2015

Notice of Annual General Meeting
i 3B 4k &

234

(i) any scrip dividend or similar arrangement
providing for the allotment of shares in lieu of
the whole or part of a dividend on shares of
the Company in accordance with the Bye-laws
of the Company;

shall not exceed 20% of the aggregate number
of ordinary shares of the Company in issue at the
date of the passing of this resolution, and the said
approval shall be limited accordingly; and

for the purpose of this resolution, “Relevant Period”
means the period from the passing of this resolution
until whichever is the earlier of:

(i)  the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company;

(i)  the revocation or variation of the authority
given under this resolution by ordinary
resolution of the shareholders in general
meeting; and

(iiy  the expiration of the period within which the
next annual general meeting of the Company
is required by the Bye-laws of the Company or
the laws of Bermuda to be held.”;

“Rights Issue” means an offer of shares in the
Company open for a period fixed by the Directors
to holders of shares of the Company whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company
on a fixed record date in proportion to their then
holdings of such shares (subject to such exclusions
or other arrangements as the Directors may deem
necessary or expedient in relation to fractional
entitlements or having regards to any restrictions or
obligations under the laws of, or the requirements of
any recognised body or any stock exchange, in any
territory outside Hong Kong).”.

“THAT conditional upon the passing of the ordinary
resolutions no. 5 and 6 set out above, the general
mandate granted to the Directors pursuant to
resolution no. 6 be and is hereby extended by the
addition thereto of an amount representing the aggregate
nominal amount of the share capital repurchased by the
Company under the authority granted in resolution no.
5, provided that such amount shall not exceed 10% of
the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of
the Company in issue at the date of the passing of this
resolution.”.
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“THAT, the existing share option scheme adopted by the
Company pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by
the Shareholders of the Company at the special general
meeting held on 10 October 2005 (the “Existing Share
Option Scheme”) be and is hereby terminated with
immediate effect except that the Existing Share Option
Scheme will remain in full force and effect to the extent
necessary to give effect to the exercise of any option
granted under the Existing Share Option Scheme prior
to its termination, or otherwise to the extent as may be
required in accordance with the rules of the Existing Share
Option Scheme.”.

“THAT

(@ conditional upon the Stock Exchange granting
approval for the listing of, and permission to deal in,
on the Stock Exchange, any shares (the “Shares”)
in the capital of the Company which may be issued
upon the exercise of any options which may be
granted under the new share option scheme of
the Company (the rules of which are set out in the
document marked “A” produced to this meeting
and initialed by the Chairman of this meeting for the
purpose of identification) (the “New Share Option
Scheme”), the New Share Option Scheme be and
is hereby approved and adopted by the Company
and the directors of the Company be and are hereby
authorised at their absolute discretion, to grant
options to subscribe for Shares thereunder and to
allot, issue and deal with any Shares pursuant to
the exercise of the options which may be granted
under the New Share Option Scheme and to do
all such acts for the purpose of, or in connection
with, the implementation of the New Share Option
Scheme and the transactions ancillary thereto and
of administrative nature as the Directors may in their
absolute discretion consider necessary or expedient
in order to give full effect to the New Share Option
Scheme; and

(b) the Directors be and are hereby authorised to grant
options to subscribe for Shares in accordance with
the rules of the New Share Option Scheme up to
a maximum of 10% of the Shares in issue as at
the date of passing of this resolution, to allot and
issue Shares pursuant to the exercise of the options
so granted, to administer the New Share Option
Scheme in accordance with its terms and to take all
necessary actions incidental thereto as the Directors
deem fit.”.
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10. To transact any other business.

By Order of the Board

Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited
Ng Yan Kwong

Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 22 July 2015

Notes:

1.

236

For the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ right to attend
and vote at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be
held on Monday, 24 August 2015, the Register of Members of
the Company will be closed from Friday, 21 August 2015 to
Monday, 24 August 2015, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order for a
shareholder to be eligible to attend and vote at the Annual
General Meeting, all transfers accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
shares registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level
22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 20 August 2015.

For the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to
the proposed final dividend, the Register of Members of the
Company will be closed from Friday, 25 September 2015
to Wednesday, 30 September 2015, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be effected.
In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend (subject to
shareholders’ approval at the Annual General Meeting), all
transfers accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Thursday, 24 September 2015.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled
to appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote on his/her
behalf. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. If more
than one proxy is so appointed, the appointment shall specify
the number and class of shares in respect of which each such
proxy is so appointed.

To be valid, a form of proxy and the power of attorney or
other authority, if any, under which it is signed, or a notarially
certified copy of such power of attorney or authority, must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not less than 48 hours before
the time appointed for holding the Meeting.

An explanatory statement containing further details regarding
ordinary resolutions No. 5 to 9 above will be sent to
shareholders shortly together with the 2015 Annual Report.
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